# **Copyright Warning & Restrictions**

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

#### ABSTRACT

## MICROGLIA INDUCED NEUROINFLAMMATION THROUGH THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME FOLLOWING BLAST TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

## by Daniel Younger

The incidence of traumatic brain injury (TBI) among military personnel have been steadily increasing with modern conflicts. A recent RAND report estimated 320,000 service members, totaling 20% of deployed forces, suffer from TBI. However, of this population roughly 60% have not seen a medical professional specifically for TBI. Unlike the civilian population, the primary cause of TBI for active-duty military personnel is blast exposure. Blasts now account for over 70% of all US military casualties in operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF) and Operation enduring freedom (OEF) and are the major cause of TBI. Among many pathological mechanisms associated with blast TBI, disruption of Blood Brain Barrier (BBB) and subsequent leakage of blood-borne macromolecules into brain parenchyma is reported to be the earliest event, which could trigger sustained neuroinflammation in blast TBI (bTBI). Accordingly, several studies have implicated neuroinflammation in the pathology of blast induced TBI. However, the role of the central nervous system's innate immune response, specifically the involvement of resident microglia and the pathways through which microglia contribute to neuroinflammation, has not been thoroughly investigated. Hence, the temporal and spatial evolution of microglia activation and specific mechanisms operative during the course of microglial action are critically warranted in blast TBI. It is hypothesized that microglia contribute to chronic neuroinflammation in bTBI which plays a pivotal role in the neuropathological and neurobehavioral changes in bTBI. This study is divided into 3 aims: Aim 1 identifies temporal distribution of microglia's four active phenotypes and a morphological description of each phenotype in hippocampus and thalamus. Cell surface markers

specific to all four active phenotypes were used to identify the microglia cells and a manual analysis done to describe their morphology. These studies were carried out at mild/moderate overpressure of 180 kPa and at six time points: 4 hours, 24 hours, 3 days, 7 days, 15 days, and 30 days. The rationale for choosing the hippocampus and thalamus is due to previous studies from this lab that reported that these regions were most vulnerable to BBB disruption and oxidative stress, and due to their critical involvement in neurocognitive and neurobehavioral outcomes. Aim 2 investigates the role of the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway and its involvement in the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$ . Through a series of immunostains the cellular source of the inflammasome and its components are identified. Aim 3 investigates how the inhibition of NLRP3 inflammasome formation through the use of a specific inhibitor MCC950 will impact on the cognitive outcomes in rats following blast TBI.

Results indicated that microglia become activated acutely (4h) and such activation persists up to 30 days after bTBI. Such microglial activation is more pronounced in the vicinity of vascular rupture (BBB disruption) compared to areas away from the site of BBB leakage. Further, levels of proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  shows a sustained increase in both hippocampus and thalamus and such raise in IL-1 $\beta$  is comparable to a parallel increase in NLRP3 inflammasome complex. Ultimately, inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome by the administration of specific inhibitor MCC950 displays a significant improvement in motor function, anxiety/depression as well as improves short-term memory in animals exposed to blast injury. This project therefore addresses the key role of resident microglia in the evolution of chronic neuroinflammation via the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and proinflammatory cytokine production, key events contributing to neurobehavioral deficits in bTBI. Therefore, targeting CNS innate immune system (microglia) response by NLRP3 inflammasome activation may have a therapeutic potential counteract neurobehavioral deficits in bTBI.

## MICROGLIA INDUCED NEUROINFLAMMATION THROUGH THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME FOLLOWING BLAST TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

by Daniel Younger

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology and Rutgers University Biomedical and Health Sciences – Newark in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Engineering

**Department of Biomedical Engineering** 

August 2020

Copyright  $\bigodot$  2020 by Daniel Younger ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

# APPROVAL PAGE

# MICROGLIA INDUCED NEUROINFLAMMATION THROUGH THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME FOLLOWING BLAST TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY

Daniel Younger

Dr. Namas Chandra, Dissertation Advisor Distinguished Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT	
Dr. Bryan J. Pfister, Committee Member Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT	Date
Dr. James Haorah, Committee Member Associate Professor of Biomedical Engineering, NJIT	Date
Dr. Venkata Kakulavarapu, Committee Member Research Professor, NJIT	Date
Dr. Kevin Pang, Committee Member Professor of Behavior and Cognition, Rutgers NJMS	Date
Dr. Pranela Rameshwar, Committee Member Professor of Medicine, Hematology-Oncology, Rutgers NJMS	Date

## **BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH**

Author:	Daniel Younger
Degree:	Doctor of Philosophy

Date: August 2020

### Undergraduate and Graduate Education:

- Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Engineering, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, 2020
- Bachelor of Science in Biological Engineering, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, 2013

Major: Biomedical Engineering

## **Presentations and Publications:**

- Younger, D., Murugan, M., Kakulavarapu, V., Wu,LJ., & Chandra, N., "Microglia Receptors in Animal Models of Traumatic Brain Injury," *Molecular Neurobiology*, Vol. 56, pp 5202-5228, 2019.
- Kuriakose, M., Younger, D., Ravula, AR., Alay, E., Kakulavarapu, V., & Chandra, N., "Synergistic Role of Oxidative Stress and Blood-Brain Barrier Permeability as Injury Mechanisms in the Acute Pathophysiology of Blastinduced Neurotrauma," *Scientific Reports*, Vol. 9,pp 7717, 2019.
- Kakulavarapu, V., Iring, S., Younger, D., Kuriakose, M., Skotak, M., Alay, E., Pfister, B.,& Chandra, N., "A single primary blast-induced traumatic brain injury in rodent model causes cell-type dependent increase in NADPH oxidase isoforms in vulnerable brain regions," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, Vol. 35,pp 2077-2090, 2018.
- Kuriakose, M., Kakulavarapu, V., Younger, D., & Chandra, N., "Temporal and spatial effects of blast overpressure on blood-brain barrier permeability in traumatic brain injury," *Scientific Reports*, Vol. 8,pp 8681, 2018.
- Kakulavarapu, V., Younger, D., Kuriakose, M., & Chandra, N., "Single primary blastinduced traumatic brain injury in rodent model causes cell-type dependent increase in NADPH oxidase isoforms in vulnerable brain regions," *Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting*, Washington, DC, Nov. 2017.

- Chandra, N., Kakulavarapu, V., Iring, S., Younger, D., Aravind, A., Pfister, B.,& Skotak, M., "Blast-induced traumatic brain injury displays a unique pattern of spatial neuropathology," 35th Annual National Neurotrauma Symposium, Snowbird, UT, Jul. 2017.
- Kakulavarapu, V., Iring, S., Younger, D., Skotak, M., & Chandra, N., "Activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and its impact on cerebral autophagy mechanisms in severe blast-induced traumatic brain injury," 35th Annual National Neurotrauma Symposium, Snowbird, UT, Jul. 2017.
- Younger, D., Peringady, MAM., Halder, D., Prasad, N., & Chandra, N., "Pathophysiological changes due to blast induced neurotrauma is effected by animal orientation," 34th Annual National Neurotrauma Symposium, Snowbird, UT, Jul. 2017.

Dedicated to my mother Hedy Younger.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor Professor Namas Chandra for giving me this opportunity to work in such a great lab and supervising through the graduate process.

I would specifically like to thank my dissertation committee Dr, Namas Chandra, Dr. Bryan Pfister, Dr. James Haorah, Dr. Venkata Kakulavarapu, Dr. Kevin Pang, and Dr. Pranela Rameshwar for guiding me through my research.

I would like to thank all of the lab members from the Center for Injury biomechanics, material, and medicine (CIBM<sup>3</sup>) who help me conduct the experiment Jose Rodriguez, Matt Kuriakose, Niningning Shao, and Arun Reddy Ravula.

I would like to specifically thank Dr. Venkata Kakulavarapu, Jose Rodriguez, and Arun Reddy Ravula for helping with all the blast exposures and setup/conducting of the animal behavioral test.

I would Like to specifically thank my girlfriend Michelle Trilling who helped me though this whole process Finally I would like to thank all of my family and friends who were not mentioned individually that helped me along the way, whom without I would not have been able to complete my work.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

$\mathbf{C}$	hapt	er		Page
1	INTRODUCTION			. 1
	1.1	Introd	luction	. 1
		1.1.1	Animal Models of Blast TBI	. 6
	1.2	Motiv	ation for Dissertation Research	. 7
	1.3	B Hypothesis and Specific Aims		
	1.4	Organ	ization of Dissertation	. 9
2	ROI	LE OF	MICROGLIA IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF TBI	. 10
	2.1	Micro	glia Response to Brain Injury	. 10
	2.2	Micro	glia Activation Contribute to Secondary Complications in TBI	. 15
		2.2.1	Aberrant Neurotransmitter Release	. 15
		2.2.2	Oxidative Stress	. 16
		2.2.3	BBB Disruption	. 17
		2.2.4	Neuroinflammation	. 18
	2.3	NLRF	23 Inflammasome	. 21
3	EVA Po	CVALUATE MICROGLIA ACTIVATION AS A FUNCTION OF TIMEPOST MILD TBI22		
	3.1	3.1 Materials and Methods		
		3.1.1	Animal Preparation	. 23
		3.1.2	Primary Blast Wave Exposure of Animals	. 24
		3.1.3	Sample Collection	. 24
		3.1.4	Immunofluorescence and Microscopy	. 26
		3.1.5	Cell Counting/Morphological Analysis	. 27
		3.1.6	Data Analysis	. 28
	3.2	Results		
		3.2.1	Microglia Activate Following bTBI and Remain Active Chronica	lly 29

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Chapter Page				
		3.2.2	Acute activation of Microglia in the Vicinity of Vasculature	31
	3.3	Discu	ssion	32
4	MA IN T	P THE V TWO HALAI	TEMPORAL ACTIVATION OF THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOM O VULNERABLE BRAIN REGIONS (HIPPOCAMPUS AND MUS)	Е 39
4.1 Introduction			luction	39
		4.1.1	Role of Inflammasome in Chronic Inflammation	39
		4.1.2	What is NLRP3?	40
		4.1.3	NLRP3 Activation	41
	4.2	Mater	ials and Methods	47
		4.2.1	Animal Preparation	47
		4.2.2	Primary Blast Wave Exposure of Animals	47
		4.2.3	Sample Collection	48
		4.2.4	Immunofluorescence and Microscopy	48
		4.2.5	Cell Counting	50
		4.2.6	Western Blotting	50
		4.2.7	Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	51
		4.2.8	Data Analysis	51
	4.3 Results		ts	51
		4.3.1	Mild Blast TBI Increases Proinflam matory Cytokine IL-1 $\beta~$ . .	51
		4.3.2	Blast TBI Increases NLRP3 Inflammasome in Cell-Specific Manner	52
		4.3.3	Blast TBI Increases the Levels of Active Caspase-1	54
	4.4	Discu	ssion	56
5	EXA O	AMINE N COC	THE EFFECTS OF NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME INHIBITION	61
	5.1	Intro	luction	61

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

$\mathbf{C}$	hapt	er	I	Page
		5.1.1	Blast TBI Pathology	61
		5.1.2	IL-1 $\beta$ Pathology	62
		5.1.3	MCC950, a New Target for Neuroinflammation	64
		5.1.4	Common Neurohavioral Changes: Anxiety Neural Circuit	65
		5.1.5	Memory Neural Circuit	68
	5.2	Mater	ials and Methods	69
		5.2.1	Animal Preparation	69
		5.2.2	Primary Blast Wave Exposure of Animals	69
		5.2.3	MCC950 Treatment	70
		5.2.4	Behavioral Test Timeline	70
		5.2.5	Rotary Pole Test	71
		5.2.6	Short-Term Memory Assessment: Novel Object Recognition	74
		5.2.7	Anxiety assessment: Open Field Test	76
		5.2.8	Elevated Plus Maze	79
		5.2.9	Data analysis	80
	5.3	Result	ts	81
		5.3.1	Blast Induces Acute Motor Deficit Mitigated by NLRP3 Inhibition	n 81
		5.3.2	Blast Induces Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Anxiety Like Symptoms Mitigated by NLRP3 Inhibition	81
		5.3.3	Blast Induces Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Memory Deficits Mitigated by NLRP3 Inhibition	85
	5.4	Discus	ssion	85
6	CON	ICLUS	ION	93
	6.1	Summ	nary and Conclusion	93
	6.2	Contr	ibutions of the Proposed Dissertation Research	98
	6.3	Futur	e work	99
BI	IBLIC	OGRAF	РНҮ	100

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	'igure	
2.1	Microglia receptor activation in response to brain injury	. 14
3.1	Schematic of the shocktube	. 25
3.2	Cell counting of microglia near vasculature.	. 28
3.3	Microglia number after blast.	. 30
3.4	Microglia morphology.	. 34
3.5	Microglia morphology in the hippocampus and thalamus. $\ . \ . \ .$ .	. 35
3.6	Microglia morphology following blast near vasculature	. 36
3.7	Microglia number of morphology near the vasculature. $\ldots$ . $\ldots$ .	. 37
3.8	Microglia morphology near the vasculature	. 38
4.1	NLRP3 mechanism of activation following blast	. 44
4.2	ELISA for IL-1 $\beta$ in hippocampus and thalamus	. 52
4.3	NLRP3 expression	. 53
4.4	NLRP3 positive microglia	. 54
4.5	NLRP3 positive Neurons	. 55
4.6	Caspase-1 expression following blast	. 56
5.1	Behavioral test timeline	. 70
5.2	Rotary pole test apparatus	. 72
5.3	Novel object recognition apparatus	. 75
5.4	Open field chamber	. 78
5.5	Elevated plus maze apparatus	. 80
5.6	Rotary pole results	. 82
5.7	Open field test results	. 84
5.8	Elevated plus maze results	. 85
5.9	Novel object recognition results	. 86
6.1	Proposed pathology of blast TBI that induces the cognitive decline	. 96

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Introduction

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is one of the leading causes of mortality and morbidity around the world. In 2013, in the US alone there were about 2.8 million emergency room visits, among which there were 282,000 hospitalizations, and 56,000 deaths. The three leading causes of TBI related hospitalizations include falls (47%), impact by striking objects (15%), and automobile accidents (14%) [1]. TBI accounts for approximately 30.5% of all injury-related deaths in the US. Over the past decade, there has been a sharp increase in incidents of TBI resulting from combat related injuries as well as insurgent activities on civilian population [2]. In 2010, the direct medical costs of TBI was 76.5 billion dollars [3]. Although there has been a lot of effort focusing on treatment modalities for TBI, not much success was achieved in developing a therapeutic strategy to treat TBI-associated deficits. Accordingly, over 30 stage III clinical trials failed to show significant improvement in TBI patients [4].This failure is probably due to lack of clear understanding of the primary and secondary mechanisms in the evolution of injury pathology and due to highly heterogeneous nature of TBI phenotype[4]. This tantalizing problem of TBI has motivated academics and physicians to find novel mechanisms of TBI pathology in order to delay and prevent the evolution of TBI induced neuropathological events and to prevent behavioral deficits.

TBI is classified based on the mechanical insult that causes the injury. TBI can be classified as either ballistic, blunt, or blast. For ballistic injury, an object penetrates the skull and enters the brain parenchyma. The number of penetration injury has been significantly reduced through the use of composite body armor. Blunt injury occurs when the victims head collides with a stationary or moving object. During injury the head experiences localized force near the point of impact. Peak force, contact area, and the duration of the impact determine the severity of injury. Typical blunt injuries include epidural/subdural hematoma, subarachnoid hematoma and contusion and severe hemorrhages with concomitant increase in intracranial pressure(ICP)[5].

Blast injury is considered the most complex of the injury types because it includes aspects of both Ballistic and blunt injury. Blast injury is divided into four major categories (1) Primary (direct effects of overpressure (2) secondary (effects of projectiles/shrapnel) (3) tertiary (effects from fall and blast winds), and (4) quaternary (Burns, asphyxia, and exposure to toxic inhalants). Depending on the environment, size of explosive device, and distance from blast a combination of these injuries will be experienced [6].

With the rise of global terrorism and the war in Iraq and the war in Afghanistan many TBI cases are induced by blast exposure cause by improvised explosive device (IED) [7, 8, 9]. IED accounted for nearly 80% of all casualties reported to the Joint Theater Trauma Registry (JTTR) between October 2001 to January 2008 [10]. A US army review of total casualties in Afghanistan and Iraq found that from 2001 to 2007 explosives were associated with 63% of all TBI diagnoses [11]. A similar study conducted by the US Navy and Marine Corps found the explosives were associated with 52% of all TBI cases.

After detonation of the explosives, a steep rise in atmospheric pressure occurs forming the shock front. Following the shock front is an expansion wave which slowly depletes the overpressure wave as it travels. The combination of these two waves form the positive phase of the blast wave which is responsible for primary blast injury. Moderate and mild TBI is conjectured to be caused by primary blast wave due to the non-fatal nature of injury and lack of skull fracture or open wounds [12, 13, 14]. Primary blast injury can further be divided in primary injury, or the mechanical insult causing the injury, and secondary injury comprising the biochemical sequelae following mechanical insult. Several mechanisms of primary injury have been proposed. (1) Thoracic mechanism in which energy from the shockwave is transferred from the thorax through the vasculature to increase brain pressure [15, 16] (2) Translational and rotational head acceleration [16] (3) Direct shock wave transmission through the skull [17, 18, 19] (4) Skull flexure [5, 20] (5) Cavitation [21, 22]. This primary injury leads to skull fractures, brain contusions, axonal injury, rupturing of blood vessels, and intracranial hemorrhages [23]. Primary injury is thus thought to be irreversible, forms immediately at the time of injury and plays a pivotal role in propagating secondary injuries during the evolution of bTBI pathology.

Secondary injury on the other hand evolves over time, and is characterized by a complex of biochemical events the lead to blood brain barrier (BBB) disruption, neuroinflammation, elevated intracranial pressure, brain edema, cerebral hypoxia, ischemia, and delayed neurodegeneration [24, 25, 26]. Subsequent biochemical events generate a large amount of toxic and pro-inflammatory molecules such as reactive oxygen species, reactive nitrogen species, and pro-inflammatory cytokines. These molecules further lead to BBB disruption, edema, cell death via apoptosis or necroptosis, lipid peroxidation, and local hypoxia. These secondary injury mechanisms are considered to be distinct events that contribute to chronic pathologicaland neurobehavioral deficits, but recent studies show that primary and secondary events are highly interactive and often occur in parallel [27].

Many neurocognitive deficits have been reported in returning soldiers with bTBI include an array of deficits that are grouped into five nosological clusters. The first being cognitive dysfunction which consists of difficulties in executive function, language, attention, memory, sensory motor integration, visuospatial cognition, and affect recognition. These symptoms are associated with damage to the neocortex [28].

The second cluster of symptoms is neurobehavioral disorders. These consist of affect, anxiety, mood, posttraumatic stress disorders, as well as agitation, loss of libido, and sleep problems. These symptoms are associated with damage to the cortex, limbic system, and/or brain stem monoaminergic projections [28]. The third cluster of symptoms are somatosensory disruptions. This can include impaired equilibrium, hearing, smell, somatosensory perception, taste, and vision. These symptoms are believe to be caused by trauma to the sensory organs themselves or through their projection passing through the brain stem to their respective processing centers [28]. The fourth nosological cluster of symptoms is somatic symptoms that consist of chronic pain and headaches. The fifth and final symptom cluster is substance dependence.

After suffering mild TBI from blast exposure, many soldiers are unable to recognize they have been injured and thus will not seek medical attention [29]. The first indication that the soldier may have been injured include signs such as short term memory loss, vertigo, headaches, and difficulty multitasking or concentrating [30, 31, 32]. Blast even at a low intensity is known to produce set of neurological symptoms known as "shell shock" or "blast concussion". Like other forms of TBI symptoms of blast TBI include somatic, behavioral, psychological and cognitive symptoms. Collectively these symptoms are referred to as post concussive syndrome (PCS) and can include compromised executive function, confusion, retrograde amnesia, headache, mood disturbances, anxiety, altered sleep patterns, and difficulty concentrating [33]. An increase in the occurrence post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms [34, 35] is also observed following blast. This claim is difficult in that TBI and PTSD are often comorbid [36, 37, 38]. The symptoms observed may be due to TBI, PTSD, or a combination of the two [33]. The fact that symptoms of explosive blast mTBI and PTSD can occur in the same individual [31, 39, 40] is not surprising given the inherently violent nature of an explosive blast. Because of the similarities of these two diseases, there is the potential for misdiagnosis [29].

The American congress of rehabilitation medicine (ARCM) [41] defines mild TBI as possessing are least one of the four following criteria. (1) Any period of loss of consciousness (2) Any loss of memory for events immediately before or after the accident, (3) any alteration in mental state at the time of the accident (e.g., feeling dazed, disoriented, or confused), and (4) focal neurological deficits that may or may not be transient. The patient must not exceed (1) loss of consciousness of 30 minutes or less, (2) after 30 minutes an initial GCS of 13-15, and (3) post traumatic amnesia (PTA) not greater than 24 hours [41].

For a psychiatric diagnosis to be made, a patient must report the symptoms that meet the published diagnosis criteria. These patients must present with a minimum number of elements of the diagnosis criteria [42]. These diagnostic methods do not take into account the underlying pathological changes caused by blast exposure. Due to overlap of symptoms between TBI and PTSD, there is no rational scientific basis to attribute these symptoms to one, the other, or both of these two disorders [43].

The diagnosis of TBI following exposure to an explosive device is complicated by several factors. These explosions produced typically cause injury to more than just the central nervous system. Due to secondary, tertiary, and quaternary effects of blast injury, the injury is typically a combination of blast, blunt, penetrating injury. The complexity of these multiple injury makes diagnosis of blast TBI difficult [43]. For example, when patients did not exhibit acute presenting signs experienced physicians failed to diagnose 36% of primary blast TBI cases [44]. This bias in diagnosis may be contributed to by the historical belief that loss of consciousness is necessary for TBI [44].

Second, TBI patients report a wide range of problems following injury. These can include some or all of neurological problems, emotional difficulties (anxiety or depression), or cognitive changes (impaired memory, and concentration) [45, 46, 47]. Impaired concentration, increase irritability, angry outbursts, insomnia, and decreases interest in usual activities are diagnosis criteria for both TBI and PTSD [48]. This overlap makes it difficult to attribute the patients neurological and psychological symptoms to TBI or a combination of TBI and PTSD [49].

The final complicating factor is that battlefield reports of blast TBI are missing information about the injury event. This information is critical for understanding the epidemiology of the injury. It is, therefore, not possible to create accurate statistical associations between injury severity and presentation of clinical symptoms [43].

Determining the pathology associated with the persistent cognitive deficits associated with mild bTBI is problematic due to no demonstrable abnormalities appear on standard MRI scans [50]. Recent studies using more powerful 7 tesla MRI have found soldier suffering from mild blast TBI have significant metabolic injury (significant reductions in the ratio of N-acetyl-acetatem (NAA) to choline (Ch) and NAA/Cr) to the anterior hippocampus (close to amygdala) while soldiers suffering from non bTBI related PTSD suffer metabolic injury to the posterior hippocampus [51, 52]. TBI or PCS may be suspected when the predominant symptoms are cognitive, physical, and somatic symptoms, where PTSD will be suspected when the psychological symptoms are the primary concern [37].

#### 1.1.1 Animal Models of Blast TBI

Blast animals models have been established in both rodents [53, 54, 55, 56, 57] and swine [58, 59]. These models have used either live explosives [55, 58] or recreate the shockwave using compressed air [56, 60, 61]. The models were developed to study the pathology of bTBI and develop pharmacological agents to help with the healing process. Animal models play an important role in TBI research in that they provide tools to study the cellular, molecular, and biomechanical events of TBI which can't be addressed in the clinical setting due to lack of data [62].

As noted in the previous paragraphs, both primary and secondary pathological mechanisms contribute to bTBI and that these events further lead to neurocognitive deficits that negatively impact on the quality of life in veterans returned from recent combats.

#### 1.2 Motivation for Dissertation Research

While some information related to primary and secondary pathology in bTBI is available, a puzzling question still remains as how all these events coherently contribute to ultimate neurocognitive and neurobehavioral deficits that the veterans currently experience. A fundamental gap in the knowledge for the lack of sufficient progress is that precise mechanisms that contribute to sequential progression of pathological events are clearly not defined. As noted earlier, the vast majority of soldiers experience a mild form of bTBI that leads to both neurocognitive and neuropsychological dysfunctions immediately following injury as well as develop years after the conflict. Therefore, to formulate effective treatments to either prevent or mitigate the cognitive decline associated with bTBI, an understanding of the exact pathology of the injury is the crucial first step. We were therefore motivated to focus our work understanding how acute and chronic neuroinflammation evolves in bTBI and what are the major mechanisms responsible for such neuroinflammatory events. We have also attempted to integrate neuroinflammatory factor(s) with behavioral and cognitive deficits in bTBI by using specific inhibitor of NLRP3 inflammasome, a major mechanism that produces chronic neuroinflammation in bTBI.

#### **1.3** Hypothesis and Specific Aims

Based on the need to characterize the secondary injury specifically the immune response to primary injury caused by BBB disruption [63] produced by exposure to shockwave, we hypothesize that blast induced TBI exerts chronic neuroinflammation mediated by activated microglia through the stimulation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. A corollary to this is inhibition of NLRP3 inflammasome activation will mitigate the cognitive decline associated with bTBI.

In order to test this hypothesis, we have identified three specific aims each with their own sub hypothesis.

- 1. Evaluate microglia activation process as a function of time post- mild bTBI
  - Hypothesis: Microglia activate almost immediately following blast and will remain activated for at least 30 days
- 2. Explore the temporal activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in two vulnerable brain regions
  - Hypothesis: A primary mechanism responsible for chronic microglia activation is stimulation of NLRP3 inflammasome and activation of their downstream products (IL-1 $\beta$  and active caspase-1)
- 3. Examine the effects of NLRP3 inflammasome inhibition on neurocognitive outcome
  - Hypothesis: Inhibition of NLRP3 inflamma some activation (and probable reduction in IL-1 $\beta$ ) will mitigate the neurocognitive decline observed in bTBI

The novelty in this work lies in the specific targeting of the NLRP3 inflammasome as the source of the neuroinflammation and associated cognitive decline found after mild bTBI. This work will allow for opening new therapeutic avenues that will be effective in the treatment of bTBI.

#### 1.4 Organization of Dissertation

Here in Chapter 1, we outlined the background of bTBI and the diagnosis of the associated cognitive decline, the motivation for the work as well as my hypothesis and specific aims. In Chapter 2, we will introduce microglia role in the secondary injury following TBI. Here we will introduce the methodology to investigate microglia activation, and how it can be measured. In this chapter, we will also introduce the different TBI animal injury models. In Chapter 3, aim 1 will be explored. In this aim, we will identify the activation profile of microglia found in the hippocampus and thalamus over 30 days following blast. At the conclusion of the chapter, we will have identified the distribution of activated microglia that will be involved in secondary injury following blast. In Chapter 4, aim 2 will be explored. In this aim, the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and its downstream products of activation will be assessed as well as their cellular origin. The results from this study will implicate NLRP3 as the mediator of the inflammatory response as well as give insight into the activating stimuli for the inflammasome. In Chapter 5, aim 3 will be addressed. In this aim, the inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome via low dose MCC950 treatment effect on the cognitive decline associated with bTBI. In the final Chapter 6, we summarize the findings, outline the scientific contributions and along with future direction of research.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### ROLE OF MICROGLIA IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF TBI

#### 2.1 Microglia Response to Brain Injury

Microglia constantly survey the CNS microenvironment for any changes in homeostasis using their highly motile processes. In their resting state, microglia possess a rod shaped soma with processes extending out symmetrically in all direction [64]. Processes are motile with an average extension and retraction rate of 1.47  $\mu$ m per minute and ranging from 0.4 – 3.8  $\mu$ m per minute, respectively. Upon microglia activation a series of characteristic morphological changes occurs. Usually, upon injury the processes motility changes from undirected to targeted movement towards the injury site [64]. In this instance, the processes begin to retract and the soma enlarges and become spherical in shape [65]. Finally, microglia cells begin to migrate to the site of injury at a rate of 1-2  $\mu$ m per hour [64].

Borrowing from the macrophage literature, Boche et al proposed a similar system for classifying microglia activation [66]. Classical microglial activation was categorized as M1 (proinflammatory) state or M2 (anti-inflammatory) state [66, 67]. The M1 state is initiated by events such as TBI, wherein, the microglia synthesize and release excess superoxide, nitric oxide, proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. Although, the secretion of these compounds by microglia are primarily for host defense, often an exaggerated response follows an insult resulting in by-stander injury of the surrounding tissue [68]. When in M2 state, microglia produces anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, IL-18) which promotes matrix remodeling, angiogenesis, tissue repair and regeneration among other functions [69]. Recent studies have shown that activated microglia can exist in both states simultaneously where individual cells produce danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPS) or pathogen associated molecular patterns [70].

The application of the nomenclature of macrophages to microglia from the study of peripheral macrophages can be considered ambiguous in defining the precise role of resident microglia [71]. Fist, the M1/M2 definition largely derived from exposing isolated cells to purified stimuli in vitro. These conditions are rarely found in vivo. Second, the cardinal regulators of macrophages bias are never found in vivo in isolation. Third, M1 and M2 states fail to emerge as isolated pure phenomena in vivo. Fourth and possibly most important, macrophage polarization was developed using monocyte or bone-marrow-derived macrophages, that invade infected, traumatized or neoplastic tissues but not a physiological characteristic of resident microglia in the CNS, which are resident tissue macrophages, originate from extra-embryonic yolk sac [72], that are distinct from the circulating hematopoietic system [73] and are highly adapted to the CNS environment [74].

A more modern description of activated microglia phenotypes is that they fall along a spectra as opposed to two binary states [75]. Depending on the stimulus present in the microglia local microenvironment, the microglia will be polarized to either the M1 or M2 like states. Ransohoff suggests that a new classification should be created based on, but not limited to transcriptomic and proteomic profiles, regional heterogeneity, sexual dimorphism, function in healthy nervous system, and pattern of response to changes caused by trauma, infection, systemic inflammation, tumor, ischemia, and neurodegeneration [71].

Similar to human microglia, rodent resident microglia display four main phenotypes in grey matter; resting, primed, activated, and amoeboid [76, 77, 78]. Resting microglia possess a small spherical cells body with several highly branched processes radiating in all directions. Although these cells are called resting, these cells are highly active constantly surveying their microenvironment for any changes to homeostasis. Primed microglia possess a larger more oblong cell body but present with similar number of primary and higher order processes to resting microglia. The primed microglia act as an intermediate between resting microglia and activated microglia. These cells have detected a priming stimulus the induces the production of proinflammatory precursor molecules. Activated microglia possess an amoeboid cell body with fewer, shorter, and less branched processes as compared to resting and primed microglia. These cells have received a full activating stimulus and at this point capable or phagocytosis, antigen presenting, and the release of proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory molecules. Amoeboid microglia possess an amoeboid cell body and can possess up to two unramified processes roughly equal in length to the cell body [76, 77, 78, 79] (Figure 3.3). These cells have dedicated themselves to phagocytic activity but are still able produce inflammatory modulators.

Majority of literature of microglia activation in TBI used four major animals models used include weight drop injury (WD), control cortical impact injury, (CCI), fluid percussion injury (FPI), and blast/diffuse brain injury [80]. The WD model mimics cerebral contusion found in TBI. It is performed by dropping a weight from a predetermined height onto the skull or exposed dura. In a modified version of WD model, also known as the closed head injury model, a metal plate is placed above the skull to distribute weight over a larger area and prevent skull fracture. WD model in mice showed signs of diffuse neuronal loss, neuroinflammation, markers of apoptosis, and short and long term cognitive impairments [81]. Similar to the WD model, CCI injury uses a solid impactor to damage exposed dura. To increase the reproducibility of the injury, a pneumatic or electrochemical device is used. This mechanism also reduces rebound injury produced by gravity driven devices [82]. By adjusting location, shape of impactor, velocity, and the depth of brain deformation, different types of injuries can be produced. CCI injuries are typically manifest as cortical tissue loss, axonal injury, BBB dysfunction, and subdural hematoma [83, 84, 85, 86]. In the FPI injury model, a craniotomy is performed to expose a portion of the dura. The injury is inflicted by directing a fluid pulse, produced by a pendulum striking a piston of fluid reservoir, against the exposed dural surface [82]. The injury model is characterized by a diffuse injury producing vascular and axonal damage. The model produces amalgamation of cortical contusion and diffuse subcortical neuronal injury [80]. Studies have varied the location of injury site, but most commonly, the injury is performed lateral to the sagittal suture (LFPI) or medially (CFPI) [82]. The, blast/diffuse injury, attempts to replicate the shockwaves from explosive devices to cause a diffuse brain injury. To recreate the Friedlander waveform produced in the explosion, either live explosives or a gas driven shock tube are used. Blast/diffuse injury is characterized by diffuse cerebral brain edema, extreme hyperemia, a delayed vasospasm, and diffuse axonal injury [2, 87].

Microglia activation follows a different temporal pattern depending upon the type and severity of brain injury CCI and FPI are the most studied of the different injury models where microglia activity state have been thoroughly investigated. Using markers such arginase (Arg-1) [88], CD206 [89, 90], and YM-1 [90, 91] to signify M2 activated microglia and CD16 [90], CD86 [89, 90] for M1 activated microglia. In blast and weight drop models only the time profile of microglia activation has been studied. For instance, following CCI injury M2 like microglia increase in the first week following injury. The number of M2 microglia peak at 5 days post injury but decrease rapidly in number immediately afterwards [89, 92]. M1 microglia begin to increase in the cortex, striatum and corpus callosum at 1 week [92], peaking at 4 weeks following injury [89]. M2 type microglia predominate in the acute phase of injury while the M1 phase of microglia remain during the chronic phase after focal injury produced by CCI. Similar to focal injury, diffuse injury produced by FPI induced transient activation of M2 type of microglia that is resolved within 7 days after injury. M1

type microglia remained in their activated amoeboid morphology for up to 30 days following injury [92].



Figure 2.1 Possible receptor activation in microglia following blast.

It is interesting to note that microglia activation patterns differ not only temporally, but also spatially following brain injury. The spatial variability in microglia response to injury may depend upon regional differences in mechanical loading and/or the intrinsic property of the tissue. Despite the limited studies on mechanical signaling in microglia, a recent study showed cultured microglia cells were susceptible to mechanical changes [93]. In line with this, another study showed that mechanical loading was capable of modulating microglia proliferation, activation and chemotaxis [94]. The response of microglia to injury may also depend on the intrinsic property of the tissue such as microglia/blood vessel distribution and neuronal vulnerability within the region. There is a lower occurrence of microglia in grey matter areas compared to the white matter. Regionally, the lowest of occurrence is the cerebellum (0.3%), frontal (4.7%), parietal (3.6%) and occipital (2.9%) lobes of the cerebrum with highest expression levels in the white matter track of the medulla oblongata (16.9%) [95]. A recent study showed that microglia activation paralleled the pattern of neuronal loss in a mouse model of CCI injury [96]. This in line with another study that observed prominent occurrence of activated microglia in regions of neuronal loss including the ipsilateral cortex, hippocampus, and thalamus after injury [97]. In a blast model of brain injury, microglia activation was found to be closely associated around the blood vessels suggest that the difference in the distribution of microglia and blood vessels may underlie some of the regional vulnerabilities to injury [65].

2.2 Microglia Activation Contribute to Secondary Complications in TBI Depending on the type of TBI, the secondary injury may involve a wide array of mechanisms including oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, BBB disruption, cells death, mitochondrial dysfunction, and neurotransmitter release [98, 99]. Studies conducted thus far, have reported the involvement of microglia receptor activation in not only altering microglial morphology and motility, but also in neurotransmitter release, modulating neuronal-glial synaptic transmission, secretion of cytokines, generation of reactive oxygen species, and production of nitric oxide. Here, we summarize the microglia mediated secondary mechanisms following brain injury.

#### 2.2.1 Aberrant Neurotransmitter Release

Activated microglia contribute to neuronal excitotoxicity by releasing neurotransmitters in response to several external stimuli. The known neurotransmitters released by microglia include glutamate and ATP. Glutamate release by microglia can be triggered by activation through multiple receptor systems. For instance, microglia release of glutamate may be induced by secreted amyloid precursor protein (APP) [100] or Amyloid  $\beta$  [101]. Similarly, TNF- $\alpha$  induced the release of glutamate by upregulating glutaminase. Microglia are capable of releasing sufficient amount of glutamate to contribute to neural degeneration [102]. Such excess release of glutamate has been reported following ischemic brain injury [103]. However, there is no direct evidence to show microglia release of glutamate in TBI models. The excess glutamate may activate glutamate receptors in neurons leading to excitotoxicity. Alternatively, they can activate microglia glutamate receptors including AMPA receptor [104, 105, 106], metabotropic glutamate receptors [107, 108, 109, 110], and NMDAR [111, 112, 113] resulting in a cascade of secondary events.

Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is the other commonly released neurotransmitter by microglia. ATP release from microglia cells can be induced by bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [114, 115]. Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) induced the release of ATP via activation of the LPA3 receptor [116]. High intracellular calcium levels have been shown to induce ATP release in microglia [117]. Extracellular ATP was shown to enhance radiation-induced brain injury through microglial activation and paracrine signaling via P2X7 receptor [118]. Microglia abundantly express ATP-mediated purinergic receptors. Although the microglia release of ATP in brain injury has not been shown, the microglia response via purinergic signaling has been well-studied in brain injury models [119]. The purinergic receptors in microglia are abundant and are implicated in important functions such as cytokine production (P2X receptors), motility (P2Y12 receptor) and in phagocytosis (P2Y6 receptors) [120, 121, 122]. The expression and function of these receptors in neuronal/glial cells in neuropathologies have been reviewed previously [123]. However, little is known of their role in brain injury and is worthy of investigation.

#### 2.2.2 Oxidative Stress

Under normal physiological conditions, there is a delicate balance between reactive oxygen species (ROS) and their removal via antioxidants. Following TBI, the balance

can be disrupted leading to an excess buildup of ROS [124, 125]. Accumulation of ROS/RNS is known to mediate cellular damage via lipid peroxidation, protein modification, and/or DNA strand breaks [126]. Activated microglia produce superoxide by the enzymatic activity of NADPH oxidase (NOX), a multi-subunit enzyme that catalyzes the production of superoxide from oxygen [127]. Microglia, like all phagocytic cells express NOX2 [128]. NOX2 generates superoxide molecules which help in the neutralization of foreign pathogens [129]. It was shown that NOX2 mediated ROS production was strongly upregulated in M1 but not M2 polarized microglia in CCI injury. Inhibiting NOX2, by using selective peptide inhibitor gp91ds-tat or NOX2 knockout mice, reduced markers for M1 activated microglia, limited tissue loss, and improved motor recovery. Inhibition of NOX2 also promoted M2 like activation in microglia [130]. In FPI injury, inhibition of NOX with apocyanin had no effect on neuromotor function but reduced the release the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  at 3h and 24h after injury [131]. Recently, it was shown that NOX2 expression was increased at 24h after moderate blast injury (180 kPa) and this directly correlated with elevated ROS production [132]. Activation of cytokine receptors such as IL-2R [133, 134], IL-15R [135], TNFR1 [136], INF- $\gamma R$  and thrombin receptor [137] in microglia have also been implicated in ROS production. ROS production by microglia may also be mediated by Notch-1 receptor [138, 139], dopamine receptor D1, D2 [140, 141], and Angiotensin II receptor [142].

#### 2.2.3 BBB Disruption

The central nervous system vasculature differs from the rest of the vasculature in that it possesses the BBB. Microglia, together with endothelial cells (ECs), pericytes and astrocyte end feet, form the functional BBB, a specialized structure that selectively separates the brain parenchyma from the peripheral blood. Studies on the interaction between microglia and BBB in both physiological and pathological conditions is limited and has recently gained more attention [143, 144]. The perivascular microglia communicate with the ECs and survey the influx of blood-borne components into the CNS. Hence, any disruption of the BBB as reported following brain injury, can prime and attract microglia [65].

Microglia activation dependent alterations to BBB after TBI is thought to be predominantly mediated by neuroinflammation and oxidative stress [145, 146, 147]. Therefore, most TBI studies that investigate both microglia activation and BBB disruption focus on shifting microglia from their proinflammatory M1 state to their anti-inflammatory M2 state. For instance, following CCI injury binding of 2 arachidonylglycerol (2-AG) (agonist) to the cannabinoid receptor in microglia shifted microglia at 3 and 7 days from M1 to M2 activated phenotypes. This shift in activation was coupled with the reduction of BBB permeability at the same time points [148]. Reduction in the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and reduction of inducible ROS production prevented further degradation BBB [148]. Pretreatment with apocynin (NOX inhibitor) prevented BBB disruption following injury produced by WD [149], as well as, blast injury model [150]. Microglia as the major source of NOX mediated ROS production are implicated as the cause for the increase permeability of the BBB following injury [149]. In a mouse model of mild blast injury, microglia activation was restricted to regions close to the blood vessel microdomains, as evidenced by rapid microglial process retraction and increased amoeboid morphology [65]. Taken together, these TBI studies confirm that there is a close association between microglia activation and BBB disruption following injury.

#### 2.2.4 Neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation is one of the key mediators of secondary injuries following brain injury. The acute response includes secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines within minutes following injury. The activation of resident microglial cells, alongside the infiltration of peripheral macrophages, are key mediators of neuroinflammatory responses after TBI. Several studies have attempted to discriminate the differential roles of resident microglia and infiltrated monocytes after brain/spinal cord injury [151, 152, 153]. In this dissertation, we highlight the contribution of microglia to inflammation, however, the role of infiltrating monocytes/macrophages in neuroinflammation and overall TBI pathology cannot be overlooked.

Upon foreign ligand detection, microglia can release a wide range of cytokines and chemokines. These molecules guide the expression of adhesion molecules, signal peripheral immune cells to infiltrate the injury site, and further release of pro-inflammatory mediators and growth factors that regulate neuronal death or regeneration [154]. Many studies have investigated cytokines and chemokines expression following TBI. These studies have focused on levels of cytokines found in homogenized tissue section or CSF. These studies attribute the increased expression of cytokine to the activity of activated microglia. This assertion may be correct, but microglia's contribution to the inflammatory environment is unlikely to be exclusive [155].

Following CCI injury, levels of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18 increased in brain homogenates surrounding the contusion site. Levels of IL-1 $\beta$  peaked at 6h post injury and decreased to control level by 7 days. IL-18 levels gradually increased over the 7d observation period. Microglia specific release was confirmed by colocalization of NLRP3 inflammasome and its associated components (ASC and caspase1) in microglia cells but not with astrocytes or neurons [156]. Chio et al found that administration of Etanercept, a TNF- $\alpha$  receptor antagonist, attenuated the release of TNF- $\alpha$  following FPI leading to reduced motor and neurological deficits as compared to the control and saline treated groups. At 72 hours after injury, TNF- $\alpha$ secreted by microglia increased in ischemic cortex, white matter, hippocampus, and hypothalamus. Double immunostaining confirmed that neuronal and astrocytic TNF- $\alpha$  levels were not significantly different between control, saline and etanercept treated groups. Leading to the conclusion that microglia was the prominent source of TNF- $\alpha$  production following diffuse TBI [157].

Bachstetter et al showed that p38 $\alpha$  (MAPK14) protein kinase plays a role in the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  by cultured microglia cells [158]. Using midline FPI model they investigated whether myeloid specific deletion of p38 $\alpha$  influenced microglia cytokine production following injury. Unexpectedly they found that during the acute phase (0-12 h), release of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  was greater in the p38 $\alpha$  knockout (KO) compared to the wild type injured animal. This increase could not be accounted for by the increase in infiltrating immune cells (macrophages and neutrophils) or by astrogliosis, as cell number were decreased in the KO animals relative to the WT. In the chronic phase (7d), levels of IL-1 $\beta$  were significantly reduced in the p38 $\alpha$ KO animals as compared to the WT injured animals. These findings suggest that microglia may not contribute significantly to inflammation in the acute phase but is responsible for the pro-inflammatory environment found in the chronic phase of injury [159].

Microglia release proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$  upon ligand binding to the NMDAR [113], angiotensin II receptor [142], and IFN- $\gamma$ R [154]. Release of TNF- $\alpha$  has been reported upon actation of AMPA receptor [104, 105], NMDAR [113], kainate receptor [106, 112], metabotropic glutamate receptor [108, 110, 160, 161]  $\alpha$ 1a,  $\alpha$ 2a,  $\beta$ 1 adrenergic receptor [162], IFN- $\gamma$ R [154], TLR2 [163], TLR3 [164], TLR9 [165], CD-14 [166], and thrombin receptors [166]. Release of IL-6 upon GABAR [167]  $\alpha$ 1a,  $\alpha$ 2a,  $\beta$ 1 adrenergic receptor [162], TNFR1 [168], IFN- $\gamma$  [154], IL-1R1 [169], TLR2 [163], TLR3 [164], TLR5 [165], TLR9 [165], CD-14 [166], Thrombin receptor [137] activation. Release of IL-12 was noted upon activation of GABAR [167], IFN $\gamma$ R [170], TLR3 [164], TLR9 [165], CD-14 [166], and thrombin receptors [137]. Microglia are also capable of releasing chemokines, such as release of CCL2 upon IFN- $\gamma$ R [170] TLR2 [163] activation. Release of CCL3 upon IL-13R [171, 172] CD-14 activation. Release of CCL5 upon IL-3R [171, 172] activation. Release of CXCL-10 upon TLR3 [164] and TLR4 [164] activation. Release of CXCL2 upon CD-14 [166] activation. Once released these factors affect adjacent cells such as astrocytes and/or neurons in a paracrine manner since these cells possess receptors for these factors. Additionally, these factors could also affect microglia in an autocrine manner. In both scenarios, the net effect exacted by these factors include lipid peroxidation, immune cell recruitment, BBB disruption, and the development of cerebral edema[27, 173, 174].

#### 2.3 NLRP3 Inflammasome

The innate immune response of the central nervous system plays an essential role in the pathology following injury. The activation is initiated by pattern recognition receptors (PRR), such as Toll like receptors (TLR) cell surface receptors responding to pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) and DAMPS, NOD-like receptors (NLR) cytosolic receptor for PAMPS the enter the cell through phagocytosis or pores, and RIG-I like receptors response (RLR) cytosolic receptors the respond to viral DNA and RNA. The receptors are responsible for initiating the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-18 tumor necrosis factor, and type 1 interferons that activate the adaptive immune system[175].

Our interest focuses on the NLRP3 inflammasome largely due to its known expression in microglia cells [176, 177, 178]. NLRP3 the most studied inflammasome is typically found in innate immune cells and is found to be activated by a wide range of stimuli such as viral, bacterial, and fungal components components [179, 180] endogenous danger signals such as extracellular ATP [181, 182, 183], amyloid $\beta$  [176]
and uric acid crystals [176, 183, 184], and environmental micro particles such as silica crystals [185].

The activation of NLRP3 is a two-step process that requires two activating stimuli[186]. The first signal usually through TLR receptors primes the cell to transcribe and translate pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and in some cases, NLRP3 expression [176, 183, 187]. The second signal typically ATP or oxidative stress, induces the formation of the inflammasome complex which cleaves the pro-IL-1 $\beta$  into its active form and is subsequently released from the cell.

The fact that NLRP3 activation is induced by various stimuli suggests that the NLRP3 inflammasome acts as a general sensor of cellular damage or stress [186]. It has been shown to be activated by multiple secondary injury mechanisms including ion fluxes induced by extracellular ATP [188, 189], endosomal rupture [178, 182, 185, 190], production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [181, 191, 192, 193, 194], and mitochondrial dysfunction [195, 196, 197] have been repeatedly shown to trigger the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome[186].

Originally thought to be expressed exclusively in microglia, NLRP3 is now found to be expressed in neurons. The time course for expression following TBI differ among the two cell types. Where early (acute) expression is found in neurons, and later (subacute) expression to be found in microglia [79].

## CHAPTER 3

# EVALUATE MICROGLIA ACTIVATION AS A FUNCTION OF TIME POST MILD TBI

The first part of specific aim 1 is to identify the microglia activation profile following exposure to mild 180 kPa blast in the hippocampus and thalamus over 30 days. The rationale behind this work is th glean the information in understanding neuroimmune response to blast injury. Next, the distribution of activated microglia in response to the site of vascular damage (BBB disruption) was investigated to get more insight into the response of microglia to the localized microenvironment. These studies will lay the foundation to answer in aim 2 and 3 whether the neuroimmune response (neuroinflammation) could be a driving factor in the development of cognitive decline observed in returning veterans exposed to blast. This study will also give insight into specific vulnerabilities of different brain regions to primary blast injury by using microglia activation as a marker for injury severity.

#### **3.1** Materials and Methods

# 3.1.1 Animal Preparation

Adult 10-week-old male Sprague-Dawley (Charles River Laboratories) rats weighing 300–350 g were used in this study. The animals were housed with free access to food and water in a 12h dark-light cycle at 22 °C with 40% humidity. All procedures followed the guidelines established in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by Rutgers University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Rats were divided into two groups (sham controls and animals exposed to a mild blast of 180 kPa). A total number of 35 rats was used in this study as follows: immunofluorescence studies (five controls and 30 blast-injured n=5 per time point); For immunofluorescence studies, each brain tissue was processed to obtain several coronal sections (=  $20\mu$ m) of the hippocampus and thalamus. Each of those

sections were used for identification of microglia and their morphological states in the hippocampus and thalamus near and far from the vasculature.

### 3.1.2 Primary Blast Wave Exposure of Animals

Using the 9-inch by 9-inch cross section compressed gas driven shock tube at the Center of Injury Biomechanics, Materials, and Medicine (CIBM3) (New Jersey institute of technology, Newark) we determined the effects single mild 180 kPa blast exposure on 10-week old male Sprague Dawley rats [13, 63, 150, 198, 199, 200]. The primary shockwave generated in this shock tube was validated against the pressure-time profiles measured experimentally in the live-fire explosion experiments [201] and against theoretical pressure-time profiles associated with the detonation of C4 explosive [199, 202].

Before exposing to blast, rats were anesthetized with isofluorane. Sham controls were placed next to the shocktube and only exposed to noise without shockwave exposure. Animals for blast exposure were mounted inside the test section located 2.80 meters from the breach and 3.05 meters from the exit with their head oriented to the direction of the shockwave (Figure 3.1). The rats were strapped securely to the bed with cotton cloth restraints to eliminate head motion. This is done to minimize the contributions of secondary blast injury to total head injury. The animals were exposed to single blast at 180 kPa in a prone position.

Immediately after blast exposure, animals were monitored for any signs of apnea and their neurological status was assessed using modified neurological severity score as reported earlier [199].

# 3.1.3 Sample Collection

Both sham control and animals exposed to bTBI were sacrificed 4h, 24h, 3d, 7d, 15d, and 30d after blast exposure. Sham animals sacrificed at the different time points were



**Figure 3.1** (A) Schematic of shocktube with section I-Breech with high pressure helium gas separated from section II by different thickness of mylar sheets that generate pure shock wave in section III where the specimens are located. Section IV is past the section and is a design requirement; the pressure-time cycle is identical to live fire tests with actual C-4 (or TNT equivalent) explosives at specified stand-off distance. (B) Composite of actual experimental profiles that generate 180 kPa with only about 5 kPa variation in peak pressure and less than a millisecond in duration. The front of the pressure rise indicates shock wave conditions. (C) Schematic of rodent model in prone facing the shock front. The shock travels in the caudal-rostral direction traversing pre-frontal cortex, striatum, hippocampus, thalamus, visual cortex and cerebellum within a period of a millisecond with no attenuation of pressure loading.

combined into one group as their biochemical values did not differ at any time points. Animals were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine and xylazine (10 mg/kg) at 10:1 ratio administered via intraperitoneal injection mixture. For immunofluorescence analysis, rats were transcardially perfused first with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.0) (PBS) followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA).

## 3.1.4 Immunofluorescence and Microscopy

At 4h, 24h, 3d, 7d, 15, and 30d post-injury after perfusion, the brains were removed from cranial vaults and incubated in 4% PFA for an additional 48h and cryoprotected by immersing in 30% sucrose. Coronal brain tissue sections (20  $\mu$ m thickness) were prepared using the Leica VT1000S vibratome taken from a single location along the longitudinal axis of the brain interaural 6.72 mm Bregma -2.28 mm and immunofluorescence was performed. Tissue sections were mounted on glass slides prepared from five individual animals in each group and were washed with 10 mM PBS, fixed in ice-cold methanol (100%) solution for 10 min at -20 °C. The tissue sections were blocked with 10% donkey serum at room temperature for 1h in 1X PBS containing 0.03% Triton X-100. Fixed tissues were incubated overnight at 4 °C with respective primary antibodies to Iba1 (Pa5-18039 1:250) and RECA-1 in 2% donkey serum. A second 1-hour incubation with Biotin-SP affiniPure Donkey Anti-rabbit IgG to increase the sensitivity of Iba-1 primary antibody.

Double immunofluorescence was performed using Streptavidin Alexafluor 594 conjugate (S32356) for RECA-1, donkey-anti goat Alexafluor 488 for Iba1. The specificity of each antibody staining was validated by excluding each primary antibody (negative controls) and visualized for any nonspecific fluorescence. The primary antibody specificity, however, was not validated independently by blocking the binding to tissue with the corresponding antigen. Slides containing different brain regions were digitized (20x magnification) using Leica Aperio Versa 200 fluorescent microscope and slide scanner. Fluorescence intensities in each region were quantitated using AreaQuant software (Leica Biosystems) and expressed as average fluorescence intensity\*unit area.

### 3.1.5 Cell Counting/Morphological Analysis

Four separate regions of interest in the hippocampus 500 x 500  $\mu$ m in size were used for cell counting. For the hippocampus, the different regions of interest comprised of images from CA1, CA3, and the Dentate gyrus for each rat. Five separate regions of interest in the thalamus 500 x 500  $\mu$ m in size was used for cell counting. For cell counting near the vasculature, a 250  $\mu$ m diameter circle centered at the center of the vessel of interest was used. A second 250  $\mu$ m diameter circle adjacent to the vascular area in the same region of the hippocampus or thalamus not containing any vasculature was used for counting microglia away from the vasculature. Total number of microglia within the specified brain regions, determined by the presence of a defined soma and confirmed with presence of nuclei using DAPI stain, was counted manually and expressed in terms of cells per mm<sup>2</sup> (Figure 3.2).

Similar to human microglia, rodent resident microglia display four main phenotypes in grey matter, resting, primed, activated, and amoeboid [76, 77, 78]. Resting microglia possess a small spherical cells body with several highly branched processes radiating in all directions. Primed microglia possess a larger more oblong cell body but present with similar number of primary and higher order processes to resting microglia. The primed microglia act as an intermediate between resting microglia and activated microglia. Activated microglia possess an amoeboid cell body with fewer, shorter, and less branched processes as compared to resting and primed microglia. Amoeboid microglia possess an amoeboid cell body and can possess up to two unramified processes roughly equal in length to the cell body [76, 77, 78, 79] (Figure 3.4). Using these morphological criteria were assessed for the activation state and expressed as a percent of total microglia.



Figure 3.2 Representative examples of the regions in the hippocampus and thalamus used for counting of microglia.

## 3.1.6 Data Analysis

Statistical analysis on immunofluorescence was expressed as the mean +/- SEM. Statistical analysis of the data was performed using SPSS version 25. Comparison between sham and blast exposed samples was performed by multi-factorial ANOVA. For activation near vessel an Independent sample t-test was used. Differences will be considered significant at p <0.05. If significance is found, a post hoc Dunnett's test will be conducted for main effect of time following primary blast injury. Boxblot analysis was performed to identify outliers and Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's tests was performed to assess normality of data distribution and homogeneity of variances, respectively.

# 3.2 Results

**3.2.1** Microglia Activate Following bTBI and Remain Active Chronically To assess the level of microglia activation following blast we first quantified the number of microglia in both the hippocampus and thalamus following blast. The number of microglia significantly increased in both the hippocampus and thalamus starting as early as 4 hours post injury with a 26.36% and 39.47% increase, respectively (Figure 3.3 C,D). In the hippocampus, the number of microglia was significantly elevated at all time points except 3 days (p=0.055), with a peak number at 7 days (28.87% increase) (Figure 3.3 C). In the thalamus, the number of microglia was significantly increased at all time points with a peak value at 15d (33.4% increase) post injury (Figure 3.3 D).



Figure 3.3 Quantitative assessment of microglial number following blast TBI. (A) Number of Iba1-positive microglia in hippocampus from control. (B) Increased number of (Iba1-positive) microglia in hippocampus from animals 4h post-blast showing significant increase in their number. Quantification of number of Iba1-positive microglia in hippocampus (C) and thalamus (D) showing significant increase as early as 4h post-blast. Scale bars =  $300\mu$ m. \*, p<0.05 vs. control; Microglial number were quantified from five areas ROIs of 1 mm<sup>2</sup> in each section from five different animals in each group. df=6.

Qualitative evaluation of morphological status of microglia stained with Iba1 showed a statistical decrease in resting microglia in both the hippocampus and thalamus in animals exposed to blast TBI at all time points (Figure 3.5 (A E). Hippocampus and thalamus from sham animals showed the majority of microglia were in the "resting state" as observed by the extensive arborization of their processes; although a few primed and activated microglia were occasionally observed (Figure 3.5). However, blast injury caused a significant increase in the percentage of microglia within the area of region of interest to activate and transform into the primed and active morphological state indicated by increased soma size and fewer number of processes at all the time points (Figure 3.5 B,C,F,G). There was a statistical increase in the percentage of amoeboid microglia in hippocampus at 4h, 3d, 7d, 30d and in the thalamus at 4h, 24h, 15d and 30d (Figure 3.5 D, H).

## 3.2.2 Acute activation of Microglia in the Vicinity of Vasculature

At 4h post injury, microglia  $<100 \ \mu m$  from the vasculature increased in number in both the hippocampus and thalamus. The percent of resting microglia decrease following blast while primed microglia remained unchanged. The two active forms of microglia (active and amoeboid) both increased significantly in both regions (Figure 3.7). At 4h post injury, the number of microglia in the vicinity of the vasculature as compared a vasculature free area was statistically increased in both the hippocampus and thalamus (Figure 3.7). The percentage of resting microglia near the vasculature was significantly decreased while the percentage of primed and active microglia remained unchanged as compared to the non-vascularized region. Virtually all amoeboid microglia were found adjacent to the vasculature and almost none were found in vasculature free area.

Within the blast animal, the number of microglia near the vasculature was significantly elevated compared to an adjacent vasculature free region. The number of resting microglia was significantly decreased near the vasculature and the number of amoeboid microglia was significantly elevated near the vasculature. The number of primed and active microglia did not differ significantly between the two groups (Figure 3.8).

#### 3.3 Discussion

It is interesting to note that at all time points qualitatively examined, microglia at different stages of activation co-existed within hippocampus and thalamus. Our finding on microglia activation following blast align with other laboratories findings that these cells activate immediately and remain active chronically [65, 203]. In the healthy brain microglia are found in a lattice like organization with each cell surveying its own individual section of the brain parenchyma [64]. Following injury, we observed that this even distribution of microglia was disturbed specifically the distribution of activated microglia in the acute time points. We observed higher activation of microglia were present in the vicinity of the vasculature and microglia present away from the blood vessels were primarily in the resting stage. This change in the activity profile of microglia in the vicinity of the vasculature was also accompanied by an increase in microglia number. The increase in of microglia number indicates that the microglia are actively migrating to the vasculature in order to help return the microenvironment. These finding suggest the mechanical opening of the BBB caused by the shockwave is the primary activating stimuli for microglia in the acute phase of injury.

Further, a quantitative increase in microglia number at all-time points was observed in both the hippocampus and thalamus with the largest increase in microglia number at 7 and 10 days, respectively. The activation profile of microglia at the 3 day time point and later were more evenly distributed compared to the acute time points. There was still higher activation in the vicinity of the vasculature but not to the same degree. This activation profile observed in more indicative of the presence of a chronic inflammatory microenvironment. With the higher activation of microglia in the vicinity of the vasculature likely due to the increase BBB permeability induced by IL-1 $\beta$ . This data taken together strongly suggest that a) injury progression in bTBI is a continuous event and b) variable degree of BBB disruption within the same region could be a stimulating factor for differential activation of microglia. The latter is highly probable due to previous studies from our lab that indicate blood vessels with larger diameter showed great leakage than smaller blood vessels [63]. Such a tenet also holds validity since as shown in Figure 3.6, microglia near larger blood vessels are more highly activated compared to microglia e in the vicinity of small diameter blood vessels. The opening of the BBB allows for the entry of DAMPS from the blood to the brain parenchyma and hence may be a pathological signal for microglia activation since our earlier studies [150] in conjunction with other reports [204] consistently reported BBB disruption is a major component in the pathology of blast TBI. Coexistence of microglia at different stages of activation has also been observed in other neurological conditions including stroke, ischemia, and where BBB disruption is a prominent feature [1]. These This experiment validates my sub hypothesis for aim 1 that microglia activation is a chronic event in bTBI in both the hippocampus and thalamus.



**Figure 3.4** Representative immunofluorescent images of microglia stained with Iba-1 4h following blast TBI showing different stages of microglia activation co-existing within hippocampus. Scale bars =  $300\mu$ m.



Figure 3.5 Quantitation of fluorescent images of Iba1 stained microglia showing different stages of microglial activation in hippocampus and thalamus. Note the number of resting microglia significantly decreased in both hippocampus and thalamus 4h after bTBI while primed, activated and amoeboid microglial % show a significant increase at different time points after blast which is consistent with robust activation of microglia. \*, p<0.05 vs. control; Microglial number were quantified from five ROIs of 1 mm<sup>2</sup> in each section from five different animals in each group. df=6.



Figure 3.6 Presence of microglia (immune-stained with Iba1) in hippocampus in control and blast-induced animals near blood vessels of small diameter showing extensive arborization of their processes (resting stage). (B) Microglia in the resting state from control animals near larger blood vessel. (D). Ameboid microglia from animals 4h after blast exposure showing higher activation state near blood vessel with larger diameter (pink arrows). Scale bars =  $300\mu$ m.



Figure 3.7 Quantitation of fluorescent images of Iba1 stained microglia showing differential activation near blood vessels of smaller and larger diameter in hippocampus and thalamus. Note the number of resting microglia significantly decreased in both hippocampus and thalamus 4h after bTBI near vasculature, while primed, activated and amoeboid microglial percentage show a significant increase which strongly suggests that the extent of vascular rupture dictates the microglia activation stage following blast. \*, p <0.05 vs. control; Microglia at different stages were quantified as noted in Methods from five areas ROIs of 1 mm<sup>2</sup> in each section from five different animals in each group. df =6.



Figure 3.8 Quantitation of fluorescent images of Iba1 stained microglia showing differential activation near blood vessels of smaller and larger diameter in hippocampus and thalamus as compared to adjacent non vascularized tissue. Note the number of resting microglia was significantly decreased, and the number of ameoboid microglia significantly increased after bTBI near vasculature which strongly suggests that the extent of vascular rupture dictates the microglia activation stage following blast. \*, p <0.05 vs. control; Microglia at different stages were quantified as noted in Methods from five areas ROIs of 1 mm<sup>2</sup> in each section from 5 different animals in each group df=2.

## CHAPTER 4

# MAP THE TEMPORAL ACTIVATION OF THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN TWO VULNERABLE BRAIN REGIONS (HIPPOCAMPUS AND THALAMUS).

#### 4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we will address the second aim and further investigate the exact mechanism in which body's immune system responds to blast injury. Here we hypothesize that the NLRP3 inflammasome in the biological sensor in microglia that is responsible for their activation and their subsequent production of IL-1 $\beta$ . Identification of the receptor responsible for the activation of microglia is necessary to develop effective treatment for bTBI. Pinpointing the cellular origin of the inflammasome in required to identify vulnerable brain regions to injury as well as time course for potential treatment. Upon completion of this aim, we will be able to identify a potential mechanism for the development of cognitive decline.

## 4.1.1 Role of Inflammasome in Chronic Inflammation

Microglia the innate immune cells of the central nervous system are able to initiate and sustain inflammatory responses to either infection or injury [205]. To detect the changes to the brain parenchyma following insult, microglia possess membrane bound and cytosolic pattern recognition receptors. These membrane bound receptors include TLR 1-9 and coreceptors including triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2), CD14, CD33, and CD36 [169]. The cytosolic PRR include different inflammasomes receptors such as NLRP3 [206]. These PRR recognize DAMPS release from injured or dying cells, misfolded protein, or protein aggregates produced by neurodegenerative diseases or injury [207, 208, 209].

Astrocytes the most numerous of the cell types found in the brain can also play a role in the innate immune response. Their normal primary function is to maintain the BBB, and to support neurons by regulating their microenvironment and releasing trophic factors. Astrocytes possess a variety of PRRs including TLR 2-5 and 9, scavenger receptor, and complement receptors [210]. Recent RNA studies have found that astrocytes only express TLR3 in vivo, and microglia are responsible for the remainder of the TLR expression [211, 212]. Astrocytes also express cytosolic PRR in vitro including NLR family CARD domain containing protein 4 (NLRC4) [213], NLRP2 [214], NLRP3 [213, 215, 216].

Upon NLRP3 activation, the NLRP3 protein undergoes conformational changes that allow it to interaction with never in mitosis A-related kinase 7 (NEK7) [217, 218]. ASC is then recruited and undergoes oligomerization to form a spec complex with the NLRP3 protein. Procaspase-1 is then recruited by the inflammasome spec and activated [219, 220]. The active caspase-1 then cleaves pro-IL-1 $\beta$  to produce its active form which is then released from the cell [221]. Caspase-1 is also involved in an inflammatory programmed cell death called pyroptosis. This process causes the cell to lysis and release pro inflammatory molecules [222]. Pyroptosis is initiated by the cleavage of gasdermin D (GSDMD) by caspase-1. The N terminus of GSDMD then forms cell membrane pores [223, 224]. Upon pore formation the inflammasome specs are release and further contribute to neuroinflammation through activity in the extracellular space.

## 4.1.2 What is NLRP3?

Inflammasomes are complex of proteins the consist of (1) cytosolic pattern recognition receptor (PRR) (2) an adaptor protein called apoptosis associated speck-like protein containing a caspase-recruitment domain (CARD) (ASC), and (3) an effector such as caspase-1 [225]. The most studied of theses protein complex is the nucleotide-binding domain, leucine-rich repeat (NLR) family, pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome. The NLRP3 sensor molecule is tripartite protein in the NLR family and consists of amino terminal PYRIN (PYD) domain, a nucleotide-binding NACHT domain, and carboxy terminal leucine-rich repeat (LRR) domain. The NACHT domain possesses ATPase activity and is believed to require ATP for NLRP3 activation [226]. NLRP3 is known as an integration point for the detection of cellular stress, due to its ability to respond to a wide range of stimuli. It has the ability to respond to stimuli including but not limited to extracellular ATP, viral RNA, lysosomal damage, inhibition of glycolytic or mitochondrial metabolism, or potassium ion efflux [227]. Thus, NLRP3 is able to sense a particular dyshomeostatic cellular state by the loss of its autoinhibition [228].

#### 4.1.3 NLRP3 Activation

The basal expression of the PRR NLRP3, is insufficient to allow for activation in of the inflammasome complex in response to standard activators. The basal levels of ASC and procaspase-1 are sufficient for inflammasome activation and therefore the level of NLRP3 protein in the limiting factor for inflammasome activation. The activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is a two-step process that requires first a priming step to induce the production of sufficient NLRP3 protein to allow for inflammasome activation [187]. Then a second activating signal is required to induce inflammasome complex formation and activation [229].

**Priming** The first signal or priming signal initiates the transcription of the NLRP3 protein and other key proinflammatory genes such as pro-IL-1 $\beta$ . The priming step occurs through the activation of membrane bound PRR that activate the pro inflammatory nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF  $\kappa B$ ) [229]. The PRR can include but not limited to toll-like receptor (TLRs) specifically TLR4 in TBI, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor TNFR1 and TNFR2, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) receptor, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2), and the IL-1 $\beta$  receptor ILR1 [187, 230]. The priming step is regulated by several factors such as microRNAs used to inhibit the translation of NLRP3 [231], input from G protein couples receptors(GPCR) signaling cascade, and activity of cellular metabolic pathways [227].

**Post Translational NLRP3 Modification** After translation of the NLRP3 protein, it undergoes several post translational modification including several ubiquitylation and phosphorylation [229]. This is done to hold the NLRP protein in an inactive conformation to prevent unwanted activation. Phosphorylation of NLRP3 can occur at three location, in the PYD domain (S3), the linker between the PYD domain and the NACHT domain (S198), as well as one in the LRR domain (Y861 [232, 233, 234]. The phosphorylation of S3 [234] and Y861 [233] both inhibit the NLRP3 activation where phosphorylation at S198 which is mediated by JUN N-terminal kinase-1 (JNK1 or MAPK8) is needed for NLRP3 activation [232]. A fourth location at S295 has been found to be phosphorylated, but its exact function is yet to be determined. It has been found that protein kinase A (PKA) [235] and PKD[236] have been involved in phosphorylating this residue. NLRP3 function is potentiated by PKD and inhibited by PKA.

The phosphorylation state of both S3 and S198 are controlled by TLR activation. The phosphorylation of the S3 and dephosphorylation S198 inhibit the activation of NLRP3 by preventing the homo-oligomerization of the NLRP3 protein and prevents its interaction with ASC [229]. The phosphorylation of Y861 inhibits the activation of the NLRP3 by targeting the NLRP3 protein for autophagic degradation. Thus, lowering the free concentration of NLRP3 below the threshold required for activation [233]. The dephosphorylation of Y861 mediated by PTPN22 which is activated by ATP and monosodium urate (MSU) crystals as well as muramyl dipeptide (MDP) a know priming stimulus [233].

Ubiquitylation another form of post transcriptional modification that controls NLRP3's ability to self-assemble and its rate of degradation [229]. It occurs when an isopeptide linkage is created between  $\epsilon$ - amino group of a lysine residue and the C-terminus of ubiquitin. Ubiquitin has seven lysine residues (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48, K63) each with the ability for form linkages. Two major types of ubiquitination exist for NLRP3 regulation the K48 and the K68 [237, 238]. TLR activation induces the expression F-box only protein 3 (FBXO3). FBXO3 then degrades ubiquitinase F-box/LRR-repeat protein 2 (FBXL2). The reduction of FBXL2 decreases its K48 linked ubiquitylation which marks NLRP3 for degradation [239]. This allows NLRP3 to reach levels required for activation. BRCA1/BRCA2-Containing Complex Subunit 3 (BRCC3) which is activated by priming signals deubiquitylates NLRP3 in in its LRR domain enabling homo oligomerization [238].

Tripartite motif-containing protein 31 (TRIM31) a type of E3 ubiquitin ligase following priming signal directly interacts with the PYD domain of NLRP3 causing K48 linked ubiquitination targeting the NLRP3 protein for degradation [240]. TRIM31 is found to be upregulated by LPS (TLR) and IL-1 $\beta$  (IL1R) indicating that it is part of a negative regulatory feedback loop [241]. MARCH7 another type of E3 ubiquitin ligase has shown to upregulate upon activation of the dopamine D1 receptor. MARCH7 then ubiquitinates NLRP3 in both its NACHT and LRR domain via K48 linked ubiquitination marking NLRP3 for degradation [242]. Both TRIM31 and MARCH7 are believed to play a role in negative feedback of NLRP3 activation.

**Secondary Activation** Activation of the NLRP3 occurs only when a primed cell is subjected to a second activating stimulus to an already primed cell. Analyte detection by NLRP3 results in first the recruitment of ASC followed by the activation of caspase-1 [229]. Inhibition at this step of the activation process is preferable as it is specific to NLRP3 and will not influence other biological responses [229]. The exact mechanism

of how NLRP3 is activated is still unknown but five models of NLRP3 activation have been developed. These models are not mutually exclusive and multiple models may contribute to overall NLRP3 activation [229].



**Figure 4.1** NLRP3 mechanism of priming and activation following exposure to blast.

**Pore Formation and Ion Distribution** The first model developed was the pore formation of ion distribution model. The first know activator of NLRP3, were molecules that permeabilize the cell membrane to the flow of potassium ions. Petrilli et al. have demonstrated the potassium efflux, the only common mechanism in NLRP3 activating ionophores, is sufficient for inflammasome activation in primed cells [189]. High levels of extra cellular ATP found in the vicinity of damages or dying cells induce NLRP3 activate via the P2X purinoceptor 7 (P2X7) channel. Upon ATP binding, the ion channel opens allowing for potassium efflux from the cell balance by calcium influx into the cell [243].

Chloride channels in addition to potassium channels have now also been implicated in the activation of NLRP3. Evidence supporting this assertion stem from non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) inhibits NLRP3 by blocking chloride movement across the membrane by inhibiting activation volume-regulated anion channel (VRAC) in the plasma membrane [244]. Two separate studies came to a similar conclusion in that chloride intracellular channel proteins (CLICs) 1–4 are required to facilitate the chloride efflux required for NLRP3 activation [245, 246].

Lysosomal Disruption The second model for NLRP3 activation is the lysosomal disruption model. It occurs following phagocytosis of either proteinaceous aggregates or crystalline material that cause disruption to the lysosome [229]. The exact mechanism in which the lysosome undergoes damage is still unknown but is said to mediated by cathepsin release from the lysosome [185]. This model is not mediated by a specific cathepsin in that only cells that lack multiple cathepsins are unable to activate NLRP3 through this methods. Known protein aggregate that trigger NLRP3 activation through this pathway include  $\beta$ -Amyloids [176] and amylin [247, 248]. Crystalline structures that activate NLRP3 are either foreign crystals that are inhaled (silica [185] or asbestos crystals [192]) or produced due to pathological conditions (uric acid [184] and cholesterol crystals [249]). Lysosomal disruption and the subsequent cathepsin release induces an increase in extracellular ATP [250]. This model is believed to then follow the pore formation and ion distribution model and is mediated through the P2X7 channel induced potassium efflux.

**Metabolic Dysfunction** Recently, metabolic dysfunction has been found to cause the action of the NLRP3 inflammasome. The metabolic dysfunction model is based on activation of NLRP3 due to changes in metabolism caused by injury or infection. Currently 3 triggers exist for the activation of NLRP3 due to metabolism. Activation can occur after displacement of hexokinase-2 from the mitochondria [251], inhibition of NADH oxidase (complex 1 of the oxidative phosphorylation chain) in concert with depolarization of lysosomes [252], or general inhibition of glycolysis [253], The metabolic dysfunction model is thought to be the only NLRP3 activation model to be potassium efflux independent [229].

**Mitochondrial Dysfunction** Unlike the other models of NLRP3 activation, the mitochondrial dysfunction model has multiple mechanisms. The first is through the production of mitochondrial ROS (mtROS) which is able to be inhibited by administration of antioxidants [254]. The release of mitochondrial DNA into the cytosol is believed to be a second mechanism of NLRP3 activation but it is still unclear as to whether this event occurs upstream or downstream of caspase 1 activation [196]. A third mechanism proposed is the release of the mitochondrial lipid protein cardiolipin as ligand for the inflammasome [255]. Cardiolipin has been shown to control mitochondrial fission, fusion, and mitophagy [256]. Disruption of mitophagy increases NLRP3 activation in response to potassium dependent activators [257]. These studies suggest that either mitochondrial metabolites or components of the damaged mitochondria are able to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome.

Non Canonical Alternative and Necroptotic The final model for NLRP3 activation is considered non canonical alternative is that in human it is triggered by caspase-4 and caspase-11 in rodents. This activation of this pathway is in response to either the detection of LPS [258, 223], or oxidized phospholipids derived from 1-palmitoyl-2-arachidonoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphorylcholine (PAPC) which are endogenous DAMPs found in dying cells that signal cellular stress and cellular demise [259]. The detection of these two molecule induce the activation of caspase-4 and 11. Upon activation, caspase-4 and 11 cleave pro gasdermin D. The derived gasdermin D amino terminals oligomerize to form pores in the cell membrane allowing for potassium efflux and pyropoptosis [229]. The potassium efflux then activated NLRP3

and produces IL-1 $\beta$ . In macrophages and dendritic cells, the production of IL-1 $\beta$  by this model can occur in the absence of cell death [260, 261]. It should however be noted that we did not investigate detailed mechanisms of NLRP3 activation by primary and secondary signals since it is beyond the scope of my dissertation.

## 4.2 Materials and Methods

## 4.2.1 Animal Preparation

Adult 10-week-old male Sprague-Dawley (Charles River Laboratories) rats weighing 300-350 g were used in this study. The animals were housed with free access to food and water in a 12h dark-light cycle at 22 °C with 40% humidity. All procedures followed the guidelines established in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by Rutgers University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Rats were divided into two groups (sham controls and animals exposed to a mild blast of 180 kPa). A total number of 70 rats was used in this study as follows: immunoblotting and ELISA (five controls and 30 blast injured n=5 per time point); immunofluorescence studies, each brain tissue was processed to obtain several coronal sections (>20) of the hippocampus and thalamus. Each of those sections were used for identification of NLRP3 and caspase-1 proteins in neurons, and microglia by double immunofluorescence analysis.

## 4.2.2 Primary Blast Wave Exposure of Animals

Using the 9-inch by 9-inch cross section compressed gas driven shock tube at the Center of Injury Biomechanics, Materials, and Medicine (CIBM3) (New Jersey institute of technology, Newark) we determined the effects single mild 180 kPa blast exposure on 10-week old male Sprague Dawley rats [13, 63, 150, 198, 199, 200]. The primary shockwave generated in this shock tube was validated against the

pressure-time profiles measured experimentally in the live-fire explosion experiments [201] and against theoretical pressure-time profiles associated with the detonation of C4 explosive [199, 202].

Before exposing to blast, rats were anesthetized with isofluorane. Sham controls were placed next to the shocktube and only exposed to noise without shockwave exposure. Animals for blast exposure were mounted inside the test section located 2.80 meters from the breach and 3.05 meters from the exit with their head oriented to the direction of the shockwave (Figure 3.1). The rats were strapped securely to the bed with cotton cloth restraints to eliminate head motion. This is done to minimize the contributions of secondary blast injury to total head injury. The animals were exposed to single blast at 180 kPa in a prone position.

Immediately after blast exposure, animals were monitored for any signs of apnea and their neurological status was assessed using modified neurological severity score as reported earlier [199].

## 4.2.3 Sample Collection

Both sham control and animals exposed to bTBI were sacrificed 4h, 24h, 3 d, 7d, 15d, and 30d after blast exposure. Animals were anesthetized with a mixture of ketamine and xylazine (10 mg/kg) at 10:1 ratio administered via intraperitoneal injection mixture. For immunoblot analysis, rats were transcardially perfused with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.0) whereas for immunofluorescence studies, rats were first perfused with PBS followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA).

## 4.2.4 Immunofluorescence and Microscopy

To evaluate NLRP3 inflammasome activation over time as well as to identify cellular specific activation, we performed double labeled immunofluorescence studies of NLRP3 with NeuN and Iba-1 markers of neurons and microglia, respectively, in the hippocampus and thalamus. At 4h, 24h, 3d, 7d, 15d, and 30d post-injury after perfusion, the brains were removed from cranial vaults and incubated in 4% PFA for an additional 48h and cryoprotected by immersing in 30% sucrose. Coronal brain tissue sections (20  $\mu$ m thickness) were prepared using the Leica VT1000S vibratome taken from a single locations along the longitudinal axis of the brain interaural 6.72 mm Bregma -2.28 mm and immunofluorescence was performed. Tissue sections were mounted on glass slides prepared from five individual animals in each group and were washed with 10 mM PBS, fixed in ice-cold methanol (100%) solution for 10 min at -20 °C. The tissue sections were blocked with 10% donkey serum at room temperature for 1h in 1X PBS containing 0.03% Triton X-100. Fixed tissues were incubated overnight at 4 °C with respective primary antibodies to NLRP3 (ab214185 1:100), RECA-1 (NeuN (ab104224 1:150), and Iba1 (Pa5-18039 1:250) in 2% donkey serum. A second 1-hour incubation with Biotin-SP affiniPure Donkey Anti-rabbit IgG to increase the sensitivity of NLRP3 and caspase-1 primary antibody.

Double immunofluorescence was performed using Streptavidin Alexafluor 594 conjugate (S32356) for NLRP3 and Caspase-1, donkey anti mouse Alexafluor 488 (A21202) for NeuN, and donkey-anti goat Alexafluor 488 for Iba-1. The specificity of each antibody staining was validated by excluding each primary antibody (negative controls) and visualized for any nonspecific fluorescence. The primary antibody specificity, however, was not validated independently by blocking the binding to tissue with the corresponding antigen. Slides containing different brain regions were digitized (20x magnification) using Leica Aperio Versa 200 fluorescent microscope and slide scanner. Fluorescence intensities in each region were quantitated using AreaQuant software (Leica Biosystems) and expressed as average fluorescence intensity\*unit area.

#### 4.2.5 Cell Counting

Four separate regions of interest in the hippocampus 500 x 500  $\mu$ m in size were used for cell counting. For hippocampus, the different regions of interest comprised of images from CA1, CA3, and the dentate gyrus for each rat. Five separate regions of interest in the thalamus 500 x 500  $\mu$ m in size was used for cell counting. The number of microglia (Iba-1) and neurons (NeuN) positively co-labeled with NLRP3 protein within the specified brain regions were counted manually and expressed cells per mm<sup>2</sup>.

#### 4.2.6 Western Blotting

Using immunoblot, we examined protein levels of active and the inactive pro form of caspase-1 in the hippocampus and thalamus. After perfusion with 1X PBS, brains were excised from the cranial vaults, sliced into 1 mm coronal sections using adult rat brain slicer matrix. The hippocampus and thalamus were dissected from the 1 mm coronal sections and separately homogenized in ice-cold conditions using RIPA buffer (Sigma) and protease inhibitors. Samples were then centrifuged at  $14,000 \cdot g$  at 4 °C. The protein concentration in the samples was estimated via bicinchoninic acid (BCA) method (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Subsequently, 10  $\mu$ g of protein per lane was loaded into 4–20% SDS-PAGE gradient gels (Bio Rad). Proteins separated according to their molecular size were then transferred onto polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes using Transblot turbo transfer system (Bio Rad Laboratories) according to manufacturer instructions. Membranes were blocked with 5% milk dissolved in Tris-Buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T) and incubated overnight at 4 °C with caspase-1 (ab1871) at a dilution of 1:50. Bands were visualized using WesternBright ECL (advansta K-12045-D20) on Chemi Doc MP Imaging System (Bio Rad Laboratories). For densitometric quantitation of Western blots, the digitized images were analyzed with BioRad Imagelab version 5.21.

#### 4.2.7 Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1beta in brain tissue was estimated by ELISA. Homogenized hippocampus and thalamus samples were diluted in RIPA buffer and loaded onto ELISA plate (ab100768). All the steps of ELISA procedure (washings, incubation time) were conducted in accordance with manufacturer instructions. Plates were visualized and absorption was measured using SpectraMax i3 (Molecular Devices) microplate reader and analyzed using SoftMax Pro 6.5 software. Output concentration was converted into micrograms per ml of loaded sample.

#### 4.2.8 Data Analysis

Statistical analysis on immunofluorescence, western blotting, and ELISA will expressed as the mean +/- SEM. Statistical analysis of the data was performed using SPSS version 25. Comparison between sham and blast exposed samples was performed by multi-factorial ANOVA. For activation near vessel, an Independent sample t-test was used. Differences will be considered significant at p <0.05. If significance is found, a post hoc Dunnett's test will be conducted for main effect of time following primary blast injury. Boxblot analysis was performed to identify outliers and Shapiro-Wilk and Levene's tests were performed to assess normality of data distribution and homogeneity of variances, respectively.

## 4.3 Results

## 4.3.1 Mild Blast TBI Increases Proinflammatory Cytokine IL-1 $\beta$

Following observation of sustained microglial activation caused by blast TBI, we next examined the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  in hippocampus and thalamus acutely and in chronic conditions. The increase in IL-1 $\beta$  showed a biphasic response in both hippocampus with an acute stage of 4h and 24h and a chronic stage at 15d and 30d. In both hippocampus and thalamus, levels of IL-1 $\beta$  peaked at 4h post injury with an increase of 210% and 236%, respectively. IL-1 $\beta$  levels in both regions began to increase at 7 days but failed to meet significance in the hippocampus. The chronic stage (7d-30d) peaked at 30 days post injury with a 150% and 232% increase relative to the sham animals (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2 Time course of changes in IL-1 $\beta$  levels in hippocampus and thalamus following blast TBI. IL-1 $\beta$  levels were measured by quantitative ELISA in homogenates of hippocampus and thalamus. A biphasic response of change was observed in animals exposed to blast TBI. \*, p<0.05 vs control (n=5 in each experimental group). df=6.

## 4.3.2 Blast TBI Increases NLRP3 Inflammasome in Cell-Specific Manner

To determine the source of IL-1 $\beta$  production, we first examined the time course of total NLRP3 inflammasome expression in hippocampus and thalamus (Figure 4.3). Although there was no statistical significance ( $\alpha = 0.053$ ), we observed a strong trend towards an increase of NLRP3 expression at 4h followed by a return to sham levels of NLRP3 expression at 24h and 3d post injury. However, at 7d post injury NLRP3 levels increased in both the hippocampus and thalamus which continued to rise and peaked in both regions at 30d with a 560% increase in the hippocampus (Figure 4.2 D) and 1055% increase in the thalamus (Figure 4.3 E).



Figure 4.3 NLRP3 expression in the hippocampus and thalamus following blast. A biphasic response in NLRP3 expression was observed following blast<sup>\*</sup>, p<0.05 vs control (n=5 in each experimental time point). df=6.

We next investigated the cellular source of the NLRP3 inflammasome in both the hippocampus and thalamus (Figures 4.4 and 4.5). At 3d post-injury, both hippocampus and thalamus showed significantly increased in microglia as indicated by increased number of NLRP3 positive microglia and continued to rise in number until peaking at 30d following injury (Figure 4.4). This chronic production of microglial NLRP3 may be the underlying cellular source of chronic IL-1 $\beta$  production.

Interestingly, examination of NLRP3 expression in neurons showed an early increase in its expression at 4h and 24h after blast injury whereas at later time points, the levels of NLRP3 in neurons returned to that of control (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.4 NLRP3 protein expression in microglia following blast TBI. (A) Double immunofluorescence image of NLRP3 (red) and Iba1 (green) showing localization of NLRP3 in microglia from hippocampus and thalamus of control and blast exposed animals. (B) & (C) Expression of NLRP3 in microglia from hippocampus in animals 4h and 15d post-blast showing an increase in its content. (D) & (E): Quantification of fluorescence intensity of NLRP3 protein expression in microglia hippocampus and thalamus. \*, p<0.05 vs. control (n=5 in each experimental time point). df=6.

# 4.3.3 Blast TBI Increases the Levels of Active Caspase-1

To determine whether increased expression of NLRP3 inflammasome activates downstream events, we investigated the levels of procaspase-1 (signal 1) and levels of active caspase-1 (signal 2). We observed an upward trend for procaspase-1 production culminating in a significant increase of 84% increase relative to control at 7d post injury in the hippocampus. At 15d and 30d post injury procaspase levels fell below control levels but did not reach significance. Procaspase levels at all time points in the thalamus did not differ significantly from control levels. Levels of active caspase-1



Hippocampus NLRP3 postive neurons



Figure 4.5 NLRP3 protein expression in neurons following blast TBI. Double immunofluorescence image of NLRP3 (red) and NeuN (green) showing localization of NLRP3 in neurons from hippocampus of control and blast exposed animals. Quantification of fluorescence intensity of NLRP3 protein expression in neurons in hippocampus and at different time points display an early increase at 4h and 24h which thereafter restored back to control levels by 3d. \*, p<0.05 vs. control (n=5 in each experimental group) df=6.

showed a biphasic increase following blast. The acute phase lasted for 24h after injury returning to control levels at 3d in both the hippocampus and thalamus. At 7d post injury active caspase-1 levels became significantly upregulated in the hippocampus but failed to reach significance in the thalamus. In both regions, the levels of active caspase-1 was significantly upregulated at 15d and peaked its expression at 30d post injury with a 471% increase and 590% in the hippocampus and thalamus, respectively (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6 Immunoblot of levels of procaspase-1 and active-caspase-1 (cleaved product) in control and blast animals. Procaspase-1 with higher molecular weight band (upper panel) represents aggregated bands of NLRP3 containing other proteins including NLRP, ASC and procaspase-1, see text) show a significant increase at all time points investigated (4h-30d), whereas active caspase-1 (20-24 & 45 kDa) show a biphasic response with an increase at 7 d post-injury followed by completely normalization thereafter to that of control level. \*, p<0.05 vs. control (n=5 in each experimental group). df=6.

## 4.4 Discussion

This work aims to investigate the pattern of neuroinflammatory paradigms and its temporal profile in vulnerable brain regions including hippocampus and thalamus following mild bTBI. Blast TBI caused a progressive increase in microglia activation in both hippocampus and thalamus and such microglia activation could further resulted in activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and down-stream pathways ultimately leading to increased IL-1 $\beta$  production. A schematic illustrating the events that activate microglia and produce proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  by activating NLRP3 inflammasome is presented in Figure 4.1. This data collectively indicates that chronic neuroinflammation and associated production of proinflammatory cytokines via NLRP3 is an important injury mechanisms in bTBI.

Microglia once activated, synthesize and secrete a repertoire of inflammatory factors including proinflammatory cytokines, anti-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and cell adhesion molecules by activating variety of cell surface receptors in several neurological conditions including TBI (for review see [262]). Noteworthy, a sustained increase in the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  following blast not only correlated with increased microglia number at similar time points, but also indicate that IL-1 $\beta$  is a major cytokine produced by activated microglia in blast TBI. However, there are a number of pathways by which activated microglia produce IL-1 $\beta$ . These include activation of toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) which once bound by either DAMPS or PAMPS activated nuclear factor kappa B (NF-k $\beta$ ) [263] while the other pathway includes the activation of various inflammasomes [264, 265]. Therefore, it is also possible that these pathways could additionally contribute to the production of IL-1 $\beta$  in addition to NLRP3 activation we observed in the present study.

This study employed two vulnerable regions hippocampus and thalamus, for the analysis of various inflammatory events since these regions are involved in the regulation of a variety of cognitive and neurobehavioral tasks including learning and memory, short-term memory, anxiety, and depression like behavior [266, 267, 268, 269] and that chronic neuroinflammation is known to cause neurobehavioral deficits in various neurological conditions including TBI (for reviews see [270, 271]).

Increased expression of NLRP3 inflammasome displayed a biphasic response: 4h post-injury, there was a strong tendency of increase while such increase was completely normalized by 24h and 3d. However, at 7d post-injury onwards a second phase of
increase in NLRP3 was observed which persisted for up to 30d in both hippocampus and thalamus. Such biphasic response highly correlated with the temporal profile of IL-1 $\beta$  levels in both hippocampus and thalamus which strongly suggest that increased IL-1 $\beta$  in bTBI is mediated by activation of NLRP3 inflammasome.

NLRP3 inflammasome is a major mediator of IL-1 $\beta$  production via activation of caspase-1. Studies have reported the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in blunt models of TBI, whereas very few studies were performed in bTBI [264, 265]. The inflammasome complex consists of three major components: cytosolic pattern recognition receptor (NOD like receptor (NLR)), caspase1, and an adaptor protein (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD (ASC)) that assists with the interaction between the two. Our present study focused on the NLRP3 inflammasome due to its abundant expression in microglia [176, 177, 272, 273]. As illustrated in Figure 4.1, the sequential events that result in the activation of NLRP3 and production of IL-1 $\beta$  is a two-step process that requires two activating stimuli[186]. The first signal usually through TLR receptors prime the cell to transcribe and translate pro-IL-1 $\beta$  and in some cases, NLRP3 expression [187]. The second signal typically ATP, induces the formation of the inflammasome complex which cleaves the pro-IL-1 $\beta$  into its active form and subsequently released from the cell. In the present study, it is possible that blast TBI could be a primary signal causing acute mechanical injury to vasculature that could further amplify to induce secondary mechanisms (signal 2) such as oxidative stress which ultimately contribute to the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and maintenance of chronic inflammation.

Our observation of early increase in NLRP3 in neurons instead of microglia strongly suggest that neurons are more vulnerable acutely following blast injury. In fact, such early activation of NLRP3 in neurons was also observed in blunt and penetrating injury TBI models [206, 274]. The pattern of NLRP3 activation in bTBI which induces an early effect on neurons, is also plausible since our recent studies indicate higher vulnerability of neurons to acute oxidative stress as compared to microglia [132]. Therefore, secondary injury mechanisms such as oxidative stress may affect neurons more than in microglia, which may account for the delayed increase in the expression of NLRP3 in microglia ( $\geq$ 3d post-injury) in bTBI.

In the current study, we did not perform studies to assess the changes in ASC component since several reports indicate that ASC is a critical integral component of more than one inflammasome such NLRP1, NLRP3, NLRP4 and AIM2 (see review [275]) and analysis of ASC in the present study will not yield any specific involvement of NLRP3 inflammasome in bTBI.

The present study showed increased levels of activated caspase-1 in parallel with increased expression of NLRP3 indicating that bTBI induces functionally activate NLRP3 inflammasome. Active caspase-1 bands in rodents consist of four separate bands. The first band at 20 kDa is the standard cleavage product formed. Caspase-1 autocleavage occurs at the aspartic acid residue at the 296 and 314 amino acid in the human caspase-1. In rodent caspase-1 there are additional aspartic acid residues at the 300, 304, 308, and 313 amino acids. Due to increased number of possible cleavage sites in rodent caspase-1 gene compared to the human gene, there are two more isoforms that occur and 22 and 24 kDa [276]. A fourth band at  $\geq$ 200 kDa was also observed and can be explained as the "death complex" where two NLRP3 protein dimerize with 2 caspase-1 protein or the "ASC foci" where the entire inflammasome complex (NLRP, ASC, and the caspase-1) are bound together [276]. Sometime in these complex the caspase-1 p20 fragments are not cleaved from its CARD domain leaving a 35 kDa fragment active fragment [277, 278] These semi-active caspase (p35) remain bound the with the CARD domain of either NLRP or ASC protein. Although the preparation of brain homogenates for western blot analysis has multiple steps to dissociate protein complexes ( $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol and heating to 95°C), the complexes remained intact for western blot analysis. Improper preparation of samples would result in smearing of protein band found in the gel. This was not observed and therefore we believe that the 200 kDa band observed truly are these complexes. The 200 kDa band was observed in all 5 animals at 4 hours, 3 of the 5 animals at 24h, absent in the 3d and 7d animals, and present in all 5 animals and 15 and 30 day. Increased levels of activated caspase-1 in the present study is consistent with increased levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , a final product in the pathway of NLRP3 inflammasome activation.

### CHAPTER 5

# EXAMINE THE EFFECTS OF NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME INHIBITION ON COGNITIVE OUTCOME

A large motivating factor for our aim 3 was that thus far, no effective treatment strategies have been perfectly identified. Previous promising drugs tested in clinical trials were targeted at the downstream products of chronic inflammation and therefore were unsuccessful. Here in Chapter 5 we investigate the inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome following blast with low dose continuous MCC950 treatment. Here we hypothesize that inhibition of NLRP3 activation will cause the subsequent reduction in the production and release of IL-1 $\beta$ . This reduction in IL-1 $\beta$  will mitigate the anxiety like symptoms, memory decline, and motor coordination deficits.

## 5.1 Introduction

### 5.1.1 Blast TBI Pathology

Victims of severe blast injury present with clear neurological changes that include diffuse cerebral vasospasm, lowered level of consciousness or confusion, and formation of a pseudoaneurysm a pathology not seen in blunt forms of TBI [279]. Most of the neuropathological consequences of severe blast TBI are observed in other forms of TBI such as blunt or penetrating. Due to the extreme limitation of neuropathological data from blast injured humans, distinct differences between these pathologies may yet arise [62] A distinct pathology unique to bTBI is the increased risk of hearing loss and tinnitus [280].

Determining the pathologies of mild TBI is problematic due to no demonstrable abnormalities appear on standard MRI scans [50] as well as lack of pathological data due to mild bTBI rarely being fatal. These soldier returning with mild bTBI present with compromised executive function, confusion, retrograde amnesia, headache, mood disturbances, anxiety, altered sleep patterns, and difficulty concentrating [33]. Therefore, the use of animals models is required to uncover the pathology of bTBI.

Animal models of blast are characterized by vasospasm, edema, hyperemia, and diffuse axonal injury [62]. DAI is the most prominent histological change found in animals following blast, and would correspond to the diffuse tractography changes found in blast exposed military personnel [62, 281]. Blast exposed mice show pathological changes associated with DAI such as phosphorylated tauopathy, myelinated axonopathy, chronic neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. These finding align with reports of chronic traumatic encephalopathy found in returning military personnel. Functional deficits such as ones in social recognition, spatial memory, and motor control were found in the same animals [282] MRSI studies in a porcine model of mild bTBI found the same metabolic injury observed in soldiers at eight months post injury. The metabolic changes were only present in the hippocampus and not found in the Thalamus, basal ganglia, or cortical areas. This change in metabolic activity was mirrored by a significant decrease in neurons in the CA1 of the hippocampus [59]. The similarity between the human and animals models of blast TBI would indicate that the pathologies between the two species are equivalent.

### 5.1.2 IL-1 $\beta$ Pathology

Interleukin (IL) -1 is an inflammatory cytokine plays and import role in the immune response to injury and infection [283]. It was originally described to be produced by macrophages external to the CNS, but now have been found to be produced in both microglia and neurons [284, 285, 286, 287, 288]. IL-1 exist in an alpha and beta forms, which differ in amino acid composition [289], but function on the same receptors type and produce a similar biological response [290]. IL-1 $\beta$ receptors are distributed throughout the brain but have the highest density in the hippocampus [291, 292]. Various biochemical and pharmacological have demonstrated the IL-1 $\beta$  affects on monoamine and neuropeptide transmitters release, and turnover [293, 294], endocrine function and induces changes in behavior in rodents [295, 296]. The behavioral changes observed in rodents include impaired spatial memory, sleep disturbances, decreased exploratory activity, anxiety related behaviors, and sleep disturbances [297, 298, 299, 300]. These behavioral changes were observed when IL-1 $\beta$  was administered either peripherally via IP injects or centrally via intracranial injection [301, 287].

These behavioral changes observed are believed to reflect the changes in neurotransmitters and neuromodulators such as, corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF), prostaglandin (PG) E2 [302, 303], and nitric oxide [304] when IL-1 $\beta$  is introduced to the CNS [304]. Most studies investing the effects of IL-1 $\beta$  and the brain have focused on sickness behavior [301, 305, 306]. The neurotransmitter found to be affected include noradrenaline (NA), where IL-1 $\beta$  increases its turnover rate [307]. NA is known to regulate learning and memory, attention and wakefulness-sleep cycle [308], as well as dopamine, GABA, and glutamate.

In vivo production of IL-1 $\beta$  in the CNS is believed to be produced by microglia and infiltrating peripheral immune cells and its effect depends on which cell type the inflammatory cytokine acts on [309]. Both acute and chronic increase in IL-1 $\beta$  levels in vivo have be shown to result in microglia and astrocyte activation [310, 311, 312]. When IL-1 $\beta$  acts on vascular endothelial cells it induces upregulation of chemokine and adhesion molecules which increases BBB permeability [313, 314]. This increase of BBB permeability allows for peripheral neutrophils and monocytes from the circulation to cross the BBB [310, 311, 312, 315, 316, 317, 318] depending on both the response of endothelial and astrocyte [309, 315, 316]. These invading leukocytes while in the brain parenchyma exacerbate the inflammatory response by producing more cytokines, ROS, and proteases. The increase in inflammatory modulators stimulate lymphocyte recruitment and increase the level of tissue damage [319, 320]. These invading peripheral immune cell have been shown to contribute to the pathogenesis of not only TBI [319, 320] but other disorders such as AD [321, 322], MS [323], and epilepsy [324].

### 5.1.3 MCC950, a New Target for Neuroinflammation

MCC950 also known as CRID3 or CP-456,773 is a selective small molecule NLRP3 inhibitor derived from the anti diabetic drug class sulfonylurea. MCC950 has been found to bind directly to NACHT domain of NLRP3 preventing its ATPase activity required for activation [325]. It has an IC<sub>50</sub> 7.5 nM in BMDMs [326, 327, 328] and 8.1 nM in human monocytes [326]. Preclinical studies have shown that MCC950 to have good bioavailability and good CNS penetration making it ideal for treating inflammatory disordered in the CNS [325, 326]. MCC950 has been shown to be specific to only the NLRP3 inflammasome [326, 329]. It is able to block all forms of NLRP3 activation known to date including canonical and non-canonical, and alternative [229, 252, 326, 330].

MCC950 was chosen over other inhibitors for NLRP3 for several reasons. First, it is the most studies of all NLRP3 inhibitors; and therefore, the most information is available. Second, MCC950 has also been used in a variety of animals models with success indicating in its ability to act in many cell systems. Third, the exact mechanism of action is known for MCC950 with is not the case for other NLRP3 inhibitors. This ensures that this inhibitor is specific to the activation of NLRP3 and will not have an effect on other bodily responses. The fourth reason is that it is able to cross the BBB ensuring that IP injecting will have an affect on neuroinflammation. The final reason is that the dosage for MCC950 is know for rats; therefore, we would not have to investigate dosing [229]. MCC950 have be tested in a variety of neuroinflammatory diseases and has been shown to abrogate their symptoms. It has been shown to abrogate the neonatal lethality in a mouse model of cryopyrin associated periodic syndrome (CAPS) [326]. CAPS is an autoinflammatory disease caused by a gain in function mutation in NLRP3. It has also been shown to reduce microglia activation and inhibit inflammasome activation in mouse model of Alzheimers disease [331]. MCC950 has also been tested in animal model of TBI. Following CCI injury administration of MCC950 reduced the neurological deficits at 72 hours post injury [332]. CP-456,773 was tested in phase II clinical trials for rheumatoid arthritis but was not devel¬oped further as it was found to elevate serum liver enzyme levels in the clinic. The cause of this liver toxicity signal is not clear, although the combination of its metaboli¬cally reactive furan moiety and very high clinical dose of 1,200 mg per day, two well-known causes of drug-induced liver injury, might underlie the observed toxicity [333]. In vivo is has also been shown to reduce IL-1 $\beta$  levels in EAE models [326].

## 5.1.4 Common Neurohavioral Changes: Anxiety Neural Circuit

The anxiety response are due to corticolimbic circuit interpreting the environmental stimuli as a threat [334]. Disturbances to any point in the circuit causes an imbalance in its self-regulatory system. The imbalance in this system causes the misinterpretation sensory inputs as threatening which leads to the inappropriate anxiety response [334]. The neural system found to be involved with rodent are consistent with those found in humans [335, 336, 337, 338, 339, 340, 341, 342, 343]. Therefore, conclusions made while assessing a rodent model can be translated into humans. To produce the observable anxiety response four steps are required, detection, interpretation, evaluation, and response initiation.

In order to assess the level of threat a situation presents, the human or animal must first detect the environmental stimuli through the use of their sensory system [334]. Next the animal interprets the sensory inputs through the coordination of amygdala, BNST, vHPC, and PFC as potentially dangerous or a threat [334]. The major neural structure that determines if an environmental stimulus is interpreted as threatening is the amygdala. The amygdala nuclei involved in anxiety can be divided into the basolateral amygdala (BLA) and the central amygdala (CEA) [344]. Here the sensory information is given an emotional value [334]. The amygdala first receives excitatory afferents into the (BLA) from the sensory cortices through the thalamus [345]. The BLA is a cortex like structure that consists of 80% glutamatergic spiny projection neurons and 20% consist of GABAergic interneurons [346, 347, 348]. The BLA then processes the sensory information to form association between neutral predictive stimuli with either a negative or positive valence [349]. This association is accomplished via the Hebbian mechanism [350, 351, 352]. Depending on the emotional valence determined either the reward or fear pathways are recruited downstream of the BLA [353]. In the anxiety related pathway the BLA sends activating signals to the central amygdala (composed of medium spiny GABAergic neurons with projections out to brains areas important in anxiety like behaviors [354] and is divided into the lateral (Cel) and medial (Cem) nuclei [355, 356]) and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST) [340, 357]. The BLA possesses projections to the Cel, Cem [342], mPFC [341], vHPC [358, 359], and the anterodorsal BNST (adBNST) to control the overall anxiety response. The activation of most of these projections leaving the BLA are anxiolytic except for the projection to the Cel [342].

To initiate the fear and the sustained anxiety response, the BNST must be recruited [360]. The BNST is composes of 12 recognized nuclei with the oval, anterodorsal, and ventral cortices each differentially regulating separate features of the anxiety response [340, 361]. The activation of the adBNST by the BLA, induces the activation of projections of the BNST to the lateral hypothalamus, ventral tegmental area (VTA) and to the parabrachial nucleus. The activation of the lateral hypothalamus and VTA has been shown to cause anxiogenic behavior such as the ones that regulate subjective preference and risk avoidance in the EPM and OFT. The projections of the BLA to the parabrachial nucleus are responsible for the autonomic anxiety response observed [340]. The adBNST is regulated by the oBNST through local inhibition [340]. Thus the activation of the oBNST is anxiogenic by inhibiting the activation of the adBNST. BLA inputs into the vBNST promote freezing and uncontrollable stress and diminishes social interactions [362]. The ventral BNST (vBNST) send both glutamatergic and GABAergic projections to non dopaminergic cells in the VTA. Activation of the glutamatergic neurons induce the avoidance response found in anxiety [363].

The activation of these structures can be accomplished by direct innervation by the BLA or through glutamatergic inputs from the hippocampus [364, 365], and cortical areas (mPFC, entorhinal cortex and insular cortex [345, 366]). The BLA has also shown to receive monosynaptic input and output for the mPFC and the ventral hippocampus (vHPC) [358, 367, 368]. The Lateral septum (LS) plays a role in stress induced anxiety. It is believe to be activated by the vHPC and is characterized by the expression corticotropin-releasing factor receptor 2 and targets the anterior hypothalamus promoting the stress response [369]. The vHPC has projections to the mPFC, BLA [358], and LS that regulate the anxiety response. Activation of somatostatin positive Cel by the BLA [370] and the paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus [371, 372] have been implicated in fear learning and anxiety responses by inhibition of the Cel.

A second point of regulation exist after the interpretation of the stimuli to prevent unchecked activation of the anxiety response. Here the brain evaluates weather the interpretation of the environmental threat matches the internal and external conditions. To evaluate the threat, the majority of the interpretation occurs in the mPFC. The mPFC receives inputs from midline thalamic nuclei, hippocampus, and the BLA and possesses efferent projections to the striatum [373]. Disturbances in any of these brain regions will have an effect on the evaluation of the threat.

Other regions implicated to contribute the anxiety state include midbrain serotonergic raphe nucleus [374] the corticotropin-releasing factor system that originates in the paraventricular thalamic nucleus [360, 375] and the noradrenergic locus coeruleus [376]. The exact mechanism as to how these structures effect anxiety is still unknown.

In summary, each brain structure is responsible for specific aspects of anxiety such as the BNST (sustained fear or anxiety), the CEA (conditioned fear), the ventral hippocampus(contextual fear), and the LS (stress-induced anxiety).

## 5.1.5 Memory Neural Circuit

Normal memory function is controlled by a set of structured in the medial temporal lobe including the hippocampus and adjacent cortical areas entorhinal, perirhinal, and parahippocampal cortex [377]. The cortical areas are involved in object recognition for short intervals while the hippocampus is responsible for long term object recognition The sensory organs feed (visual, olfactory, and somatosensory stimuli) [378].information to the perirhinal cortex which then feeds the processed information to the hippocampus [379]. The hippocampus does not discriminate the features of the incoming inputs, but compares them to previously stored information determining in the sensory inputs are novel or not [379]. To summarize the hippocampus and perirhinal function differently in object recognition. The perirhinal cortex forms basic information about if the object is novel or familiar. The hippocampus is involved in storing the information about the experience with the object. Without this long term consolidation of information done in the hippocampus, the animal would only be able to retain object memory for very short intervals [380]. Since majority of veterans who experienced one or more blast episodes display neurocognitive and neurobehavioral deficits, we undertook studies investigating neurobehavioral outcomes in animals exposed to mild blast injury and examined the efficacy of MCC950 to improve neurocognitive outcomes.

#### 5.2 Materials and Methods

## 5.2.1 Animal Preparation

Adult 10-week-old male Sprague-Dawley (Charles River Laboratories) rats weighing 300-350 g were used in this study. The animals were housed with free access to food and water in a 12h dark-light cycle at 22 °C with 40% humidity. All procedures followed the guidelines established in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by Rutgers University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Rats were divided into two groups (sham controls and animals exposed to a mild blast of 180 kPa). A total number of 60 rats were used in this study as follows. Behavior two groups of 30 animals each group consisting of ten control animals ten blast animals and ten blast + MCC950 treated animals.

## 5.2.2 Primary Blast Wave Exposure of Animals

Using the 9-inch by 9-inch cross section compressed gas driven shock tube at the Center of Injury Biomechanics, Materials, and Medicine (CIBM3) (New Jersey institute of technology, Newark) we determined the effects single mild 180 kPa blast exposure on 10-week old male Sprague Dawley rats [13, 63, 150, 198, 199, 200]. The primary shockwave generated in this shock tube was validated against the pressure-time profiles measured experimentally in the live-fire explosion experiments [201] and against theoretical pressure-time profiles associated with the detonation of C4 explosive [199, 202].

Before exposing to blast, rats were anesthetized with isofluorane. Sham controls were placed next to the shocktube and only exposed to noise without shockwave exposure. Animals for blast exposure were mounted inside the test section located 2.80 meters from the breach and 3.05 meters from the exit with their head oriented to the direction of the shockwave (Figure 3.1). The rats were strapped securely to the bed with cotton cloth restraints to eliminate head motion. This is done to minimize the contributions of secondary blast injury to total head injury. The animals were exposed to single blast at 180 kPa in a prone position.

Immediately after blast exposure, animals were monitored for any signs of apnea and their neurological status was assessed using modified neurological severity score as reported earlier [199].

## 5.2.3 MCC950 Treatment

MCC950 was obtained from MedchemExpress LLC (Monmouth Jn, NJ). Just prior to injection, required doses (5 mg/kg) of MCC950 will be dissolved in sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS). For multiple injections of MCC950, first dose will be given 30 min post-blast and subsequent doses will be given once in every 48h until the day of termination of the experiments.

## 5.2.4 Behavioral Test Timeline

Animal timeline can be seen in Figure 4.2



Figure 5.1 Timeline for behavioral tasks in both animal groups.

#### 5.2.5 Rotary Pole Test

**Overview** In this task, the ability of rats to traverse an elevated wooden pole (elevation 914.4 mm, diameter = 40 mm, length 1500 mm) when the pole is rotating 4.5 RPM in a clockwise direction will be tested as a measure of its vestibular and motor functions.

The WRAIR study was based on the paper by Mattiasson et al. [381]. The testing consists of two pre experiment training days in which the rats learn to traverse the clockwise rotating pole at 4.5 RPM (revolutions per minute). Animals are then tested on the day of blast to form a baseline score. The animals are then tested on day 1, 3, 7, 10, and 14 following blast. The post experiment test consists of the learned behavior (traversing the pole rotating counterclockwise at 4.5 RPM).

**Apparatus** The rotary pole apparatus consists of four parts (motor unit, wooden pole, black rat enclosure, and two tripod stands) The motor unit was placed on one of the tripod stands and tighten the knob so the motor is held securely. The black rat enclosure consisting of a rat caged covered in black vinyl (to prevent light entering the cage) and a sliding door was affixed to a wooden platform on the second tripod stand. The pole is placed onto the square drive shaft on the motor and the other end mounted at the end of small round wire attached to the wooden platform. Testing apparatus appears in Figure 5.2.

**Training** To begin training, the pole was turned on to 4.5 RPM in the clockwise direction. The rat was placed on the pole near the black rat enclosure and gently pushed into the box. The door on the box was closed and the animals was allowed to remain for 30 seconds undisturbed. Next, the animal was placed about a foot away from the box and was encouraged to enter the box by prodding and clapping behind the animal. Again, the door was closed, and the animal was left alone for 30 seconds. The animal was then placed half way on the pole and the lab user clapped behind



Figure 5.2 Picture of Rotary pole apparatus.

the animal to encourage it to enter the black box. The training was continued in this manner until the rat can traverse the entire length of the pole every time. The objective of the training is for the rats are to be able to make three consecutive timed runs down the entire length of the pole.

**Baseline** On the day of blast exposure, a baseline test was done which consists of three test runs as a reference to all test runs performed blast post experiment. The baseline test is conducted with the same setup as the two previous training day with the pole set horizontally three feet above the ground and set to rotate clockwise at 4.5RPM. Three consecutive times runs must be completed to get a good baseline score. Between each timed run the door of the box is closed and the animal is left undisturbed for 30 seconds. If the animal falls or reverses during any of the trial the animal will restart from the beginning until three consecutive timed runs are completed. No clapping or prodding is allowed during the baseline and during the post blast tests.

**Testing phase** The rotary pole was set the same during testing like it was during training and baseline. Three feet in height and set to rotate clockwise at 4.5 RPM. A total of three runs are recorded on each of the 5 testing days. The animals were test on day 1, 3, 7, 10, and 14 post blast exposure.

**Timing** All test were run using a stopwatch or a three button timer. The timer is started when the rat is released by the experimenter. The rats are timed for reaching the edge of the pole (stop timer one), entering the box (stop timer two), and a 30 second "rest period" accomplished by stopping timer three, 30 seconds after timer two is stopped. Animals are given a total of 120 seconds (2 minutes) to traverse the pole and enter the box.

**Scoring** While traversing the pole the animal may reverse or fall. The time the animal reverses is recorded, and the animal is allowed to complete the trail until the 2 minutes are completed. If the animal falls while attempted to traverse the pole the location of the fall (beginning, middle, and end third of the pole) will be recorded and used for scoring. A minimum score of 0 will be achieved if the two scored runs the animal falls in the first third of the pole. A score of 0.25 is achieve if both scored runs the animal reversed at any time point. A maximum score of 3.0 can be achieved if two out of the trial are completed in a time approximate the same as the baseline score. The exact scoring algorithm used can be seen here [382].

**Statistics** To determine whether animals following blast would have motor deficit a mixed design ANOVA was used. To test assumptions for Within-subjects a shipirowilks test was run to determine normality of the data distribution. Sphericity was tested using Mauchly's test and when appropriate Huynh-Feldt correction was used. An independent samples Kruskal-wallis test was to determine significance at all time points.

#### 5.2.6 Short-Term Memory Assessment: Novel Object Recognition

**Overview** To test human amnesia in an animal model, the ability to recognize a previously presented stimuli is the basis for the behavioral tests [377]. For rodents the memory tests include, novel object recognition (NOR) test, delayed nonmatching to sample (DNMS), and the open field test (OFT). These test assess how the animal responds to both a novel and familiar objects [383]. The DNMS test reward the animal upon recognition of the novel object, where the NOR test has no reward and therefor able to assess the animals index of stimulus recognition [377]. Depending on the configuration of the test NOR can be set to measure working memory, attention, anxiety, and preference for novelty [384, 385]. The NOR test has also been used to determine the effectiveness of different pharmacological treatments for TBI [384]

The NOR test is particularly attractive because unlike other behavioral tests that assess memory NOR does not require any external motivation, has relatively little training time, and can be completed in a short period of time [385]. It also has the ability to study short, intermediate, and long term memory by modifying the time between the familiarization and testing phase [386]. This test evaluates object recognition memory in rodent but has shown to be good at making cross species generalization [378, 387].

**Apparatus** The open field chamber consists of an empty open particle board box with dimensions of  $(60 \ge 60 \ge 60 \le)$ . The box was covered by black waterproof vinyl to prevent urine and other liquids from absorbing into the porous particle board (Figure 5.3)

**Procedure** This was used to assess short term memory loss specifically object recognition. The task consists of three phases habituation, familiarization, and the test phase. The animals were test 2d, 15d, and 28d following blast exposure. The



Figure 5.3 Picture of open field chamber including the novel and familiar object.

habituation phase occurs one day prior to the familiarization and testing phases. The animals were brought into the testing room 20 minutes prior to testing. In the habituation the animals were allowed to explore the open field chamber in the absence of any objects for 10 minutes. During this phase, the number and time of grooming and rearing episodes were recorded manually during the testing procedure. This habituation phase was used for the open field test data recorded on day 1, 14, and 27. The familiarization and testing phase both occurred on the same day, one day after the habituation phase. During the familiarization phase, a single animal is place in the open field chamber for 10 minutes with two identical new objects place equidistant from opposite corners of the chamber. To prevent coercion to explore the objects, rats were placed in the center of the chamber facing a corner where no objects were located. The number and time of each interaction was recorded manually later using video recordings. Following the familiarization phase the rats were kept in their housing cage for one hour. After the 1 hour retention interval, during the testing phase, the animals are returned to the open field chamber for 5 minutes with two objects. One is identical to the objects used in the familiarization phase, the other

is a new object never seen by the rat. After each trial the open field chamber was cleaned using Clorox antimicrobial wipes and allowed to dry completely.

**Scoring** For most studies, exploration was defined as the orientation of animal's snout toward the object, sniffing or touching with snout, while running around the object, sitting or climbing on it was not recorded as exploration [378, 379, 388, 389, 390, 391, 392].

## **Discrimination index**

$$DI = \frac{T_N - T_F}{T_N + T_F}$$

 $T_{\rm N} = {\rm time} ~{\rm spent} ~{\rm exploring}$  novel object

 $T_{\rm F}$  = time spent exploring familiar object

Scores can range between +1 and -1 where a positive score indicated more time spent with the novel object, a negative score indicated more time spent with the familiar object, and a zero score indicates no preference for either object.

### 5.2.7 Anxiety assessment: Open Field Test

**Overview** The habituation phase of the novel object recognition test was evaluated as an open field test to assess the animals anxiety levels following blast.

Anxiety can be defined as an emotional state associated with the perception of potential or ambiguous threats. It is considered a defensive reaction like fear. In human, anxiety is characterized by the feeling of tension, uneasiness, uncertainty, or worries that stem from the anticipation of a negative outcome or a potential threat [393, 394, 395, 396]. Anxiety consists of heightened state of arousal associated with a negative valence [397]. This manifests itself with a heightened vigilance of the environment when no immediate threat is present. Fear while similar to anxiety, differs in that it is transient emotional state that dissipates when the perceived threat is removed [360]. Anxiety can also manifest itself physiologically with increased heart rate, increased blood pressure, dizziness, and sweating [334].

Anxiety is a normal aspect of the emotional repertoire. It enabled rapid responses to threats due to heightened awareness. Anxiety only becomes pathological when it becomes persistent, disruptive, or disproportionate to the actual danger [334]. The DSM V categorizes pathological anxiety into three categories bases on the precipitating stimuli. Obsessive compulsive and related disorders, trauma and stressors related disorders, anxiety disorders [48]. All three categories the somatic, behavioral, and cognitive effects of anxiety cause substantial economic burden [398, 399, 400]

The anxiety response consists of three steps. First, the animal detects the stimuli using its sensory system. Second, the anxiety neural circuit interprets the meaning of those stimuli to determine the levels of danger. Third, the animals evaluate if the actions taken in response to the stimulus is appropriate or must be changed. Anxiety disorders arise when the highly interconnected circuit that processes the stream of stimuli from the outside world gets disrupted [334].

Anxiety behavioral tests fall into four categories (1) approach avoidance conflict which include elevated plus maze (EPM), zero maze (ZM), open field test (OFT), light dark box, and staircase test. (2) Active avoidance tasks which includes shock probe burying and marble burying. (3) Hyponeophagia which includes novelty suppressed feeding. (4) social test which include ultra-sonic vocalizations and social interactions [401]. Most anxiety assay for rodents are ethologically based. The animals avoidance response or natural aversion is what is used to assess levels of anxiety [402]. The behavioral test are based on the assumption that there is a natural conflict within the rodent which have a drive to both explore or avoid a perceived threatening stimulus [403, 404, 405, 406, 407]. **Apparatus** The open field chamber consists of an empty open particle board box with dimensions of (60 x 60 x 60 cm). The box was covered by black waterproof vinyl to prevent urine and other liquids from absorbing into the porous particle board. During familiarization and testing phases objects were place is opposite corner (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4 Picture of open field chamber used.

**Procedure** Animals were moved into the testing room 30 minutes prior to testing and allowed to acclimate. Each open field test run lasted 10 minutes where the animal was placed in the center of the open field chamber facing a wall and was left undisturbed. At the end of testing the animal was removed from the chamber and returned back to its housing cage. The number of fecal boli and urine puddles were counted after animals removal. Our lab uses Any-Maze video tracking system attached to an overhead 720p camera to record each trial for later analysis After each trial the open field chamber was cleaned using Clorox antimicrobial wipes and allowed to dry completely. All tests were run during the animals light phase, between the hours of 9 AM and 7 PM. Monitoring and Analysis of Behavior Using the anymaze software the open field chamber is split into three regions the four corners, walls, and the center region. The system automatically calculated the number of entries and time spent in each of the regions. The number and time of rearing and grooming episodes was assessed at a later date manually using the video recording.

## 5.2.8 Elevated Plus Maze

**Overview** EPM is an effective method to assess anxiety, preferred by many investigators since it relies solely on a natural behavior of the rat. It does not involve artificial cues (acoustic or temperature change), stressors (predator odor and foot shock), or any form of motivated or conditioned response (levers and food rewards). It evaluates the rat's behavior via timing the preference to stay in the dark areas (increased anxiety) versus exploration of the novel regions (normal behavior).

**Apparatus** The elevated plus maze is a plus-shaped apparatus with four arms: two open and two closed arms [408]. Our maze is made with matte black acrylic surface and consists of four arms (two enclosed by 30 cm tall walls and two open arms with no walls). Each arm is 50 cm in length, a 10x10 cm center section separated the the opening to each of the arms, and the entire apparatus elevated 60 cm above the ground. The elevated plus maze was situated in the center of a brightly lit room that had roughly equal illumination in both the open and closed arms (Figure 5.5). Our lab uses Any-Maze video tracking system attached to an overhead 720p camera to automatically detects and record entries and time spent in the open and closed arms and the center region. All test video were saved locally to the computer to allow for future review.

**Protocol** On a test day, rats will be transferred to a behavioral room and acclimated for 30 min. Rats will then be placed in the center zone of the EPM facing towards



Figure 5.5 Picture of the elevated plus maze apparatus used.

open arm and recordings will be initiated using ANYMAZE software. The rat will be allowed to explore for 5 min, which will be recorded using the video camera controlled by ANYMAZE.

## 5.2.9 Data analysis

Statistical analysis for all parameters of the OFT, EPM and NOR was expressed as the mean +/- SEM. Statistical analysis of the data was performed using SPSS version 25. Comparison between sham, blast, and blast + MCC950 treated animal at each time point was performed by one way ANOVA. If significance was found, a tukey HSD post hoc test was conducted.

#### 5.3 Results

5.3.1 Blast Induces Acute Motor Deficit Mitigated by NLRP3 Inhibition The rotary pole test was used to assess motor control, coordination, and integration of motor movement. Following blast injury, blast exposed animals began a decline in motor function compared to the control animals on day one with a decrease of 15.927% but failed to meet statistical significance (p=0.165) (Figure 5.6). The decline in motor function continued until its peaked at 7d with a decrease in rotary pole (RP) score of 37.04%. At 10 and 14 days post blast, animals began to recover towards control level but an approximate 15% decrease in RP score was still observed, although this difference failed to meet significance p=0.08. The blast exposed animals treated with MCC950 did not show motor decline at any of the time points. These MCC950 treated animals had a statistically significant increase in RP score compared to non treated blast exposed animals at both 10d and 14d (Figure 5.6).

## 5.3.2 Blast Induces Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Anxiety Like Symptoms Mitigated by NLRP3 Inhibition

We next investigated the levels of anxiety like behavior found in rat at 1d, 14d, and 28d following blast. We assessed these behaviors with two separate behavioral tests, (elevated plus maze (1d, and 14d) and the open field test (1d, 14d, and 28d)). Both of theses test are based the rats natural tendency to explore new environments which would be reduced by anxiety like symptoms. In the open field test, a statistically significant increase in corner time was observed in blast exposed animals compared to the control animals at all there time points increasing 36.62%, 52.21%, and 50.0%, respectively. Blast + MCC950 treated animals corner time values fell between the control and blast exposed animals and showed an increase of 17.69%, 39.39%, and 16.26% compared to the control but did not differ significantly at any time point. The Blast + MCC950 animals had a significant decrease compared to the blast animals



Figure 5.6 Rotary pole results in control blast and blast + MCC950 treated animals over the course of 14 days following blast exposure. \*, p<0.05 vs control vs Blast + MCC950 (n=10 in each experimental group) df within subject = 10 or 5.406 with Huynh-Feldt correction, df between subjects = 2.

(13.85%) only at the 1 day time point. A significant decrease in center time was observed in blast animals compared to control animals with a decrease of 54.34%, 48.08%, and 51.34%. Although Blast + MCC950 treated animal had a decrease in center time compared to control (35.15%, 20.85%, and 39.35%) it failed to meet significance at any of the time points. At all the time points, blast exposed animals had a significant increase in total distance traveled compared to both control and blast + MCC950 treated animals. This results indicated the motor deficit did not contribute to the differences observed in the other parameter of the open field test. Although no significance was observed a strong trend for a decrease in grooming time

which was mitigated by MCC950 treatment following blast was observed at both 24h and 14d post blast. At 28 days, no changes in grooming time was observed between the three groups. The final parameter asses was rearing time a sign of exploratory behavior. Blast exposed animals showed a decrease in rearing time compared to the control at all three time points (25.32%, 39.68%, 32.01%) but only reach significance at 14 days post injury. Blast + MCC950 treated animals has increased rearing time compared to the blast exposed animals (26.37%, 20.33%, and 34.32%) but failed to meet significance at all three time points. The increase in corner time, and decrease in center time, grooming time, and rearing time observed in blast exposed animals indicate the blast exposure induced acute, subchronic, and chronic anxiety like symptoms following blast exposure. This increase in anxiety like symptoms was partially mitigated by MCC950 treatment.

To confirm the results found in the open field test the elevated plus maze was used. At the acute time point (1d), a general trend for an increase in closed arm time (4.35%) and decrease in open arm time (66.19%) in blast animals was observed but failed to meet significance indicating an increase in anxiety like symptoms. The Blast + MCC950 treated animals did not differ from control in closed arm time and their open arm time value fell between the control and blast exposed animals indicating a partial mitigation of anxiety like symptoms. At the subchronic time point (14d), blast exposed animals a significant increase in closed arm time (20.19%) and significant decrease in open arm time (53.68%) compared to control animals. Blast + MCC950 treated animals has a statistically significant increase of 89.2% in open arm time compared to the blast exposed animals. The blast + MCC950 treated animals closed arm time value fell between the control and the blast animal but did not differ significantly from either (Figure 5.8).

The open field test and elevated plus maze results taken together indicated the blast exposure causes an increase in anxiety like symptoms at acute, subchronic,



Figure 5.7 Outcomes of the open field test in control, blast, and blast + MCC950 treated animals at 1d, 14d, and 27d following blast exposure. \*, p<0.05 vs control vs Blast + MCC950 (n = 9 or 10 in each experimental group) df between groups = 2 df within group = 26.

and chronic time points. This increase is partially mitigated by low dose MCC950 treatment.



Figure 5.8 Results for the elevated plus maze in control blast and blast + MCC950 treated animals at 1d and 14d following blast exposure. \*, p<0.05 vs control vs Blast + MCC950 (n = 9 or 10 in each experimental group) df between groups = 2 df within group = 26.

## 5.3.3 Blast Induces Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Memory Deficits Mitigated by NLRP3 Inhibition

The final behavior task we used was the novel object recognition task. This tasks uses the preference of the rat for a novel object over a familiar objects to determine the effect of blast on short term and recognition memory. At all time points following blast, the control animals had a preference index of of 0.3 indicating the animal's preference to explore the novel object. The blast animals differed significantly from the control animals all time points with a negative preference index ranging form -0.1 to -0.03. This finding suggests that blast induces a persistent deficit in short term memory. Blast + MCC950 treated animals had almost identical discrimination indexes to the control animals at all time points. These finding taken together indicate that the deficit in short term memory induced by blast are mitigated by inhibition of NLRP3 by MCC950.

#### 5.4 Discussion

Following blast the most common symptoms found in soldiers include retrograde amnesia, compromised executive function, headache, confusion, amnesia, difficulty



Figure 5.9 The effect of blast on short term memory assessed by the novel object recognition test. The preference for novel objects was significantly reduced at all three time points in blast animals but was not seen in the blast + MCC950 treated animals \*, p<0.05 vs control vs Blast + MCC950 (n = 9 or 10 in each experimental group) df between groups = 2 df within group = 26.

concentrating, mood disturbance, alterations in sleep patterns, and anxiety [33]. These psychological changes observed in humans are also found to occur following blast in animal models memory [409]. Due to the lack of data for the pathological evidence for mild bTBI the major point of comparison between human and animal models is the cognitive decline observed. Other blast animal models have validated their model to cause behavioral deficits following mild bTBI, but due to the high variability between different blast models we could not assume that our model would produce similar results. Here we show our blast model was able to replicate

these behavioral deficits observed in humans and other animal models thus further validating our blast model accurately represents the pathology of bTBI in humans.

Both the EPM and the OFT were used to assess anxiety like symptoms following blast. The findings can be grouped into changes in exploratory behavior (number of entries and time spent in the center, rearing number, and rearing time), motor function (distance traveled), and grooming behavior. Following blast, it is expected that animals will show an decrease in exploratory behavior possibly a deficit in motor function, as well as a decrease in grooming behavior.

The behavioral test are based on the assumption that there is a natural conflict within the rodent which have a drive to both explore or avoid a perceived threatening stimulus [403, 404, 405, 406, 407]. In a state of anxiety the drive to avoid the perceived threatening stimulus will dominate. This manifests itself in the OFT as a decrease in time spent in the center area (perceived threatening stimulus) and an increase in time spent in the corners and near the edges which amounts to a decrease in exploratory behavior. The decrease in exploratory behavior can also be evaluated investigating the rearing response which can be considered a marker of environmental novelty [410, 411], an exploratory behavior [412, 413], a means of scanning the environment [414, 415], or an orienting response [416]. Following exposure to a stressor a reduction in rearing number of duration occurs indicating an heightened anxiety response [417, 418, 419, 420]. In the EPM the decrease in exploratory behavior manifests itself into decreased time in the open arms (threatening stimulus) and increased time in the open arm. As hypothesized, blast exposed animals showed increase in anxiety like symptoms at all time points. At the 24h time point in the EPM, the blast animals were statistically different from the control animals but at 24h blast exposed animals were significantly different from the control in the OFT. This slight contradiction may be due to the fact that all the animals control and blast exposed animals spent more than 95% of their time in the closed arms of the EPM. Thus, it was not able to reach significance with a heightened anxiety response shown in the controls. By 15d, the control animals only spent approximately one third of their time in the closed arm and at this time point both the time in open arm and time in closed arm were statistically significantly different.

Body grooming is considered to be a body care behavior [421, 422], a form a scent dissemination for olfactory communication, and sexual attraction [423, 424]. It is believed to occupy up to 40% of the waking hours of the animal in adult rats [422, 425]. Following exposure to a stressor grooming behavior is seen to either decrease or unaffected [426, 427, 428, 429]. Decreases in grooming behavior is believed to be a sign of anxiety and is associated with inflammation, pain, and CRF excretion [430, 431, 432]. Both rearing and grooming have been shown to occur mostly in the enclosed arms of the EPM [419, 433, 434, 435, 436, 437] or in the corners or against the wall of the OFT [412, 434, 438, 439]. Although the time spent grooming was decreased in the blast exposed animal at all time points it failed to reach significance. This may be due to the low injury severity or like in other studies grooming was not affected by exposure to a stressors.

The motor activity was assessed in the OFT to ensure that the times spent in the center and edges of the apparatus were due to animals preference and not due to inability to explore the environment. At all three time points, the blast exposed animals actually travels approximately 30% further distance indicating that their motor activity was not impaired and that the differences in time spent in the center and edges of the OFT apparatus were due anxiety like symptoms.

Motor coordination was assessed via rotary pole test following blast. The blast exposed animals showed a gradual decrease in motor coordination until 7 days with a recovery until day 14. The blast animals did not return to control level by 14 days but did not differ significantly. These results mirror rotary pole results from Arun et al who found a deficit in rotary pole scores at 6 days following 130 kPa blast and recovered later [382]. Taking the motor activity results and motor coordination results indicate that the animals motor function was not affected while the animal's coordination was. This would indicate possible injury to the cerebellum or other coordinating structures and minor to no injuries to the motor cortex.

Following blast, soldiers memories can be affected. To assess this in our rodent model of blast we conducted the NOR test to assess long term memory. NOR test results from rodents have allowed for accurate cross species generalizations about object recognition memory [378, 387]. The natural tendency for a rodent in an uninjured state is to approach and spend more time exploring novel objects than familiar ones [440]. This assumption is predicated on the novel object already existing in the animals memory [440]. NOR results have been shown to be influenced by both cortical and hippocampal lesions [392, 441]. Specifically the perirhinal cortex which has been shown to play a role in object recognition memory in both rodents and primates [388]. We have shown in aim 2 that there is an increase in IL-1 $\beta$  in the hippocampus following blast. Therefore, as we hypothesized there was a significant loss of object recognition memory in blast exposed animals at acute, subchronic, and chronic time points. The blast exposed animals were unable to differentiate between the novel and familiar object (discrimination index at or below 0) indicating that they were unable to consolidate the memory of the familiar object during the familiarization stage.

IL-1 $\beta$  is shown to elicit diverse behavioral changes similar to those observed following blast These behavioral changes are thought be induced by the changes in neurotransmitters (decrease noradrenaline in the hippocampus and amygdaloid cortex [283, 307], elevated serotonin levels [442], increases dopamine concentration in midbrain and amygdala[283], neuromodulators such as nitric oxide [304], corticotrophin releasing factor (CRF), and prostaglandin (PG) E2 [302, 303]. Also IL-1 $\beta$ induces an increase in serotonin metabolite 5-HIAA in the hippocampus, amygdala and midbrain [283, 442]. These changes induced by IL-1 $\beta$  classified as sickness behavior [443, 444] are believe to be cause by the stress response induced by the action of IL-1 $\beta$  on serotonergic, catecholaminergic and Cef neurons [445, 446].

In anxiety related behavioral tests, IL-1 $\beta$  administration specifically has been shown to increase motor activity in the OFT [283], increase anxiogenic symptoms in both OFT (number of entries and time spent in the center, rearing number and rearing time) and EPM(decrease time in open arm and increase in time in the closed arm) [283]. The blast animals treated with MCC950 in the OFT test showed an intermediate value between the control and blast exposed animals in all measure. The dosage of MCC950 used in this study was able to significantly reduce corner time between blast and blast + MCC950 treated animals at 24 hours but reduces the corner time by 8.42% and 22.89% at 14d and 27d respectively. MCC950 has the greatest affect on the total distance traveled where MCC950 treated animals at 24h and 27d. At no time point did the values form center time, grooming time, and rearing time did the MCC950 treated animals differ significantly from the blast animals. At all time points their values fell between those of the control and blast animals and did not differ significantly from the control for every variable at every time point.

In the EPM, both peripheral and central administration of IL-1 $\beta$  have been shown to reduce the number of entries and time spent in the open arm of the EPM [297, 299, 307]. At 24 hours following blast none of three groups differed from each other significantly in both time in open and closed arm time. There was a trend for blast animals to have a decrease in open arm time and an increase in closes arm time. Although blast animals had a 66.19% decrease in open arm time it failed to reach significance. The MCC treated animals had a 68.67% increase in open arm time compared to blast exposed animals but failed to reach significance. At 14 days post injury, the anxiogenic symptoms were more pronounce where the blast animals had a significant increase in closed arm time and a significant decrease in open arm time. The blast + MCC950 animals had significant increase of 89.19% compared to the blast with only 12% decrease compared to the control. Both of my OFT and EPM results align with the behavioral changes observed following IL-1 $\beta$  indicating the IL-1 $\beta$  produce following blast my the NLRP3 inflammasome play a critical role in the anxiogenic symptoms observed.

In line with MCC950 significant effect on motor function on the OFT, MCC950 had also a significant effect on motor coordination. Unlike the blast animals who showed a steady decline in motor coordination until day 7 with a slight recovery by day 14. Blast + MCC950 treated animals did not differ significantly from the control animals at any time point. In fact, they showed no decline in motor coordination at any time point. The blast + MCC950 animals also had significant improvement from the blast animals at both 7 days and 10 days where the control animal only differed from the blast at 7 days.

Peripheral administration via IP injection of IL-1 $\beta$  induce an impairment [306, 447, 448] and increase of anhedonia [449]. With central administration of IL-1 $\beta$  via ICV injection, rodents showed memory impairment [283], and enhance condition fear memory [299]. IL-1 $\beta$  is believe to cause these memory impairments by disrupting long term potentiation in the hippocampus which is the basis for memory formation [450, 451]. The reduction in long term potentiation is believe to be cause by the reduction of noradrenaline in the hippocampus [452]. Unlike the other behavioral tests, we performed to assess anxiety inhibition of NLRP3 via low dose MCC950 was able to completely prevent the memory decline associated with mild bTBI. The blast + MCC950 treated animals displayed almost identical results to the control animals showing no memory impairments.

In conclusion, continuous low dose MCC950 treatment following exposure to mild blast can prevent the memory and motor coordination deficit observed following blast. This low dose MCC950 was able to mitigate the anxiogenic symptoms following blast but was unable to completely prevent some decline. Due to the lack of biological data following blast, we are am unable to make any definitive conclusions as to the exact mechanism to which these cognitive declines were abrogated.

### CHAPTER 6

## CONCLUSION

#### 6.1 Summary and Conclusion

In Chapter 3, we investigated the activation profile for microglia following blast. We found that immediately following blast the microglia near the vasculature activated at a higher rate indicating the opening of the BBB is the primary activator of microglia while elevated inflammatory cytokine are responsible for the activation of microglia at the chronic time points. In Chapter 4, we found that early activation of NLRP3 was found in meurons while chronic activation of NLRP3 was found in microglia. This allowed us to conclude that the microenvironment due to injury differs from the acute and chronic time points. In Chapter 5, we examined the effect of inhibition of NLRP3 on cognitive decline. Here we found the inhibition of NLRP3 inflammasome by MCC950 mitigated cognitive deficits associated with bTBI. Below we summarize the mechanism we propose is responsible for the cognitive decline observed (Figure 6.1).

The injury following blast exposure initiated with the primary injury caused by exposure to energy transfer due to the shockwave. This primary injury can be composed of some or all of BBB disruption, localized hypoxia-ischemia, subdural hemorrhage, axonal injury, microvascular injury, and vasospasm. At the cellular level this vascular disruption could result in spillage of blood borne macromolecules and subsequent release of DAMPS including free radicals, activated proteolytic enzymes (matrix metalloproteinases, (MMPs)) to name a few. These DAMPs could be responsible for the breakdown of neuronal membranes which trigger an inflammatory response via the release of excitotoxic amino acids (glutamate), an increase in intracellular calcium, and possibly causing neuronal death [453].
The priming of microglia cells and other cell types that express NLRP3 inflammasome in the acute phases of the bTBI may differ from the priming signal in the subchronic and chronic stages of the progression of bTBI. This conclusion stems from our lab's earlier finding that the BBB open immediately following blast and remains open for at 24h [63], and our observation that microglia cells activate in the vicinity of the vasculature at a higher rate in the acute time points. These two findings lead to the conclusion that these cells are responding to blood components normally absent in the brain parenchyma or through DAMPs induced by the opening of the BBB through the activation of TLR4 or other receptor such as the thrombin receptor [137, 454].

During the chronic time points, the activated microglia appear to be more evenly distributed across the ROI. This would indicate a more diffuse priming signal is responsible. This signal is likely due to the statistical increase of inflammatory cytokines such as the one we observed in IL-1 $\beta$  or other cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , GM-CSF, and NOD [187, 230] following blast in the subchronic and chronic time points. However, our observation of increased IL-1 $\beta$  that is commensurate with the time course of microglia activation suggest more towards the possibility that IL-1 $\beta$  is primary end product of chronic neuroinflammation in bTBI.

Similar to the priming signal, the activation signal for the NLRP3 inflammasome likely changes with the progression of the pathology. Of the five proposed mechanisms for the activation of NLRP3, we believe that only the lysosomal disruption model doesn't play any role, as its standard activators  $\beta$ -Amyloids [176] and amylin [247, 248], silica [185] or asbestos crystals [192], uric acid [184] and cholesterol crystals [249] are absent from the cellular microenvironment at any time point following blast. However, the other four models (pore formation and ion distribution, metabolic dysfunction, mitochondrial dysfunction, and non-canonical) we believe play an essential role. Their overall contribution in unknown, but all are likely to contribute in a meaningful way.

One speculation is that the pore formation and ion distribution model is likely mediated through the release of ATP. In the acute phased of injury high levels of extra cellular ATP found in the vicinity of damages or dying cells induce NLRP3 activation via the P2X purinoceptor 7 (P2X7) channel. Upon ATP binding, the ion channel opens allowing for potassium efflux from the cell and balance by calcium influx into the cell [243]. This model also likely contributes to the chronic time point as well as cell death has been found to occur in the chronic time points [203]. The mitochondrial dysfunction models likely occurs in both the acute and chronic phase as both early damage and later neuronal dysfunction caused by changes in neurotransmitter level and cytotoxic level of inflammatory cytokines. The metabolic dysfunction model is the only model that has some precedent in human models of mild bTBI. Due to the lack of pathological samples and the lack of imaging data abnormalities, the changes in metabolic function in the ventral hippocampus observed in returning veterans is the only biological parameter that can be shown to be a known activator of NLRP3 in humans [51, 52]. The non-canonical pathway is believed to be active as well, as its activation is in response to oxidized phospholipids derived from PAPC which are endogenous DAMPs found in dying cells which are a signal cellular stress and cellular demise [259]. The requirement for cell death is not required for this model as macrophages and dendritic cells have been shown to produce IL-1 $\beta$  by this model in the absence of cell death [260, 261]. This proposed mechanism of priming and activation can be seen in Figure 4.1.

Following activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and subsequent production of IL-1 $\beta$ , this cytokine could be released and act on other brain cells including neurons in an paracrine manner and alter cellular homeostasis which causes neuronal dysfunction or death. Supporting this tenet, neurons found in the hippocampus



Figure 6.1 Schematic of proposed mechanism from exposure to primary shockwave to cognitive decline.

and amygdala have IL1R and are able to be directly affected by the presence of its ligand. Brain microvascular endothelial cells upon detection of IL-1 $\beta$  could also increase the production of ICAM, VCAM, and selectins which subsequently increase vascular permeability. The detection of IL-1 $\beta$  by microglia and astrocytes can induce further production and release of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines as well as the release of reactive oxygen species. These inflammatory molecules may then recruit peripheral immune cells that are able to further contribute to the aberrant neuroinflammatory environment. These inflammatory molecules specifically IL-1 $\beta$  then through various mechanism induce in the increase in glutamate, decrease in GABA, increase in dopamine and decrease in noradrenaline. These changes in neurotransmitter in conjunction with cell death and synaptic pruning by microglia are responsible for the cognitive abnormality observed.

The anxiogenic symptom can be cause by a disturbance to any point in the anxiety neural circuit described above. The ventral hippocampus has been implicated in anxiety [455, 456, 457, 458, 459]. Following blast, the release of IL-1 $\beta$  primary from microglia have been shown to induce the release of glutamate into the extracellular environment from membrane depolarization of neurons as well as change in glutamate metabolism by astrocytes. Glutamatergic activation of BLA fibers onto pyramidal neuron of the CA1 of the vHPC have been shown to control the anxiety like behavior in EPM and OFT [358]. Increased activity in this pathway due to glutamate releases enhances the anxiety like response while inhibition reduces the anxiety like response [336, 358]. The release of CRF triggered by IL-1 $\beta$  is proposed as a second potential mechanism for the anxiogenic response observed. However, neutralizing CRF via CRF antagonist alpha-helical CRF, was only able to block anorexic and neuroendocrine effects while not affecting the anxiogenic effects [290]. These changes observed in the hippocampus may play a role in the anxiogenic symptoms that develop following blast but these same biochemical changes occur in other brain regions of anxiety circuit such as the amygdala, mPFC, thalamus, and sensory system. The contribution of these structures to the anxiety like symptoms cannot be determined without further investigation.

The changes in memory observed following blast may be due to the release of noradrenaline (NA) triggered by IL-1 $\beta$ . Central and peripheral administration of IL-1 $\beta$  increases the activity of the sympathetic nervous system and increase NA efflux from the spleen [460]. Changes in NA concentration has an effect on attention, wakefulness-sleep cycles, learning, and memory [308]. The reduction in long term potentiation is believe to be cause by the reduction of noradrenaline in the hippocampus [452]. To confirm this hypothesis, the levels of NA must be assess. Our results were similar to those found in other types of TBI where IL-1 $\beta$  neutralization following CCI decreases neutrophil infiltration, lesion volume, as well as cognitive deficits found [461, 462].

## 6.2 Contributions of the Proposed Dissertation Research

Blast induced TBI is a signature injury in soldiers who returned from recent combat operations, in service members in training, as well as law enforcement officers. It is apparent that the majority of these individuals suffer from major neurocognitive and neurobehavioral abnormalities that are similar to PTSD. Additionally, mild blast injuries subtly alter neurocognitive abilities including reaction time to a stimulus, ability for swift responses, as well as short term memory. A clear understanding of the mechanisms responsible for these functional deficits in these individuals is still incomplete. This has largely resulted in failure over 30 clinical trials that reached formal approval by the FDA to treat TBI in general and bTBI inparticular. This dissertation has shown that mild primary blast injury alone (exposure to 180 kPa blast) is able to induce cognitive decline in a rodent model. The cognitive decline consists of a transient motor coordination decline with both a chronic memory and anxiogenic symptoms. This indicates that the cause of motor coordination decline is separate from memory and anxiety like symptoms. We believe that chronic microglia activation via NLRP3 activation and associated release of proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  and its further effect in by autocrine signaling is responsible for the chronic neuroinflammation. The major highlight of my dissertation is the observation that MCC950, which targets NLRP3 inhibition an ideal drug target for bTBI.

## 6.3 Future work

This work is intended to elucidate the mechanism in which cognitive decline is induced following blast exposure in rodent. This study has shown the microglia NLRP3 is responsible for the chronic inflammation found following blast. Elucidating the pathology of injury is import first step into developing effective treatments. Still further research is needed in order to achieve this goal. Though many possible future directions exist, here we outline the most important studies that are need in order to develop pharmaceutical interventions.

- 1. Perform biochemical analysis on brain tissue of MCC950 treated rats to determine the reduction of IL-1 $\beta$  production and NLRP3 activation
- 2. Perform a dosing analysis to determine the ideal dose for treatment
- 3. Study the timeline for treatment to enable for better treatment of injury in the field
- 4. Drug design to find an MCC950 analog that will not cause the liver damage found in humans
- 5. Perform similar experiment in other animal model to ensure that the mechanism for injury in rodent accurately represent the injury found humans
- 6. Investigation other brain regions such as the prefrontal cortex, amygdala and hypothalamus to determine the exact points in the memory and anxiety circuits that are disrupted after blast

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- C. A. Taylor, J. M. Bell, M. J. Breiding, and L. K. Xu, "Traumatic brain injury-related emergency department visits, hospitalizations, and deaths - united states, 2007 and 2013," *MMWR Surveillance Summaries*, vol. 66, no. 9, pp. 1–18, 2017.
- [2] I. Cernak and L. J. Noble-Haeusslein, "Traumatic brain injury: an overview of pathobiology with emphasis on military populations," *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 255–266, 2010.
- [3] M. Faul, L. Xu, M. Wald, and V. Coronado, Traumatic Brain Injury in the United States: Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations and Deaths. 03 2010.
- [4] A. I. R. Maas, B. Roozenbeek, and G. T. Manley, "Clinical trials in traumatic brain injury: Past experience and current developments," *Neurotherapeutics*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 115–126, 2010.
- [5] R. Bolander, B. Mathie, C. Bir, D. Ritzel, and P. VandeVord, "Skull flexure as a contributing factor in the mechanism of injury in the rat when exposed to a shock wave," *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 39, no. 10, pp. 2550–2559, 2011.
- [6] A. Chandra, N; Sundaramurthy, Acute Pathophysiology of Blast Injury From Biomechanics to Experiments and Computations: Implications on Head and Polytrauma, book section 18, pp. 195–253. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press/Taylor & Francis, 2015.
- [7] S. A. Brethauer, A. Chao, L. W. Chambers, D. J. Green, C. Brown, P. Rhee, and H. R. Bohman, "Invasion vs insurgency - us navy/marine corps forward surgical care during operation iraqi freedom," *Archives of Surgery*, vol. 143, no. 6, pp. 564–569, 2008.
- [8] A. L. Wade, J. L. Dye, C. R. Mohrle, and M. R. Galarneau, "Head, face, and neck injuries during operation iraqi freedom ii: Results from the us navy-marine corps combat trauma registry," *Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection and Critical Care*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 836–840, 2007.
- [9] J. M. Zouris, J. Walker, J. Dye, and M. Galarneau, "Wounding patterns for us marines and sailors during operation iraqi freedom, major combat phase," *Military Medicine*, vol. 171, no. 3, pp. 246–252, 2006.
- [10] B. D. Owens, J. Kragh, J. F., J. C. Wenke, J. Macaitis, C. E. Wade, and J. B. Holcomb, "Combat wounds in operation iraqi freedom and operation enduring freedom," *The Journal of Trauma Injury, Infection, and Critical Care*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 295–299, 2008.

- [11] B. E. Wojcik, C. R. Stein, K. Bagg, R. J. Humphrey, and J. Orosco, "Traumatic brain injury hospitalizations of us army soldiers deployed to afghanistan and iraq," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. S108–S116, 2010.
- [12] J. M. Dewey, "The properties of a blast wave obtained from an analysis of the particle trajectories," *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, vol. 324, no. 1558, pp. 275–299, 1971.
- [13] M. Skotak, F. Wang, A. Alai, A. Holmberg, S. Harris, R. C. Switzer, and N. Chandra, "Rat injury model under controlled field-relevant primary blast conditions: Acute response to a wide range of peak overpressures," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 30, no. 13, pp. 1147–1160, 2013.
- [14] D. Warden, "Military tbi during the iraq and afghanistan wars," Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 398–402, 2006.
- [15] I. Cernak, J. Savic, and J. Lazarov, "Relations among plasma prolactin, testosterone, and injury severity in war casualties," World Journal of Surgery, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 240–246, 1997.
- [16] A. C. Courtney and M. W. Courtney, "A thoracic mechanism of mild traumatic brain injury due to blast pressure waves," *Medical Hypotheses*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 76–83, 2009.
- [17] D. F. Moore, A. Jérusalem, M. Nyein, L. Noels, M. S. Jaffee, and R. A. Radovitzky, "Computational biology—modeling of primary blast effects on the central nervous system," *Neuroimage*, vol. 47, pp. T10–T20, 2009.
- [18] M. K. Nyein, A. M. Jason, L. Yu, C. M. Pita, J. D. Joannopoulos, D. F. Moore, and R. A. Radovitzky, "In silico investigation of intracranial blast mitigation with relevance to military traumatic brain injury," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 107, no. 48, pp. 20703–20708, 2010.
- [19] P. A. Taylor and C. C. Ford, "Simulation of blast-induced early-time intracranial wave physics leading to traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Biomechanical Engineering*, vol. 131, no. 6, pp. 1–11, 2009.
- [20] W. C. Moss, M. J. King, and E. G. Blackman, "Skull flexure from blast waves: A mechanism for brain injury with implications for helmet design," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 103, no. 10, 2009.
- [21] M. B. Panzer, B. S. Myers, B. P. Capehart, and C. R. Bass, "Development of a finite element model for blast brain injury and the effects of csf cavitation," *Annals* of *Biomedical Engineering*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 1530–1544, 2012.
- [22] P. A. Taylor, J. S. Ludwigsen, and C. C. Ford, "Investigation of blast-induced traumatic brain injury," *Brain Injury*, vol. 28, no. 7, pp. 879–895, 2014.

- [23] A. I. R. Maas, N. Stocchetti, and R. Bullock, "Moderate and severe traumatic brain injury in adults," *Lancet Neurology*, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 728–741, 2008.
- [24] G. Lotocki, J. P. D. Vaccari, E. R. Perez, J. Sanchez-Molano, O. Furones-Alonso, H. M. Bramlett, and W. D. Dietrich, "Alterations in blood-brain barrier permeability to large and small molecules and leukocyte accumulation after traumatic brain injury: Effects of post-traumatic hypothermia," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 1123–1134, 2009.
- [25] P. B. L. Pun, J. Lu, and S. Moochhala, "Involvement of ros in bbb dysfunction," Free Radical Research, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 348–364, 2009.
- [26] H. Z. Toklu, T. Hakan, N. Biber, S. Solakolu, A. V. Ogunc, and G. Sener, "The protective effect of alpha lipoic acid against traumatic brain injury in rats," *Free Radical Research*, vol. 43, no. 7, pp. 658–667, 2009.
- [27] D. J. Loane and A. I. Faden, "Neuroprotection for traumatic brain injury: translational challenges and emerging therapeutic strategies," *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 596–604, 2010.
- [28] J. D. Halbauer, J. W. Ashford, J. M. Zeitzer, M. M. Adamson, H. L. Lew, and J. A. Yesavage, "Neuropsychiatric diagnosis and management of chronic sequelae of war-related mild to moderate traumatic brain injury," *Journal* of Rehabilitation Research and Development, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 757–795, 2009.
- [29] G. Ling, J. M. Ecklund, and F. A. Bandak, "Brain injury from explosive blast: description and clinical management," *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, vol. 127, pp. 173–180, 2015.
- [30] S. Okie, "Traumatic brain injury in the war zone," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 352, no. 20, pp. 2043–2047, 2005.
- [31] A. H. Ropper and K. C. Gorson, "Concussion," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 356, no. 2, pp. 166–172, 2007.
- [32] L. M. Ryan and D. L. Warden, "Post concussion syndrome," International Review of Psychiatry, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 310–316, 2003.
- [33] G. Ling, F. Bandak, R. Armonda, G. Grant, and J. Ecklund, "Explosive blast neurotrauma," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 815–825, 2009.
- [34] H. G. Belanger, T. Kretzmer, R. Yoash-Gantz, T. Pickett, and L. A. Tupler, "Cognitive sequelae of blast-related versus other mechanisms of brain trauma," *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2009.
- [35] N. A. Sayer, C. E. Chiros, B. Sigford, S. Scott, B. Clothier, T. Pickett, and H. L. Lew, "Characteristics and rehabilitation outcomes among patients with blast and other injuries sustained during the global war on terror," Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 163–170, 2008.

- [36] R. A. Bryant and A. G. Harvey, "Relationship between acute stress disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder following mild traumatic brain injury," *American Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 155, no. 5, pp. 625–629, 1998.
- [37] G. A. Elder and A. Cristian, "Blast-related mild traumatic brain injury: mechanisms of injury and impact on clinical care," *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 111–118, 2009.
- [38] T. M. McMillan, "Minor head injury," Current Opinion in Neurology, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 479–483, 1997.
- [39] C. W. Hoge, D. McGurk, J. L. Thomas, A. L. Cox, C. C. Engel, and C. A. Castro, "Mild traumatic brain injury in us soldiers returning from iraq," New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 358, no. 5, pp. 453–463, 2008.
- [40] D. L. Warden, L. A. Labbate, A. M. Salazar, R. Nelson, E. Sheley, J. Staudenmeier, and E. Martin, "Posttraumatic stress disorder in patients with traumatic brain injury and amnesia for the event?," *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 18–22, 1997.
- [41] "Definition of mild traumatic brain injury," The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 86–87, 1993.
- [42] M. B. Panzer, R. Cameron, K. A. Rafaels, J. Shridharani, and B. P. Capehart, "Primary blast survival and injury risk assessment for repeated blast exposures," *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 454–466, 2012.
- [43] C. R. Bass, M. B. Panzer, K. A. Rafaels, G. Wood, J. Shridharani, and B. Capehart, "Brain injuries from blast," Annals of Biomedical Engineering, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 185–202, 2012.
- [44] G. V. Bochicchio, K. Lumpkins, J. O'Connor, M. Simard, S. Schaub, A. Conway, K. Bochicchio, and T. M. Scalea, "Blast injury in a civilian trauma setting is associated with a delay in diagnosis of traumatic brain injury," *The American Journal of Surgery*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 267–270, 2008.
- [45] E. Kim, E. C. Lauterbach, A. Reeve, D. B. Arciniegas, K. L. Coburn, M. F. Mendez, T. A. Rummans, and E. C. Coffey, "Neuropsychiatric complications of traumatic brain injury: a critical review of the literature (a report by the anpa committee on research)," *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 106–127, 2007.
- [46] R. L. Ruff, S. S. Ruff, and X. F. Wang, "Headaches among operation iraqi freedom/operation enduring freedom veterans with mild traumatic brain injury associated with exposures to explosions," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 941–952, 2008.

- [47] S. Vaishnavi, V. Rao, and J. R. Fann, "Neuropsychiatric problems after traumatic brain injury: Unraveling the silent epidemic," *Psychosomatics*, vol. 50, no. 3, pp. 198–205, 2009.
- [48] A. P. Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 5th ed., 2013.
- [49] J. V. Rosenfeld and N. L. Ford, "Bomb blast, mild traumatic brain injury and psychiatric morbidity: a review," *Injury*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 437–443, 2010.
- [50] D. G. Hughes, A. Jackson, D. L. Mason, E. Berry, S. Hollis, and D. W. Yates, "Abnormalities on magnetic resonance imaging seen acutely following mild traumatic brain injury: correlation with neuropsychological tests and delayed recovery," *Neuroradiology*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 550–558, 2004.
- [51] N. C. de Lanerolle, H. Hamid, J. Kulas, J. W. Pan, R. Czlapinski, A. Rinaldi, G. Ling, F. A. Bandak, and H. P. Hetherington, "Concussive brain injury from explosive blast," Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology, vol. 1, no. 9, pp. 692– 702, 2014.
- [52] H. P. Hetherington, H. Hamid, J. Kulas, G. Ling, F. Bandak, N. C. de Lanerolle, and J. W. Pan, "Mrsi of the medial temporal lobe at 7 t in explosive blast mild traumatic brain injury," *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 1358–1367, 2014.
- [53] I. Cernak, J. Savic, Z. Malicevic, G. Zunic, P. Radosevic, I. Ivanovic, and L. Davidovic, "Involvement of the central nervous system in the general response to pulmonary blast injury," *The Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, vol. 40, no. 3 Suppl, pp. S100–S104, 1996.
- [54] J. Cheng, J. Gu, Y. Ma, T. Yang, Y. Kuang, B. Li, and J. Kang, "Development of a rat model for studying blast-induced traumatic brain injury," *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, vol. 294, no. 1-2, pp. 23–28, 2010.
- [55] C. Clemedson, "Shock wave transmission to the central nervous system," Acta Physiologica Scandinavica, vol. 37, no. 2-3, pp. 204–214, 1956.
- [56] J. B. Long, T. L. Bentley, K. A. Wessner, C. Cerone, S. Sweeney, and R. A. Bauman, "Blast overpressure in rats: Recreating a battlefield injury in the laboratory," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 26, pp. 827–840, 2009.
- [57] M. Risling, S. Plantman, M. Angeria, E. Rostami, B. M. Bellander, M. Kirkegaard, U. Arborelius, and J. Davidsson, "Mechanisms of blast induced brain injuries, experimental studies in rats," *Neuroimage*, vol. 54, pp. S89–S97, 2011.
- [58] R. A. Bauman, G. Ling, L. Tong, A. Januszkiewicz, D. Agoston, N. Delanerolle, Y. Kim, D. Ritzel, R. Bell, J. Ecklund, R. Armonda, F. Bandak, and S. Parks, "An introductory characterization of a combat-casualty-care relevant swine"

model of closed head injury resulting from exposure to explosive blast," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 841–860, 2009.

- [59] N. C. de Lanerolle, F. Bandak, D. W. Kang, A. Y. Li, P. Swauger, S. Parks, G. Ling, and J. H. Kim, "Characteristics of an explosive blast-induced brain injury in an experimental model," *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 1046–1057, 2011.
- [60] M. Risling and J. Davidsson, "Experimental animal models for studies on the mechanisms of blast-induced neurotrauma," *Frontiers in Neurology*, vol. 3, no. 30, 2012.
- [61] Y. Wang, Y. L. Wei, S. Oguntayo, W. Wilkins, P. Arun, M. Valiyaveettil, J. Song, J. B. Long, and M. P. Nambiar, "Tightly coupled repetitive blast-induced traumatic brain injury: Development and characterization in mice," *Journal* of Neurotrauma, vol. 28, no. 10, pp. 2171–2183, 2011.
- [62] J. Berkner, R. Mannix, and J. H. Qiu, Clinical Traumatic Brain Injury in the Preclinical Setting, vol. 1462 of Methods in Molecular Biology, pp. 11–28. Totowa: Humana Press Inc, 2016.
- [63] M. Kuriakose, K. V. Rama Rao, D. Younger, and N. Chandra, "Temporal and spatial effects of blast overpressure on blood-brain barrier permeability in traumatic brain injury," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 8, no. 8681, pp. 1–12, 2018.
- [64] A. Nimmerjahn, F. Kirchhoff, and F. Helmchen, "Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo," *Science*, vol. 308, no. 5726, pp. 1314–1318, 2005.
- [65] B. R. Huber, J. S. Meabon, Z. S. Hoffer, J. Zhang, J. G. Hoekstra, K. F. Pagulayan, P. J. McMillan, C. L. Mayer, W. A. Banks, B. C. Kraemer, M. A. Raskind, D. B. McGavern, E. R. Peskind, and D. G. Cook, "Blast exposure causes dynamic microglial/macrophage responses and microdomains if brain microvessel dysfunction," *Neuroscience*, vol. 319, pp. 206–220, 2016.
- [66] D. Boche, V. H. Perry, and J. A. Nicoll, "Review: activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain," *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 3–18, 2013.
- [67] D. J. Loane and A. Kumar, "Microglia in the tbi brain: The good, the bad, and the dysregulated," *Experimental Neurology*, vol. 275, pp. 316–327, 2016.
- [68] A. H. Ding, C. F. Nathan, and D. J. Stuehr, "Release of reactive nitrogen intermediates and reactive oxygen intermediates from mouse peritoneal-macrophages comparison of activating cytokines and evidence for independent production," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 141, no. 7, pp. 2407–2412, 1988.

- [69] A. Sica, T. Schioppa, A. Mantovani, and P. Allavena, "Tumour-associated macrophages are a distinct m2 polarised population promoting tumour progression: Potential targets of anti-cancer therapy," *European Journal of Cancer*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 717–727, 2006.
- [70] O. Butovsky, M. P. Jedrychowski, C. S. Moore, R. Cialic, A. J. Lanser, G. Gabriely, T. Koeglsperger, B. Dake, P. M. Wu, C. E. Doykan, Z. Fanek, L. P. Liu, Z. X. Chen, J. D. Rothstein, R. M. Ransohoffl, S. P. Gygi, J. P. Antel, and H. L. Weiner, "Identification of a unique tgf-beta dependent molecular and functional signature in microglia," *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 131– 143, 2014.
- [71] R. M. Ransohoff, "A polarizing question: do m1 and m2 microglia exist?," Nature Neuroscience, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 987–991, 2016.
- [72] F. Ginhoux, M. Greter, M. Leboeuf, S. Nandi, P. See, S. Gokhan, M. F. Mehler, S. J. Conway, L. G. Ng, E. R. Stanley, I. M. Samokhvalov, and M. Merad, "Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages," *Science*, vol. 330, no. 6005, pp. 841–845, 2010.
- [73] C. Schulz, E. G. Perdiguero, L. Chorro, H. Szabo-Rogers, N. Cagnard, K. Kierdorf, M. Prinz, B. Wu, S. E. W. Jacobsen, J. W. Pollard, J. Frampton, K. J. Liu, and F. Geissmann, "A lineage of myeloid cells independent of myb and hematopoietic stem cells," *Science*, vol. 336, no. 6077, pp. 86–90, 2012.
- [74] V. M. Link, D. Gosselin, and C. K. Glass, "Mechanisms underlying the selection and function of macrophage-specific enhancers," *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, vol. 80, pp. 213–221, 2015.
- [75] J. D. Cherry, J. A. Olschowka, and M. K. O'Banion, "Neuroinflammation and m2 microglia: the good, the bad, and the inflamed," *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, vol. 11, pp. 1–15, 2014.
- [76] M. d. M. Fernández-Arjona, J. M. Grondona, P. Granados-Durán, P. Fernández-Llebrez, and M. D. López-Ávalos, "Microglia morphological categorization in a rat model of neuroinflammation by hierarchical cluster and principal components analysis," *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, vol. 11, no. 235, 2017.
- [77] J. G. Sheng, R. E. Mrak, and W. S. T. Griffin, "Neuritic plaque evolution in alzheimer's disease is accompanied by transition of activated microglia from primed to enlarged to phagocytic forms," *Acta Neuropathologica*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 1–5, 1997.
- [78] S. Torres-Platas, S. Comeau, A. Rachalski, G. Dal bo, C. Cruceanu, B. Giros, G. Turecki, and N. Mechawar, "Morphometric characterization of microglial phenotypes in human neocortex," *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 1–14, 2014.

- [79] S. W. Lee, S. Gajavelli, M. S. Spurlock, C. Andreoni, J. P. D. Vaccari, M. R. Bullock, R. W. Keane, and W. D. Dietrich, "Microglial inflammasome activation in penetrating ballistic-like brain injury," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 35, no. 14, pp. 1–13, 2018.
- [80] C. C. Chiu, Y. E. Liao, L. Y. Yang, J. Y. Wang, D. Tweedie, H. K. Karnati, N. H. Greig, and J. Y. Wang, "Neuroinflammation in animal models of traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 272, pp. 38–49, 2016.
- [81] H. Deselms, N. Maggio, V. Rubovitch, J. Chapman, S. Schreiber, D. Tweedie, D. S. Kim, N. H. Greig, and C. G. Pick, "Novel pharmaceutical treatments for minimal traumatic brain injury and evaluation of animal models and method-ologies supporting their development," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 272, pp. 69–76, 2016.
- [82] Y. Xiong, A. Mahmood, and M. Chopp, "Animal models of traumatic brain injury," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 128–142, 2013.
- [83] C. E. Dixon, G. L. Clifton, J. W. Lighthall, A. A. Yaghmai, and R. L. Hayes, "A controlled cortical impact model of traumatic brain injury in the rat," *Journal* of Neuroscience Methods, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 253–262, 1991.
- [84] J. W. Lighthall, "Controlled cortical impact: A new experimental brain injury model," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 1–15, 1988.
- [85] J. W. Lighthall, H. G. Goshgarian, and C. R. Pinderski, "Characterization of axonal injury produced by controlled cortical impact," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 65–76, 1990.
- [86] D. H. Smith, H. D. Soares, J. S. Pierce, K. G. Perlman, K. E. Saatman, D. F. Meaney, C. E. Dixon, and T. K. McIntosh, "A model of parasagittal controlled cortical impact in the mouse cognitive and histopathologic effects," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 169–178, 1995.
- [87] R. H. Garman, L. W. Jenkins, r. Switzer, R. C., R. A. Bauman, L. C. Tong, P. V. Swauger, S. A. Parks, D. V. Ritzel, C. E. Dixon, R. S. Clark, H. Bayir, V. Kagan, E. K. Jackson, and P. M. Kochanek, "Blast exposure in rats with body shielding is characterized primarily by diffuse axonal injury," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 947–959, 2011.
- [88] J. S. Truettner, H. M. Bramlett, and W. D. Dietrich, "Posttraumatic therapeutic hypothermia alters microglial and macrophage polarization toward a beneficial phenotype," *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 2952–2962, 2017.
- [89] X. M. Jin, H. Ishii, Z. B. Bai, T. Itokazu, and T. Yamashita, "Temporal changes in cell marker expression and cellular infiltration in a controlled cortical impact model in adult male c57bl/6 mice," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 1–13, 2012.

- [90] L. Wen, W.-D. You, H. Wang, Y. Meng, J.-F. Feng, and X. Yang, "Polarization of microglia to the m2 phenotype in a ppar-gamma dependent manner attenuates axonal injury induced by traumatic brain injury in mice," *Journal* of Neurotrauma, vol. 35, no. 19, pp. 2330–2340, 2018.
- [91] D. J. Loane, A. Kumar, B. A. Stoica, R. Cabatbat, and A. I. Faden, "Progressive neurodegeneration after experimental brain trauma: Association with chronic microglial activation," *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 14–29, 2014.
- [92] G. H. Wang, J. Zhang, X. M. Hu, L. L. Zhang, L. L. Mao, X. Y. Jiang, A. K. F. Liou, R. K. Leak, Y. Q. Gao, and J. Chen, "Microglia/macrophage polarization dynamics in white matter after traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 33, no. 12, pp. 1864–1874, 2013.
- [93] L. Bollmann, D. E. Koser, R. Shahapure, H. O. B. Gautier, G. A. Holzapfel, G. Scarcelli, M. C. Gather, E. Ulbricht, and K. Franze, "Microglia mechanics: immune activation alters traction forces and durotaxis," *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, vol. 9, pp. 1–16, 2015.
- [94] S. E. Navone, M. Peroglio, L. Guarnaccia, M. Beretta, S. Grad, M. Paroni, C. Cordiglieri, M. Locatelli, M. Pluderi, P. Rampini, R. Campanella, M. Alini, and G. Marfia, "Mechanical loading of intervertebral disc modulates microglia proliferation, activation, and chemotaxis," *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 978–987, 2018.
- [95] M. Mittelbronn, K. Dietz, H. J. Schluesener, and R. Meyermann, "Local distribution of microglia in the normal adult human central nervous system differs by up to one order of magnitude," *Acta Neuropathologica*, vol. 101, no. 3, pp. 249–255, 2001.
- [96] T. Igarashi, T. T. Huang, and L. J. Noble, "Regional vulnerability after traumatic brain injury: Gender differences in mice that overexpress human copper, zinc superoxide dismutase," *Experimental Neurology*, vol. 172, no. 2, pp. 332–341, 2001.
- [97] W. Tong, T. Igarashi, D. M. Ferriero, and L. J. Noble, "Traumatic brain injury in the immature mouse brain: Characterization of regional vulnerability," *Experimental Neurology*, vol. 176, no. 1, pp. 105–116, 2002.
- [98] M. Prins, T. Greco, D. Alexander, and C. C. Giza, "The pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury at a glance," *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 1307–1315, 2013.
- [99] C. Werner and K. Engelhard, "Pathophysiology of traumatic brain injury," British Journal of Anaesthesia, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 4–9, 2007.

- [100] S. W. Barger and A. D. Harmon, "Microglial activation by alzheimer amyloid precursor protein and modulation by apolipoprotein e," *Nature*, vol. 388, no. 6645, pp. 878–881, 1997.
- [101] M. Noda, H. Nakanishi, and N. Akaike, "Glutamate release from microglia via glutamate transporter is enhanced by amyloid-beta peptide," *Neuroscience*, vol. 92, no. 4, pp. 1465–1474, 1999.
- [102] S. W. Barger and A. S. Basile, "Activation of microglia by secreted amyloid precursor protein evokes release of glutamate by cystine exchange and attenuates synaptic function," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 76, no. 3, pp. 846–854, 2001.
- [103] A. I. Faden, P. Demediuk, S. S. Panter, and R. Vink, "The role of excitatory amino-acids and nmda receptors in traumatic brain injury," *Science*, vol. 244, no. 4906, pp. 798–800, 1989.
- [104] R. N. Christensen, B. K. Ha, F. Sun, J. C. Bresnahan, and M. S. Beattie, "Kainate induces rapid redistribution of the actin cytoskeleton in ameboid microglia," *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 170–181, 2006.
- [105] Y. Hagino, Y. Kariura, Y. Manago, T. Amano, B. Wang, M. Sekiguchi, K. Nishikawa, S. U. Aoki, K. Wada, and M. Noda, "Heterogeneity and potentiation of ampa type of glutamate receptors in rat cultured microglia," *Glia*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 68–77, 2004.
- [106] M. Noda, H. Nakanishi, J. Nabekura, and N. Akaike, "Ampa-kainate subtypes of glutamate receptor in rat cerebral microglia," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 251–258, 2000.
- [107] K. Biber, D. J. Laurie, A. Berthele, B. Sommer, T. R. Tolle, P. J. Gebicke-Harter, D. van Calker, and H. Boddeke, "Expression and signaling of group i metabotropic glutamate receptors in astrocytes and microglia," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 72, no. 4, pp. 1671–1680, 1999.
- [108] D. L. Taylor, L. T. Diemel, M. L. Cuzner, and J. M. Pocock, "Activation of group ii metabotropic glutamate receptors underlies microglial reactivity and neurotoxicity following stimulation with chromogranin a, a peptide up-regulated in alzheimer's disease," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 82, no. 5, pp. 1179–1191, 2002.
- [109] D. L. Taylor, L. T. Diemel, and J. M. Pocock, "Activation of microglial group iii metabotropic glutamate receptors protects neurons against microglial neurotoxicity," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 2150–2160, 2003.
- [110] D. L. Taylor, F. Jones, E. Kubota, and J. M. Pocock, "Stimulation of microglial metabotropic glutamate receptor mglu2 triggers tumor necrosis factor alphainduced neurotoxicity in concert with microglial-derived fas ligand," *Journal* of Neuroscience, vol. 25, no. 11, pp. 2952–2964, 2005.

- [111] M. Gottlieb and C. Matute, "Expression of ionotropic glutamate receptor subunits in glial cells of the hippocampal ca1 area following transient forebrain ischemia," *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 290–300, 1997.
- [112] G. J. Liu, A. Kalous, E. L. Werry, and M. R. Bennett, "Purine release from spinal cord microglia after elevation of calcium by glutamate," *Molecular Pharmacology*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 851–859, 2006.
- [113] M. Murugan, V. Sivakumar, J. Lu, E. A. Ling, and C. Kaur, "Expression of n-methyl d-aspartate receptor subunits in amoeboid microglia mediates production of nitric oxide via nf-kappa b signaling pathway and oligodendrocyte cell death in hypoxic postnatal rats," *Glia*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 521–539, 2011.
- [114] D. Ferrari, P. Chiozzi, S. Falzoni, M. DalSusino, G. Collo, G. Buell, and F. DiVirgilio, "Atp-mediated cytotoxicity in microglial cells," *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 1295–1301, 1997.
- [115] D. Ferrari, P. Chiozzi, S. Falzoni, S. Hanau, and F. DiVirgilio, "Purinergic modulation of interleukin-1 beta release from microglial cells stimulated with bacterial endotoxin," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 185, no. 3, pp. 579–582, 1997.
- [116] R. Fujita, Y. Ma, and H. Ueda, "Lysophosphatidic acid-induced membrane ruffling and brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene expression are mediated by atp release in primary microglia," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 107, no. 1, pp. 152–160, 2008.
- [117] P. Ballerini, P. Di Iorio, R. Ciccarelli, F. Caciagli, A. Poli, A. Beraudi, S. Buccella, I. D'Alimonte, M. D'Auro, E. Nargi, P. Patricelli, D. Visini, and U. Traversa, "P2y(1) and cysteinyl leukotriene receptors mediate purine and cysteinyl leukotriene co-release in primary cultures of rat microglia," *International Journal of Immunopathology and Pharmacology*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 255–268, 2005.
- [118] P. F. Xu, Y. T. Xu, B. Hu, J. Wang, R. Pan, M. Murugan, L. J. Wu, and Y. M. Tang, "Extracellular atp enhances radiation-induced brain injury through microglial activation and paracrine signaling via p2x7 receptor," *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, vol. 50, pp. 87–100, 2015.
- [119] N. H. Lou, T. Takano, Y. Pei, A. L. Xavier, S. A. Goldman, and M. Nedergaard, "Purinergic receptor p2ry12-dependent microglial closure of the injured bloodbrain barrier," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 113, no. 4, pp. 1074–1079, 2016.
- [120] T. Hidetoshi, T. Makoto, and K. Inoue, "P2y receptors in microglia and neuroinflammation," Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Membrane Transport and Signaling, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 493–501, 2012.

- [121] S. Koizumi, K. Ohsawa, K. Inoue, and S. Kohsaka, "Purinergic receptors in microglia: Functional modal shifts of microglia mediated by p2 and p1 receptors," *Glia*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 47–54, 2013.
- [122] S. Koizumi, Y. Shigemoto-Mogami, K. Nasu-Tada, Y. Shinozaki, K. Ohsawa, M. Tsuda, B. V. Joshi, K. A. Jacobson, S. Kohsaka, and K. Inoue, "Udp acting at p2y(6) receptors is a mediator of microglial phagocytosis," *Nature*, vol. 446, no. 7139, pp. 1091–1095, 2007.
- [123] A. del Puerto, F. Wandosell, and J. J. Garrido, "Neuronal and glial purinergic receptors functions in neuron development and brain disease," *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, vol. 7, no. 197, pp. 1–15, 2013.
- [124] D. Ozdemir, N. Uysal, S. Gonenc, O. Acikgoz, A. Sonmez, A. Topcu, N. Ozdemir, M. Duman, I. Semin, and H. Ozkan, "Effect of melatonin on brain oxidative damage induced by traumatic brain injury in immature rats," *Physiological Research*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 631–637, 2005.
- [125] I. Solaroglu, O. Okutan, E. Kaptanoglu, E. Beskonakli, and K. Kilinc, "Increased xanthine oxidase activity after traumatic brain injury in rats," *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 273–275, 2005.
- [126] A. Lewen, P. Matz, and P. H. Chan, "Free radical pathways in cns injury," Journal of Neurotrauma, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 871–890, 2000.
- [127] K. Bedard and K. H. Krause, "The nox family of ros-generating nadph oxidases: Physiology and pathophysiology," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 245–313, 2007.
- [128] S. Sankarapandi, J. L. Zweier, G. Mukherjee, M. T. Quinn, and D. L. Huso, "Measurement and characterization of superoxide generation in microglial cells: Evidence for an nadph oxidase-dependent pathway," Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, vol. 353, no. 2, pp. 312–321, 1998.
- [129] W. M. Nauseef, "How human neutrophils kill and degrade microbes: an integrated view," *Immunological Reviews*, vol. 219, pp. 88–102, 2007.
- [130] A. Kumar, J. P. Barrett, D. M. Alvarez-Croda, B. A. Stoica, A. I. Faden, and D. J. Loane, "Nox2 drives m1-like microglial/macrophage activation and neurodegeneration following experimental traumatic brain injury," *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, vol. 58, pp. 291–309, 2016.
- [131] A. P. O. Ferreira, F. S. Rodrigues, I. D. Della-Pace, B. C. Mota, S. M. Oliveira, C. D. V. Gewehr, F. Bobinski, C. V. de Oliveira, J. S. Brum, M. S. Oliveira, A. F. Furian, C. S. L. de Barros, J. Ferreira, A. R. S. dos Santos, M. R. Fighera, and L. F. F. Royes, "The effect of nadph-oxidase inhibitor apocynin on cognitive impairment induced by moderate lateral fluid percussion injury: Role of inflammatory and oxidative brain damage," *Neurochemistry International*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 583–593, 2013.

- [132] K. V. Rama Rao, S. Iring, D. Younger, M. Kuriakose, M. Skotak, E. Alay, R. K. Gupta, and N. Chandra, "A single primary blast-induced traumatic brain injury in rodent model causes cell-type dependent increase in nadph oxidase isoforms in vulnerable brain regions," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 35, no. 17, pp. 2077–2090, 2018.
- [133] J. N. Petitto, Z. Huang, J. Lo, and W. J. Streit, "Il-2 gene knockout affects t lymphocyte trafficking and the microglial response to regenerating facial motor neurons," *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, vol. 134, no. 1-2, pp. 95–103, 2003.
- [134] N. Sakai, S. Kaufman, and S. Milstien, "Parallel induction of nitric-oxide and tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis by cytokines in rat glial-cells," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 895–902, 1995.
- [135] U. K. Hanisch, S. A. Lyons, M. Prinz, C. Nolte, J. R. Weber, H. Kettenmann, and F. Kirchhoff, "Mouse brain microglia express interleukin-15 and its multimeric receptor complex functionally coupled to janus kinase activity," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 272, no. 46, pp. 28853–28860, 1997.
- [136] A. J. Bruce, W. Boling, M. S. Kindy, J. Peschon, P. J. Kraemer, M. K. Carpenter, F. W. Holtsberg, and M. P. Mattson, "Altered neuronal and microglial responses to excitotoxic and ischemic brain injury in mice lacking thf receptors," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 2, no. 7, pp. 788–794, 1996.
- [137] T. Moller, U. K. Hanisch, and B. R. Ransom, "Thrombin-induced activation of cultured rodent microglia," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 75, no. 4, pp. 1539–1547, 2000.
- [138] Q. Cao, J. Lu, C. Kaur, V. Sivakumar, F. Li, P. S. Cheah, S. T. Dheen, and E. A. Ling, "Expression of notch-1 receptor and its ligands jagged-1 and delta-1 in amoeboid microglia in postnatal rat brain and murine bv-2 cells," *Glia*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 1224–1237, 2008.
- [139] L. Grandbarbe, A. Michelucci, T. Heurtaux, K. Hemmer, E. Morga, and P. Heuschling, "Notch signaling modulates the activation of microglial cells," *Glia*, vol. 55, no. 15, pp. 1519–1530, 2007.
- [140] K. Farber, U. Pannasch, and H. Kettenmann, "Dopamine and noradrenaline control distinct functions in rodent microglial cells," *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 128–138, 2005.
- [141] D. Mastroeni, A. Grover, B. Leonard, J. N. Joyce, P. D. Coleman, B. Kozik, D. L. Bellinger, and J. Rogers, "Microglial responses to dopamine in a cell culture model of parkinson's disease," *Neurobiology of Aging*, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1805– 1817, 2009.
- [142] M. Miyoshi, K. Miyano, N. Moriyama, M. Taniguchi, and T. Watanabe, "Angiotensin type 1 receptor antagonist inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced stimulation of

rat microglial cells by suppressing nuclear factor kappa b and activator protein-1 activation," *European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 343–351, 2008.

- [143] N. D. Stankovic, M. Teodorczyk, R. Ploen, F. Zipp, and M. H. H. Schmidt, "Microgliablood vessel interactions: a double-edged sword in brain pathologies," Acta Neuropathologica, vol. 131, no. 3, pp. 347–363, 2016.
- [144] X. Zhao, U. B. Eyo, M. Murugan, and L.-J. Wu, "Microglial interactions with the neurovascular system in physiology and pathology," *Developmental Neurobiology*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 604–617, 2018.
- [145] A. Chodobski, B. J. Zink, and J. Szmydynger-Chodobska, "Blood-brain barrier pathophysiology in traumatic brain injury," *Translational Stroke Research*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 492–516, 2011.
- [146] D. Shlosberg, M. Benifla, D. Kaufer, and A. Friedman, "Blood-brain barrier breakdown as a therapeutic target in traumatic brain injury," *Nature Reviews Neurology*, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 393–403, 2010.
- [147] S. C. Thal and W. Neuhaus, "The blood-brain barrier as a target in traumatic brain injury treatment," Archives of Medical Research, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 698–710, 2014.
- [148] F. Tchantchou and Y. M. Zhang, "Selective inhibition of alpha/beta-hydrolase domain 6 attenuates neurodegeneration, alleviates blood brain barrier breakdown, and improves functional recovery in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 30, no. 7, pp. 565–579, 2013.
- [149] B. Y. Choi, B. G. Jang, J. H. Kim, B. E. Lee, M. Sohn, H. K. Song, and S. W. Suh, "Prevention of traumatic brain injury-induced neuronal death by inhibition of nadph oxidase activation," *Brain Research*, vol. 1481, pp. 49–58, 2012.
- [150] M. Kuriakose, D. Younger, A. R. Ravula, E. Alay, K. V. Rama Rao, and N. Chandra, "Synergistic role of oxidative stress and blood-brain barrier permeability as injury mechanisms in the acute pathophysiology of blast-induced neurotrauma," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 7717, pp. 1–13, 2019.
- [151] S. Gyoneva, D. Kim, A. Katsumoto, O. N. Kokiko-Cochran, B. T. Lamb, and R. M. Ransohoff, "Ccr2 deletion dissociates cavity size and tau pathology after mild traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, vol. 12, no. 228, pp. 1– 12, 2015.
- [152] R. Shechter, A. London, C. Varol, C. Raposo, M. Cusimano, G. Yovel, A. Rolls, M. Mack, S. Pluchino, G. Martino, S. Jung, and M. Schwartz, "Infiltrating blood-derived macrophages are vital cells playing an anti-inflammatory role in recovery from spinal cord injury in mice," *PLOS Medicine*, vol. 6, no. 7, p. 17, 2009.

- [153] D. M. Trahanas, C. M. Cuda, H. Perlman, and S. J. Schwulst, "Differential activation of infiltrating monocyte-derived cells after mild and severe traumatic brain injury," *Shock*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 255–260, 2015.
- [154] U. K. Hanisch, "Microglia as a source and target of cytokines," Glia, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 140–155, 2002.
- [155] H. Y. Febinger, H. E. Thomasy, M. N. Pavlova, K. M. Ringgold, P. R. Barf, A. M. George, J. N. Grillo, A. D. Bachstetter, J. A. Garcia, A. E. Cardona, M. R. Opp, and C. Gemma, "Time-dependent effects of cx3cr1 in a mouse model of mild traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, vol. 12, no. 154, pp. 1–16, 2015.
- [156] H. H. Qian, Q. H. Li, and W. D. Shi, "Hyperbaric oxygen alleviates the activation of nlrp-3-inflammasomes in traumatic brain injury," *Molecular Medicine Reports*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 3922–3928, 2017.
- [157] C. C. Chio, C. H. Chang, C. C. Wang, C. U. Cheong, C. M. Chao, B. C. Cheng, C. Z. Yang, and C. P. Chang, "Etanercept attenuates traumatic brain injury in rats by reducing early microglial expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha," *BMC Neuroscience*, vol. 14, p. 33, 2013.
- [158] A. D. Bachstetter, B. Xing, L. de Almeida, E. R. Dimayuga, D. M. Watterson, and L. J. Van Eldik, "Microglial p38α mapk is a key regulator of proinflammatory cytokine up-regulation induced by toll-like receptor (tlr) ligands or beta-amyloid (aβ)," Journal of Neuroinflammation, vol. 8, no. 1, p. 79, 2011.
- [159] A. D. Bachstetter, R. K. Rowe, M. Kaneko, D. Goulding, J. Lifshitz, and L. J. Van Eldik, "The p38 alpha mapk regulates microglial responsiveness to diffuse traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 33, no. 14, pp. 6143– 6153, 2013.
- [160] S. M. McMullan, B. Phanavanh, G. G. Li, and S. W. Barger, "Metabotropic glutamate receptors inhibit microglial glutamate release," Asn Neuro, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 323–330, 2012.
- [161] F. Pinteaux-Jones, I. G. Sevastou, V. A. H. Fry, S. Heales, D. Baker, and J. M. Pocock, "Myelin-induced microglial neurotoxicity can be controlled by microglial metabotropic glutamate receptors," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 106, no. 1, pp. 442–454, 2008.
- [162] K. Mori, E. Ozaki, B. Zhang, L. H. Yang, A. Yokoyama, I. Takeda, N. Maeda, M. Sakanaka, and J. Tanaka, "Effects of norepinephrine on rat cultured microglial cells that express alpha 1, alpha 2, beta 1 and beta 2 adrenergic receptors," *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1026–1034, 2002.
- [163] M. F. Farez, F. J. Quintana, R. Gandhi, G. Izquierdo, M. Lucas, and H. L. Weiner, "Toll-like receptor 2 and poly(adp-ribose) polymerase 1 promote central

nervous system neuroinflammation in progressive eae," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 10, no. 9, pp. 958–964, 2009.

- [164] C. S. Jack, N. Arbour, J. Manusow, V. Montgrain, M. Blain, E. McCrea, A. Shapiro, and J. P. Antel, "Tlr signaling tailors innate immune responses in human microglia and astrocytes," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 175, no. 7, pp. 4320– 4330, 2005.
- [165] T. Suuronen, J. Huuskonen, T. Nuutinen, and A. Salminen, "Characterization of the pro-inflammatory signaling induced by protein acetylation in microglia," *Neurochemistry International*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 610–618, 2006.
- [166] T. Kielian, P. Mayes, and M. Kielian, "Characterization of microglial responses to staphylococcus aureus: effects on cytokine, costimulatory molecule, and toll-like receptor expression," *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, vol. 130, no. 1-2, pp. 86–99, 2002.
- [167] K. J. Charles, J. Deuchars, C. H. Davies, and M. N. Pangalos, "Gaba(b) receptor subunit expression in glia," *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 214–223, 2003.
- [168] G. J. Harry, C. L. d'Hellencourt, C. A. McPherson, J. A. Funk, M. Aoyama, and R. N. Wine, "Tumor necrosis factor p55 and p75 receptors are involved in chemicalinduced apoptosis of dentate granule neurons," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 106, no. 1, pp. 281–298, 2008.
- [169] H. Kettenmann, U. K. Hanisch, M. Noda, and A. Verkhratsky, "Physiology of microglia," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 461–553, 2011.
- [170] K. G. Hausler, M. Prinz, C. Nolte, J. R. Weber, R. R. Schumann, H. Kettenmann, and U. K. Hanisch, "Interferon-gamma differentially modulates the release of cytokines and chemokines in lipopolysaccharide- and pneumococcal cell wall-stimulated mouse microglia and macrophages," *European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 2113–2122, 2002.
- [171] Y. B. Lee, A. Nagai, and S. U. Kim, "Cytokines, chemokines, and cytokine receptors in human microglia," *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 94– 103, 2002.
- [172] D. van Rossum, S. Hilbert, S. Strassenburg, U. K. Hanisch, and W. Bruck, "Myelinphagocytosing macrophages in isolated sciatic and optic nerves reveal a unique reactive phenotype," *Glia*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 271–283, 2008.
- [173] A. Kumar and D. J. Loane, "Neuroinflammation after traumatic brain injury: Opportunities for therapeutic intervention," *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, vol. 26, no. 8, pp. 1191–1201, 2012.

- [174] T. K. McIntosh, D. H. Smith, D. F. Meaney, M. J. Kotapka, T. A. Gennarelli, and D. I. Graham, "Neuropathological sequelae of traumatic brain injury: Relationship to neurochemical and biomechanical mechanisms," *Laboratory Investigation*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 315–342, 1996.
- [175] J. P. D. Vaccari, W. D. Dietrich, and R. W. Keane, "Activation and regulation of cellular inflammasomes: gaps in our knowledge for central nervous system injury," *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 369– 375, 2014.
- [176] A. Halle, V. Hornung, G. C. Petzold, C. R. Stewart, B. G. Monks, T. Reinheckel, K. A. Fitzgerald, E. Latz, K. J. Moore, and D. T. Golenbock, "The nalp3 inflammasome is involved in the innate immune response to amyloid-beta," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 857–865, 2008.
- [177] R. Hanamsagar, V. Torres, and T. Kielian, "Inflammasome activation and il-1 beta/il-18 processing are influenced by distinct pathways in microglia," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 119, no. 4, pp. 736–748, 2011.
- [178] F. S. Shi, Y. Yang, M. Kouadir, Y. Y. Fu, L. F. Yang, X. M. Zhou, X. M. Yin, and D. M. Zhao, "Inhibition of phagocytosis and lysosomal acidification suppresses neurotoxic prion peptide-induced nalp3 inflammasome activation in bv2 microglia," *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, vol. 260, no. 1-2, pp. 121–125, 2013.
- [179] J. A. Duncan, X. Gao, M. T. H. Huang, B. P. O'Connor, C. E. Thomas, S. B. Willingham, D. T. Bergstralh, G. A. Jarvis, P. F. Sparling, and J. P. Y. Ting, "Neisseria gonorrhoeae activates the proteinase cathepsin b to mediate the signaling activities of the nlrp3 and asc-containing inflammasome," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 182, no. 10, pp. 6460–6469, 2009.
- [180] T. Ichinohe, H. K. Lee, Y. Ogura, R. Flavell, and A. Iwasaki, "Inflammasome recognition of influenza virus is essential for adaptive immune responses," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 206, no. 1, pp. 79–87, 2009.
- [181] C. M. Cruz, A. Rinna, H. J. Forman, A. L. M. Ventura, P. M. Persechini, and D. M. Ojcius, "Atp activates a reactive oxygen species-dependent oxidative stress response and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines in macrophages," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 282, no. 5, pp. 2871–2879, 2007.
- [182] T. Hoegen, N. Tremel, M. Klein, B. Angele, H. Wagner, C. Kirschning, H. W. Pfister, A. Fontana, S. Hammerschmidt, and U. Koedel, "The nlrp3 inflammasome contributes to brain injury in pneumococcal meningitis and is activated through atp-dependent lysosomal cathepsin b release," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 187, no. 10, pp. 5440–5451, 2011.
- [183] S. Mariathasan, D. S. Weiss, K. Newton, J. McBride, K. O'Rourke, M. Roose-Girma, W. P. Lee, Y. Weinrauch, D. M. Monack, and V. M. Dixit, "Cryopyrin

activates the inflamma one in response to toxins and atp," *Nature*, vol. 440, no. 7081, pp. 228–232, 2006.

- [184] F. Martinon, V. Petrilli, A. Mayor, A. Tardivel, and J. Tschopp, "Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the nalp3 inflammasome," *Nature*, vol. 440, no. 7081, pp. 237–241, 2006.
- [185] V. Hornung, F. Bauernfeind, A. Halle, E. O. Samstad, H. Kono, K. L. Rock, K. A. Fitzgerald, and E. Latz, "Silica crystals and aluminum salts activate the nalp3 inflammasome through phagosomal destabilization," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 847–856, 2008.
- [186] J. G. Walsh, D. A. Muruve, and C. Power, "Inflammasomes in the cns," Nature Reviews Neuroscience, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 84–97, 2014.
- [187] F. G. Bauernfeind, G. Horvath, A. Stutz, E. S. Alnemri, K. MacDonald, D. Speert, T. Fernandes-Alnemri, J. H. Wu, B. G. Monks, K. A. Fitzgerald, V. Hornung, and E. Latz, "Cutting edge: Nf-kappa b activating pattern recognition and cytokine receptors license nlrp3 inflammasome activation by regulating nlrp3 expression," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 183, no. 2, pp. 787–791, 2009.
- [188] J. Chu, L. M. Thomas, S. C. Watkins, L. Franchi, G. Nunez, and R. D. Salter, "Cholesterol-dependent cytolysins induce rapid release of mature il-1 beta from murine macrophages in a nlrp3 inflammasome and cathepsin b-dependent manner," *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, vol. 86, no. 5, pp. 1227–1238, 2009.
- [189] V. Petrilli, S. Papin, C. Dostert, A. Mayor, F. Martinon, and J. Tschopp, "Activation of the nalp3 inflammasome is triggered by low intracellular potassium concentration," *Cell Death and Differentiation*, vol. 14, no. 9, pp. 1583–1589, 2007.
- [190] A. K. Zaiss, A. Vilaysane, M. J. Cotter, S. A. Clark, H. C. Meijndert, P. Colarusso, R. M. Yates, V. Petrilli, J. Tschopp, and D. A. Muruve, "Antiviral antibodies target adenovirus to phagolysosomes and amplify the innate immune response," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 182, no. 11, pp. 7058–7068, 2009.
- [191] G. Codolo, N. Plotegher, T. Pozzobon, M. Brucale, I. Tessari, L. Bubacco, and M. de Bernard, "Triggering of inflammasome by aggregated alpha-synuclein, an inflammatory response in synucleinopathies," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2013.
- [192] C. Dostert, V. Petrilli, R. Van Bruggen, C. Steele, B. T. Mossman, and J. Tschopp, "Innate immune activation through nalp3 inflammasome sensing of asbestos and silica," *Science*, vol. 320, no. 5876, pp. 674–677, 2008.
- [193] D. K. Kaushik, M. Gupta, K. L. Kumawat, and A. Basu, "Nlrp3 inflammasome: Key mediator of neuroinflammation in murine japanese encephalitis," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 1–12, 2012.

- [194] R. B. Zhou, A. Tardivel, B. Thorens, I. Choi, and J. Tschopp, "Thioredoxininteracting protein links oxidative stress to inflammasome activation," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 136–140, 2010.
- [195] K. Nakahira, J. A. Haspel, V. A. K. Rathinam, S. J. Lee, T. Dolinay, H. C. Lam, J. A. Englert, M. Rabinovitch, M. Cernadas, H. P. Kim, K. A. Fitzgerald, S. W. Ryter, and A. M. K. Choi, "Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial dna mediated by the nalp3 inflammasome," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 222–230, 2011.
- [196] K. Shimada, T. R. Crother, J. Karlin, J. Dagvadorj, N. Chiba, S. Chen, V. K. Ramanujan, A. J. Wolf, L. Vergnes, D. M. Ojcius, A. Rentsendorj, M. Vargas, C. Guerrero, Y. S. Wang, K. A. Fitzgerald, D. M. Underhill, T. Town, and M. Arditi, "Oxidized mitochondrial dna activates the nlrp3 inflammasome during apoptosis," *Immunity*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 401–414, 2012.
- [197] R. B. Zhou, A. S. Yazdi, P. Menu, and J. Tschopp, "A role for mitochondria in nlrp3 inflammasome activation," *Nature*, vol. 469, no. 7329, pp. 221–225, 2011.
- [198] N. Chandra, S. Ganpule, N. N. Kleinschmit, R. Feng, A. D. Holmberg, A. Sundaramurthy, V. Selvan, and A. Alai, "Evolution of blast wave profiles in simulated air blasts: experiment and computational modeling," *Shock Waves*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 403–415, 2012.
- [199] V. Mishra, M. Skotak, H. Schuetz, A. Heller, J. Haorah, and N. Chandra, "Primary blast causes mild, moderate, severe and lethal tbi with increasing blast overpressures: Experimental rat injury model," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 6, no. 26992, pp. 1–12, 2016.
- [200] A. Sundaramurthy, A. Alai, S. Ganpule, A. Holmberg, E. Plougonven, and N. Chandra, "Blast-induced biomechanical loading of the rat: an experimental and anatomically accurate computational blast injury model," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 29, no. 13, pp. 2352–2364, 2012.
- [201] N. Chandra, A. Sundaramurthy, and R. K. Gupta, "Validation of laboratory animal and surrogate human models in primary blast injury studies," *Military Medicine*, vol. 182, no. S1, pp. 105–113, 2017.
- [202] M. Kuriakose, M. Skotak, A. Misistia, S. Kahali, A. Sundaramurthy, and N. Chandra, "Tailoring the blast exposure conditions in the shock tube for generating pure, primary shock waves: The end plate facilitates elimination of secondary loading of the specimen," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 1–19, 2016.
- [203] H. J. Cho, V. Sajja, P. J. Vandevord, and Y. W. Lee, "Blast induces oxidative stress, inflammation, neuronal loss and subsequent short-term memory impairment in rats," *Neuroscience*, vol. 253, pp. 9–20, 2013.

- [204] G. A. Elder, M. A. Gama Sosa, R. De Gasperi, J. R. Stone, D. L. Dickstein, F. Haghighi, P. R. Hof, and S. T. Ahlers, "Vascular and inflammatory factors in the pathophysiology of blast-induced brain injury," *Frontiers in Neurology*, vol. 6, no. 48, pp. 1–22, 2015.
- [205] F. Aloisi, "Immune function of microglia," Glia, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 165–179, 2001.
- [206] H. D. Liu, W. Li, Z. R. Chen, Y. C. Hu, D. D. Zhang, W. Shen, M. L. Zhou, L. Zhu, and C. H. Hang, "Expression of the nlrp3 inflammasome in cerebral cortex after traumatic brain injury in a rat model," *Neurochemical Research*, vol. 38, no. 10, pp. 2072–2083, 2013.
- [207] L. Fellner, R. Irschick, K. Schanda, M. Reindl, L. Klimaschewski, W. Poewe, G. K. Wenning, and N. Stefanova, "Toll-like receptor 4 is required for alpha-synuclein dependent activation of microglia and astroglia," *Glia*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 349– 360, 2013.
- [208] J. J. Jin, H. D. Kim, J. A. Maxwell, L. Li, and K. I. Fukuchi, "Toll-like receptor 4-dependent upregulation of cytokines in a transgenic mouse model of alzheimer's disease," *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, vol. 5, no. 23, pp. 1–10, 2008.
- [209] C. R. Stewart, L. M. Stuart, K. Wilkinson, J. M. van Gils, J. Deng, A. Halle, K. J. Rayner, L. Boyer, R. Zhong, W. A. Frazier, A. Lacy-Hulbert, J. El Khoury, D. T. Golenbock, and K. J. Moore, "Cd36 ligands promote sterile inflammation through assembly of a toll-like receptor 4 and 6 heterodimer," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 155–161, 2010.
- [210] C. Farina, F. Aloisi, and E. Meinl, "Astrocytes are active players in cerebral innate immunity," *Trends in Immunology*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 138–145, 2007.
- [211] G. M. McCarthy, C. R. Bridges, Y. A. Blednov, and R. A. Harris, "Cns cell-type localization and lps response of the signaling pathways," *F1000Research*, vol. 6, no. 1144, pp. 1–24, 2017.
- [212] Y. Zhang, K. N. Chen, S. A. Sloan, M. L. Bennett, A. R. Scholze, S. O'Keeffe, H. P. Phatnani, P. Guarnieri, C. Caneda, N. Ruderisch, S. Y. Deng, S. A. Liddelow, C. L. Zhang, R. Daneman, T. Maniatis, B. A. Barres, and J. Q. Wu, "An rna-sequencing transcriptome and splicing database of glia, neurons, and vascular cells of the cerebral cortex," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 34, no. 36, pp. 11929–11947, 2014.
- [213] L. Freeman, H. T. Guo, C. N. David, W. J. Brickey, S. Jha, and J. P. Y. Ting, "Nlr members nlrc4 and nlrp3 mediate sterile inflammasome activation in microglia and astrocytes," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 214, no. 5, pp. 1351– 1370, 2017.

- [214] J. Minkiewicz, J. P. D. Vaccari, and R. W. Keane, "Human astrocytes express a novel nlrp2 inflammasome," *Glia*, vol. 61, no. 7, pp. 1113–1121, 2013.
- [215] R. H. Du, F. F. Wu, M. Lu, X. D. Shu, J. H. Ding, G. Y. Wu, and G. Hu, "Uncoupling protein 2 modulation of the nlrp3 inflammasome in astrocytes and its implications in depression," *Redox Biology*, vol. 9, pp. 178–187, 2016.
- [216] S. Johann, M. Heitzer, M. Kanagaratnam, A. Goswami, T. Rizo, J. Weis, D. Troost, and C. Beyer, "Nlrp3 inflammasome is expressed by astrocytes in the sod1 mouse model of als and in human sporadic als patients," *Glia*, vol. 63, no. 12, pp. 2260–2273, 2015.
- [217] Y. He, M. Y. Zeng, D. H. Yang, B. Metro, and G. Nunez, "Nek7 is an essential mediator of nlrp3 activation downstream of potassium efflux," *Nature*, vol. 530, no. 7590, pp. 354–357, 2016.
- [218] H. X. Shi, Y. Wang, X. H. Li, X. M. Zhan, M. Tang, M. Fina, L. J. Su, D. Pratt, C. H. Bu, S. Hildebrand, S. Lyon, L. Scott, J. X. Quan, Q. H. Sun, J. Russell, S. Arnett, P. Jurek, D. Chen, V. V. Kravchenko, J. C. Mathison, E. M. Y. Moresco, N. L. Monson, R. J. Ulevitch, and B. Beutler, "Nlrp3 activation and mitosis are mutually exclusive events coordinated by nek7, a new inflammasome component," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 250–258, 2016.
- [219] M. S. Dick, L. Sborgi, S. Ruhl, S. Hiller, and P. Broz, "Asc filament formation serves as a signal amplification mechanism for inflammasomes," *Nature Communications*, vol. 7, no. 11929, pp. 1–12, 2016.
- [220] A. Lu, V. G. Magupalli, J. Ruan, Q. Yin, M. K. Atianand, M. R. Vos, G. F. Schroder, K. A. Fitzgerald, H. Wu, and E. H. Egelman, "Unified polymerization mechanism for the assembly of asc-dependent inflammasomes," *Cell*, vol. 156, no. 6, pp. 1193–1206, 2014.
- [221] D. Brough, P. Pelegrin, and W. Nickel, "An emerging case for membrane pore formation as a common mechanism for the unconventional secretion of fgf2 and il-1 beta," *Journal of Cell Science*, vol. 130, no. 19, pp. 3197–3202, 2017.
- [222] T. Bergsbaken, S. L. Fink, and B. T. Cookson, "Pyroptosis: host cell death and inflammation," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 99–109, 2009.
- [223] N. Kayagaki, I. B. Stowe, B. L. Lee, K. O'Rourke, K. Anderson, S. Warming, T. Cuellar, B. Haley, M. Roose-Girma, Q. T. Phung, P. S. Liu, J. R. Lill, H. Li, J. S. Wu, S. Kummerfeld, J. Zhang, W. P. Lee, S. J. Snipas, G. S. Salvesen, L. X. Morris, L. Fitzgerald, Y. F. Zhang, E. M. Bertram, C. C. Goodnow, and V. M. Dixit, "Caspase-11 cleaves gasdermin d for non-canonical inflammasome signalling," *Nature*, vol. 526, no. 7575, pp. 666–671, 2015.

- [224] J. J. Shi, Y. Zhao, K. Wang, X. Y. Shi, Y. Wang, H. W. Huang, Y. H. Zhuang, T. Cai, F. C. Wang, and F. Shao, "Cleavage of gsdmd by inflammatory caspases determines pyroptotic cell death," *Nature*, vol. 526, no. 7575, pp. 660–665, 2015.
- [225] P. Broz and V. M. Dixit, "Inflammasomes: mechanism of assembly, regulation and signalling," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 407–420, 2016.
- [226] J. A. Duncan, D. T. Bergstralht, Y. H. Wang, S. B. Willingham, Z. M. Ye, A. G. Zimmermann, and J. P. Y. Ting, "Cryopyrin/nalp3 binds atp/datp, is an atpase, and requires atp binding to mediate inflammatory signaling," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 104, no. 19, pp. 8041–8046, 2007.
- [227] T. Prochnicki and E. Latz, "Inflammasomes on the crossroads of innate immune recognition and metabolic control," *Cell Metabolism*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 71–93, 2017.
- [228] A. Liston and S. L. Masters, "Homeostasis-altering molecular processes as mechanisms of inflammasome activation," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 208–214, 2017.
- [229] M. S. J. Mangan, E. J. Olhava, W. R. Roush, H. M. Seidel, G. D. Glick, and E. Latz, "Targeting the nlrp3 inflammasome in inflammatory diseases," *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 588–606, 2018.
- [230] L. Franchi, T. Eigenbrod, and G. Nunez, "Cutting edge: Tnf-alpha mediates sensitization to atp and silica via the nlrp3 inflammasome in the absence of microbial stimulation," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 183, no. 2, pp. 792–796, 2009.
- [231] M. Haneklaus, M. Gerlic, M. Kurowska-Stolarska, A. A. Rainey, D. Pich, I. B. McInnes, W. Hammerschmidt, L. A. J. O'Neill, and S. L. Masters, "Cutting edge: mir-223 and ebv mir-bart15 regulate the nlrp3 inflammasome and il-1 beta production," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 189, no. 8, pp. 3795–3799, 2012.
- [232] N. Song, Z. S. Liu, W. Xue, Z. F. Bai, Q. Y. Wang, J. Dai, X. Liu, Y. J. Huang, H. Cai, X. Y. Zhan, Q. Y. Han, H. X. Wang, Y. Chen, H. Y. Li, A. L. Li, X. M. Zhang, T. Zhou, and T. Li, "Nlrp3 phosphorylation is an essential priming event for inflammasome activation," *Molecular Cell*, vol. 68, no. 1, pp. 185–197, 2017.
- [233] M. R. Spalinger, S. Kasper, C. Gottier, S. Lang, K. Atrott, S. R. Vavricka, S. Scharl, P. M. Gutte, M. G. Grutter, H. D. Beer, E. Contassot, A. C. Chan, X. Z. Dai, D. J. Rawlings, F. Mair, B. Becher, W. Falk, M. Fried, G. Rogler, and M. Scharl, "Nlrp3 tyrosine phosphorylation is controlled by protein tyrosine phosphatase ptpn22," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 126, no. 5, pp. 1783–1800, 2016.

- [234] A. Stutz, C. C. Kolbe, R. Stahl, G. L. Horvath, B. S. Franklin, O. van Ray, R. Brinkschulte, M. Geyer, F. Meissner, and E. Latz, "Nlrp3 inflammasome assembly is regulated by phosphorylation of the pyrin domain," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 214, no. 6, pp. 1725–1736, 2017.
- [235] L. Mortimer, F. Moreau, J. A. MacDonald, and K. Chadee, "Nlrp3 inflammasome inhibition is disrupted in a group of auto-inflammatory disease caps mutations," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 1176–1186, 2016.
- [236] Z. R. Zhang, G. Meszaros, W. T. He, Y. F. Xu, H. D. Magliarelli, L. Mailly, M. Mihlan, Y. S. Liu, M. P. Gamez, A. Goginashvili, A. Pasquier, O. Bielska, B. Neven, P. Quartier, R. Aebersold, T. F. Baumert, P. Georgel, J. H. Han, and R. Ricci, "Protein kinase d at the golgi controls nlrp3 inflammasome activation," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 214, no. 9, pp. 2671–2693, 2017.
- [237] A. Kawashima, T. Karasawa, K. Tago, H. Kimura, R. Kamata, F. Usui-Kawanishi, S. Watanabe, S. Ohta, M. Funakoshi-Tago, K. Yanagisawa, T. Kasahara, K. Suzuki, and M. Takahashi, "Arih2 ubiquitinates nlrp3 and negatively regulates nlrp3 inflammasome activation in macrophages," *Journal* of Immunology, vol. 199, no. 10, pp. 3614–3622, 2017.
- [238] B. F. Py, M. S. Kim, H. Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg, and J. Y. Yuan, "Deubiquitination of nlrp3 by brc3 critically regulates inflammasome activity," *Molecular Cell*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 331–338, 2013.
- [239] S. Han, T. B. Lear, J. A. Jerome, S. Rajbhandari, C. A. Snavely, D. L. Gulick, K. F. Gibson, C. B. Zou, B. B. Chen, and R. K. Mallampalli, "Lipopolysaccharide primes the nalp3 inflammasome by inhibiting its ubiquitination and degradation mediated by the scffbxl2 e3 ligase," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 290, no. 29, pp. 18124–18133, 2015.
- [240] H. Song, B. Y. Liu, W. W. Huai, Z. X. Yu, W. W. Wang, J. Zhao, L. H. Han, G. S. Jiang, L. N. Zhang, C. J. Gao, and W. Zhao, "The e3 ubiquitin ligase trim31 attenuates nlrp3 inflammasome activation by promoting proteasomal degradation of nlrp3," *Nature Communications*, vol. 7, pp. 1–11, 2016.
- [241] D.-W. Shim and K.-H. Lee, "Posttranslational regulation of the nlr family pyrin domain-containing 3 inflammasome," *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 9, pp. 1054–1054, 2018.
- [242] Y. Q. Yan, W. Jiang, L. Liu, X. Q. Wang, C. Ding, Z. G. Tian, and R. B. Zhou, "Dopamine controls systemic inflammation through inhibition of nlrp3 inflammasome," *Cell*, vol. 160, no. 1-2, pp. 62–73, 2015.
- [243] T. Prochnicki, M. S. Mangan, and E. Latz, "Recent insights into the molecular mechanisms of the nlrp3 inflammasome activation," *F1000Research*, vol. 5, 2016.

- [244] M. J. D. Daniels, J. Rivers-Auty, T. Schilling, N. G. Spencer, W. Watremez, V. Fasolino, S. J. Booth, C. S. White, A. G. Baldwin, S. Freeman, R. Wong, C. Latta, S. Yu, J. Jackson, N. Fischer, V. Koziel, T. Pillot, J. Bagnall, S. M. Allan, P. Paszek, J. Galea, M. K. Harte, C. Eder, C. B. Lawrence, and D. Brough, "Fenamate nsaids inhibit the nlrp3 inflammasome and protect against alzheimer's disease in rodent models," *Nature Communications*, vol. 7, no. 12504, pp. 1–10, 2016.
- [245] R. Domingo-Fernandez, R. C. Coll, J. Kearney, S. Breit, and L. A. J. O'Neill, "The intracellular chloride channel proteins clic1 and clic4 induce il-1 beta transcription and activate the nlrp3 inflammasome," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 292, no. 29, pp. 12077–12087, 2017.
- [246] T. T. Tang, X. T. Lang, C. F. Xu, X. Q. Wang, T. Gong, Y. Q. Yang, J. Cui, L. Bai, J. Wang, W. Jiang, and R. B. Zhou, "Clics-dependent chloride efflux is an essential and proximal upstream event for nlrp3 inflammasome activation," *Nature Communications*, vol. 8, no. 202, pp. 1–12, 2017.
- [247] B. S. Franklin, M. S. Mangan, and E. Latz, Crystal Formation in Inflammation, vol. 34 of Annual Review of Immunology, pp. 173–202. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews, 2016.
- [248] S. L. Masters, A. Dunne, S. L. Subramanian, R. L. Hull, G. M. Tannahill, F. A. Sharp, C. Becker, L. Franchi, E. Yoshihara, Z. Chen, N. Mullooly, L. A. Mielke, J. Harris, R. C. Coll, K. H. G. Mills, K. H. Mok, P. Newsholme, G. Nunez, J. Yodoi, S. E. Kahn, E. C. Lavelle, and L. A. J. O'Neill, "Activation of the nlrp3 inflammasome by islet amyloid polypeptide provides a mechanism for enhanced il-1 beta in type 2 diabetes," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 897–904, 2010.
- [249] P. Duewell, H. Kono, K. J. Rayner, C. M. Sirois, G. Vladimer, F. G. Bauernfeind, G. S. Abela, L. Franchi, G. Nunez, M. Schnurr, T. Espevik, E. Lien, K. A. Fitzgerald, K. L. Rock, K. J. Moore, S. D. Wright, V. Hornung, and E. Latz, "Nlrp3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals," *Nature*, vol. 464, no. 7293, pp. 1357–1361, 2010.
- [250] N. Riteau, L. Baron, B. Villeret, N. Guillou, F. Savigny, B. Ryffel, F. Rassendren, M. Le Bert, A. Gombault, and I. Couillin, "Atp release and purinergic signaling: a common pathway for particle-mediated inflammasome activation," *Cell Death & Disease*, vol. 3, no. e43, pp. 1–10, 2012.
- [251] A. J. Wolf, C. N. Reyes, W. B. Liang, C. Becker, K. Shimada, M. L. Wheeler, H. C. Cho, N. I. Popescu, K. M. Coggeshall, M. Arditi, and D. M. Underhill, "Hexokinase is an innate immune receptor for the detection of bacterial peptidoglycan," *Cell*, vol. 166, no. 3, pp. 624–636, 2016.
- [252] C. J. Gross, R. Mishra, K. S. Schneider, G. Medard, J. Wettmarshausen, D. C. Dittlein, H. X. Shi, O. Gorka, P. A. Koenig, S. Fromm, G. Magnani,

T. Cikovic, L. Hartjes, J. Smollich, A. A. B. Robertson, M. A. Cooper, M. Schmidt-Supprian, M. Schuster, K. Schroder, P. Broz, C. Traidl-Hoffmann, B. Beutler, B. Kuster, J. Ruland, S. Schneider, F. Perocchi, and O. Gross, "K+ efflux-independent nlrp3 inflammasome activation by small molecules targeting mitochondria," *Immunity*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 761–773, 2016.

- [253] L. E. Sanman, Y. Qian, N. A. Eisle, T. M. Ng, W. A. Van der Linden, D. M. Monack, E. Weerapana, and M. Bogyo, "Disruption of glycolytic flux is a signal for inflammasome signaling and pyroptotic cell death," *Elife*, vol. 5, pp. 1–32, 2016.
- [254] J. M. Abais, M. Xia, Y. Zhang, K. M. Boini, and P. L. Li, "Redox regulation of nlrp3 inflammasomes: Ros as trigger or effector?," *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, vol. 22, no. 13, pp. 1111–1129, 2015.
- [255] S. S. Iyer, Q. He, J. R. Janczy, E. I. Elliott, Z. Zhong, A. K. Olivier, J. J. Sadler, V. Knepper-Adrian, R. Z. Han, L. Qiao, S. C. Eisenbarth, W. M. Nauseef, S. L. Cassel, and F. S. Sutterwala, "Mitochondrial cardiolipin is required for nlrp3 inflammasome activation," *Immunity*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 311–323, 2013.
- [256] J. Dudek, "Role of cardiolipin in mitochondrial signaling pathways," Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, vol. 5, no. 90, pp. 1–17, 2017.
- [257] F. R. Greten, M. C. Arkan, J. Bollrath, L. C. Hsu, J. Goode, C. Miething, S. I. Goktuna, M. Neuenhahn, J. Fierer, S. Paxian, N. Van Rooijen, Y. J. Xu, T. O'Cain, B. B. Jaffee, D. H. Busch, J. Duyster, R. M. Schmid, L. Eckmann, and M. Karin, "Nf-kappa b is a negative regulator of il-1 beta secretion as revealed by genetic and pharmacological inhibition of ikk beta," *Cell*, vol. 130, no. 5, pp. 918–931, 2007.
- [258] P. J. Baker, D. Boucher, D. Bierschenk, C. Tebartz, P. G. Whitney, D. B. D'Silva, M. C. Tanzer, M. Monteleone, A. A. B. Robertson, M. A. Cooper, S. Alvarez-Diaz, M. J. Herold, S. Bedoui, K. Schroder, and S. L. Masters, "Nlrp3 inflammasome activation downstream of cytoplasmic lps recognition by both caspase-4 and caspase-5," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 45, no. 10, pp. 2918–2926, 2015.
- [259] I. Zanoni, Y. H. Tan, M. Di Gioia, A. Broggi, J. B. Ruan, J. J. Shi, C. A. Donado, F. Shao, H. Wu, J. R. Springstead, and J. C. Kagan, "An endogenous caspase-11 ligand elicits interleukin-1 release from living dendritic cells," *Science*, vol. 352, no. 6290, pp. 1232–1236, 2016.
- [260] C. L. Evavold, J. B. Ruan, Y. H. Tan, S. Y. Xia, H. Wu, and J. C. Kagan, "The pore-forming protein gasdermin d regulates interleukin-1 secretion from living macrophages," *Immunity*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 35–44, 2018.
- [261] I. Zanoni, Y. H. Tan, M. Di Gioia, J. R. Springstead, and J. C. Kagan, "By capturing inflammatory lipids released from dying cells, the receptor cd14 induces

inflammasome-dependent phagocyte hyperactivation," *Immunity*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 697–709, 2017.

- [262] D. Younger, M. Murugan, K. V. Rama Rao, L. J. Wu, and N. Chandra, "Microglia receptors in animal models of traumatic brain injury," *Molecular Neurobiology*, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 5202–5228, 2018.
- [263] J. Ock, J. Jeong, W. S. Choi, W. H. Lee, S. H. Kim, I. K. Kim, and K. Suk, "Regulation of toll-like receptor 4 expression and its signaling by hypoxia in cultured microglia," *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, vol. 85, no. 9, pp. 1989–1995, 2007.
- [264] K. Fan, J. Ma, W. Xiao, J. Chen, J. Wu, J. Ren, J. Hou, Y. Hu, J. Gu, and B. Yu, "Mangiferin attenuates blast-induced traumatic brain injury via inhibiting nlrp3 inflammasome," *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, vol. 271, pp. 15–23, 2017.
- [265] J. Ma, W. Xiao, J. Wang, J. Wu, J. Ren, J. Hou, J. Gu, K. Fan, and B. Yu, "Propofol inhibits nlrp3 inflammasome and attenuates blast-induced traumatic brain injury in rats," *Inflammation*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 2094–2103, 2016.
- [266] A. Dupire, P. Kant, N. Mons, A. R. Marchand, E. Coutureau, J. Dalrymple-Alford, and M. Wolff, "A role for anterior thalamic nuclei in affective cognition: interaction with environmental conditions," *Hippocampus*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 392–404, 2013.
- [267] J. Lutz, L. Jager, D. de Quervain, T. Krauseneck, F. Padberg, M. Wichnalek, A. Beyer, R. Stahl, B. Zirngibl, D. Morhard, M. Reiser, and G. Schelling, "White and gray matter abnormalities in the brain of patients with fibromyalgia: a diffusion-tensor and volumetric imaging study," Arthritis & Rheumatology, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 3960–3969, 2008.
- [268] N. A. Pike, B. Roy, R. Gupta, S. Singh, M. A. Woo, N. J. Halnon, A. B. Lewis, and R. Kumar, "Brain abnormalities in cognition, anxiety, and depression regulatory regions in adolescents with single ventricle heart disease," *Journal* of Neuroscience Research, vol. 96, no. 6, pp. 1104–1118, 2018.
- [269] R. P. Vertes, S. B. Linley, and W. B. Hoover, "Limbic circuitry of the midline thalamus," *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 54, pp. 89–107, 2015.
- [270] A. M. Minogue, "Role of infiltrating monocytes/macrophages in acute and chronic neuroinflammation: Effects on cognition, learning and affective behaviour," *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 79, no. Pt A, pp. 15–18, 2017.
- [271] S. M. Ryan and Y. M. Nolan, "Neuroinflammation negatively affects adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognition: can exercise compensate?," *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 61, pp. 121–131, 2016.

- [272] S. E. Hickman, N. D. Kingery, T. K. Ohsumi, M. L. Borowsky, L. C. Wang, T. K. Means, and J. El Khoury, "The microglial sensome revealed by direct rna sequencing," *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 16, no. 12, pp. 1896–1905, 2013.
- [273] Z. Y. Zhang, Z. R. Zhang, M. Artelt, M. Burnet, and H. J. Schluesener, "Dexamethasone attenuates early expression of three molecules associated with microglia/macrophages activation following rat traumatic brain injury," *Acta Neuropathologica*, vol. 113, no. 6, pp. 675–682, 2007.
- [274] Z. Liu, F. Wang, M. Tang, Y. Zhao, and X. Wang, "Amyloid beta and tau are involved in sleep disorder in alzheimer's disease by orexin a and adenosine a(1) receptor," *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 435–442, 2019.
- [275] M. Matusiak, N. Van Opdenbosch, and M. Lamkanfi, "Card- and pyrin-only proteins regulating inflammasome activation and immunity," *Immunological Reviews*, vol. 265, no. 1, pp. 217–230, 2015.
- [276] P. Broz, J. von Moltke, J. W. Jones, R. E. Vance, and D. M. Monack, "Differential requirement for caspase-1 autoproteolysis in pathogen-induced cell death and cytokine processing," *Cell Host Microbe*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 471–483, 2010.
- [277] A. Denes, G. Lopez-Castejon, and D. Brough, "Caspase-1: is il-1 just the tip of the iceberg?," *Cell death & disease*, vol. 3, no. 7, pp. e338–e338, 2012.
- [278] O. R. Shamaa, S. Mitra, M. A. Gavrilin, and M. D. Wewers, "Monocyte caspase-1 is released in a stable, active high molecular weight complex distinct from the unstable cell lysate-activated caspase-1," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 10, no. 11, p. e0142203, 2015.
- [279] R. A. Armonda, R. S. Bell, A. H. Vo, G. Ling, T. J. DeGraba, B. Crandall, J. Ecklund, and W. W. Campbell, "Wartime traumatic cerebral vasospasm: Recent review of combat casualties," *Neurosurgery*, vol. 59, no. 6, pp. 1215–1225, 2006.
- [280] H. L. Lew, J. F. Jerger, S. B. Guillory, and J. A. Henry, "Auditory dysfunction in traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 921–928, 2007.
- [281] C. L. Mac Donald, A. M. Johnson, D. Cooper, E. C. Nelson, N. J. Werner, J. S. Shimony, A. Z. Snyder, M. E. Raichle, J. R. Witherow, R. Fang, S. F. Flaherty, and D. L. Brody, "Detection of blast-related traumatic brain injury in u.s. military personnel," *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 364, no. 22, pp. 2091–2100, 2011.
- [282] V. E. Koliatsos, I. Cernak, L. Xu, Y. Song, A. Savonenko, B. J. Crain, C. G. Eberhart, C. E. Frangakis, T. Melnikova, and H. Kim, "A mouse model of blast injury to brain: initial pathological, neuropathological, and behavioral characterization," *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 399–416, 2011.

- [283] C. Song, D. F. Horrobin, and B. E. Leonard, "The comparison of changes in behavior, neurochemistry, endocrine, and immune functions after different routes, doses and durations of administrations of il-1 beta pin rats," *Pharmacopsychiatry*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 88–99, 2006.
- [284] C. D. Breder, C. A. Dinarello, and C. B. Saper, "Interleukin-1 immunoreactive innervation of the human hypothalamus," *Science*, vol. 240, no. 4850, pp. 321–324, 1988.
- [285] H. Neumann, "Control of glial immune function by neurons," Glia, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 191–199, 2001.
- [286] A. M. Vandam, M. Brouns, S. Louisse, and F. Berkenbosch, "Appearance of interleukin-1 in macrophages and in ramified microglia in the brain of endotoxin-treated rats - a pathway for the induction of nonspecific symptoms of sickness," *Brain Research*, vol. 588, no. 2, pp. 291–296, 1992.
- [287] L. R. Watkins, S. F. Maier, and L. E. Goehler, "Cytokine-to-brain communication a review and analysis of alternative mechanisms," *Life Sciences*, vol. 57, no. 11, pp. 1011–1026, 1995.
- [288] J. A. Watt and N. K. Hobbs, "Interleukin-1 beta immunoreactivity in identified neurons of the rat magnocellular neurosecretory system: Evidence for activity-dependent release," *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 478–489, 2000.
- [289] C. J. March, B. Mosley, A. Larsen, D. P. Cerretti, G. Braedt, V. Price, S. Gillis, C. S. Henney, S. R. Kronheim, K. Grabstein, P. J. Conlon, T. P. Hopp, and D. Cosman, "Cloning, sequence and expression of 2 distinct human interleukin-1 complementary dnas," *Nature*, vol. 315, no. 6021, pp. 641–647, 1985.
- [290] C. A. Dinarello, "Biology of interleukin-1," Faseb Journal, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 108–115, 1988.
- [291] W. L. Farrar, P. L. Kilian, M. R. Ruff, J. M. Hill, and C. B. Pert, "Visualization and characterization of interleukin-1 receptors in brain," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 139, no. 2, pp. 459–463, 1987.
- [292] P. Parnet, K. W. Kelley, R. M. Bluthe, and R. Dantzer, "Expression and regulation of interleukin-1 receptors in the brain. role in cytokines-induced sickness behavior," *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, vol. 125, no. 1-2, pp. 5–14, 2002.
- [293] A. J. Dunn, "Systemic interleukin-1 administration stimulates hypothalamic norepinephrine metabolism parallelling the increased plasma-corticosterone," *Life Sciences*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 429–435, 1988.
- [294] C. Song, Z. Merali, and H. Anisman, "Variations of nucleus accumbens dopamine and serotonin following systemic interleukin-1, interleukin-2 or interleukin-6 treatment," *Neuroscience*, vol. 88, no. 3, pp. 823–836, 1999.

- [295] M. Gibertini, C. Newton, H. Friedman, and T. W. Klein, "Spatial-learning impairment in mice infected with legionella-pneumophila or administered exogenous interleukin-1-beta," *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 113–128, 1995.
- [296] S. Kent, R. M. Bluthe, K. W. Kelley, and R. Dantzer, "Sickness behavior as a new target for drug development," *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 24–28, 1992.
- [297] T. J. Connor, C. Song, B. E. Leonard, Z. Merali, and H. Anisman, "An assessment of the effects of central interleukin-1 beta, -2, -6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha administration on some behavioural, neurochemical, endocrine and immune parameters in the rat," *Neuroscience*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 923–933, 1998.
- [298] H. Moldofsky, "Sleep, neuroimmune and neuroendocrine functions in fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome," Advances in Neuroimmunology, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 39–56, 1995.
- [299] C. Song, X. W. Li, B. E. Leonard, and D. F. Horrobin, "Effects of dietary n-3 or n-6 fatty acids on interleukin-1 beta-induced anxiety, stress, and inflammatory responses in rats," *Journal of Lipid Research*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1984–1991, 2003.
- [300] F. Spadaro and A. J. Dunn, "Intracerebroventricular administration of interleukin-1 to mice alters investigation of stimuli in a novel environment," *Brain Behavior* and Immunity, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 308–322, 1990.
- [301] C. R. Platasalaman, Y. Oomura, and Y. Kai, "Tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1-beta - suppression of food-intake by direct action in the central nervoussystem," *Brain Research*, vol. 448, no. 1, pp. 106–114, 1988.
- [302] F. Crestani, F. Seguy, and R. Dantzer, "Behavioral-effects of peripherally injected interleukin-1 - role of prostaglandins," *Brain Research*, vol. 542, no. 2, pp. 330– 335, 1991.
- [303] M. Niimi, M. Sato, Y. Wada, J. Takahara, and K. Kawanishi, "Effect of central and continuous intravenous injection of interleukin-1 beta on brain c-fos expression in the rat: Involvement of prostaglandins," *Neuroimmunomodulation*, vol. 3, no. 2-3, pp. 87–92, 1996.
- [304] L. Vitkovic, J. P. Konsman, J. Bockaert, R. Dantzer, V. Homburger, and C. Jacque, "Cytokine signals propagate through the brain," *Molecular Psychiatry*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 604–615, 2000.
- [305] R. M. Bluthe, R. Dantzer, and K. W. Kelley, "Central mediation of the effects of interleukin-1 on social exploration and body weight in mice," *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 1997.

- [306] R. Dantzer, R.-M. Bluthé, A. Aubert, G. Goodall, J.-L. Bret-Dibat, S. Kent, E. Goujon, S. Layé, P. Parnet, and K. Kelley, *Cytokine Actions on Behavior*, pp. 117–144. 1996.
- [307] H. Anisman and Z. Merali, Anhedonic and anxiogenic effects of cytokine exposure, vol. 461 of Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, pp. 199–233. New York: Kluwer Academic / Plenum Publ, 1999.
- [308] T. Egawa, K. Mishima, N. Egashira, M. Fukuzawa, K. Abe, T. Yae, K. Iwasaki, and M. Fujiwara, "Impairment of spatial memory in kaolin-induced hydrocephalic rats is associated with changes in the hippocampal cholinergic and noradrenergic contents," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 129, no. 1-2, pp. 31–39, 2002.
- [309] A. M. Dickens, L. B. Tovar-y Romo, S. W. Yoo, A. L. Trout, M. Bae, M. Kanmogne, B. Megra, D. W. Williams, K. W. Witwer, M. Gacias, N. Tabatadze, R. N. Cole, P. Casaccia, J. W. Berman, D. C. Anthony, and N. J. Haughey, "Astrocyte-shed extracellular vesicles regulate the peripheral leukocyte response to inflammatory brain lesions," *Science Signaling*, vol. 10, no. 473, pp. 1–12, 2017.
- [310] M. G. Proescholdt, S. Chakravarty, J. A. Foster, S. B. Foti, E. M. Briley, and M. Herkenham, "Intracerebroventricular but not intravenous interleukin-1 beta induces widespread vascular-mediated leukocyte infiltration and immune signal mrna expression followed by brain-wide glial activation," *Neuroscience*, vol. 112, no. 3, pp. 731–749, 2002.
- [311] F. Rivera-Escalera, S. B. Matousek, S. Ghosh, J. A. Olschowka, and M. K. O'Banion, "Interleukin-1β mediated amyloid plaque clearance is independent of ccr2 signaling in the app/ps1 mouse model of alzheimer's disease," *Neurobiology* of Disease, vol. 69, pp. 124–133, 2014.
- [312] S. S. Shaftel, T. J. Carlson, J. A. Olschowka, S. Kyrkanides, S. B. Matousek, and M. K. O'Banion, "Chronic interleukin-1 beta expression in mouse brain leads to leukocyte infiltration and neutrophil-independent blood brain barrier permeability without overt neurodegeneration," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 27, no. 35, pp. 9301–9309, 2007.
- [313] S. M. Krasnow, J. G. Knoll, S. C. Verghese, P. R. Levasseur, and D. L. Marks, "Amplification and propagation of interleukin-1 beta signaling by murine brain endothelial and glial cells," *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, vol. 14, no. 133, pp. 1–18, 2017.
- [314] D. B. Stanimirovic, J. Wong, A. Shapiro, and J. P. Durkin, Increase in surface expression of ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin in human cerebromicrovascular endothelial cells subjected to ischemia-like insults, vol. 70 of Acta Neurochirurgica Supplementa, pp. 12–16. Vienna: Springer-Verlag Wien, 1997.
- [315] A. T. Argaw, L. Asp, J. Y. Zhang, K. Navrazhina, T. Pham, J. N. Mariani, S. Mahase, D. J. Dutta, J. Seto, E. G. Kramer, N. Ferrara, M. V. Sofroniew, and G. R. John, "Astrocyte-derived vegf-a drives blood-brain barrier disruption in cns inflammatory disease," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 122, no. 7, pp. 2454–2468, 2012.
- [316] M. Bernardes-Silva, D. C. Anthony, A. C. Issekutz, and V. H. Perry, "Recruitment of neutrophils across the blood-brain barrier: The role of e- and p-selectins," *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, vol. 21, no. 9, pp. 1115–1124, 2001.
- [317] A. Depino, C. Ferrari, M. C. P. Godoy, R. Tarelli, and F. J. Pitossi, "Differential effects of interleukin-1 beta on neurotoxicity, cytokine induction and glial reaction in specific brain regions," *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, vol. 168, no. 1-2, pp. 96–110, 2005.
- [318] C. C. Ferrari, A. M. Depino, F. Prada, N. Muraro, S. Campbell, O. Podhajcer, V. H. Perry, D. C. Anthony, and F. J. Pitossi, "Reversible demyelination, blood-brain barrier breakdown, and pronounced neutrophil recruitment induced by chronic il-1 expression in the brain," *American Journal of Pathology*, vol. 165, no. 5, pp. 1827–1837, 2004.
- [319] C. Allen, P. Thornton, A. Denes, B. W. McColl, A. Pierozynski, M. Monestier, E. Pinteaux, N. J. Rothwell, and S. M. Allan, "Neutrophil cerebrovascular transmigration triggers rapid neurotoxicity through release of proteases associated with decondensed dna," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 189, no. 1, pp. 381–392, 2012.
- [320] J. Y. Kim, J. Park, J. Y. Chang, S. H. Kim, and J. E. Lee, "Inflammation after ischemic stroke: The role of leukocytes and glial cells," *Experimental Neurobiology*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 241–251, 2016.
- [321] S. H. Baik, M. Y. Cha, Y. M. Hyun, H. Cho, B. Hamza, D. K. Kim, S. H. Han, H. Choi, K. H. Kim, M. Moon, J. Lee, M. Kim, D. Irimia, and I. Mook-Jung, "Migration of neutrophils targeting amyloid plaques in alzheimer's disease mouse model," *Neurobiology of Aging*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 1286–1292, 2014.
- [322] E. Zenaro, E. Pietronigro, V. Della Bianca, G. Piacentino, L. Marongiu, S. Budui, E. Turano, B. Rossi, S. Angiari, S. Dusi, A. Montresor, T. Carlucci, S. Nani, G. Tosadori, L. Calciano, D. Catalucci, G. Berton, B. Bonetti, and G. Constantin, "Neutrophils promote alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline via lfa-1 integrin," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 880–886, 2015.
- [323] C. Baecher-Allan, B. J. Kaskow, and H. L. Weiner, "Multiple sclerosis: Mechanisms and immunotherapy," *Neuron*, vol. 97, no. 4, pp. 742–768, 2018.

- [324] P. F. Fabene, G. N. Mora, M. Martinello, B. Rossi, F. Merigo, L. Ottoboni, S. Bach, S. Angiari, D. Benati, A. Chakir, L. Zanetti, F. Schio, A. Osculati, P. Marzola, E. Nicolato, J. W. Homeister, L. J. Xia, J. B. Lowe, R. P. McEver, F. Osculati, A. Sbarbati, E. C. Butcher, and G. Constantin, "A role for leukocyte-endothelial adhesion mechanisms in epilepsy," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 1377–1383, 2008.
- [325] R. C. Coll, J. R. Hill, C. J. Day, A. Zamoshnikova, D. Boucher, N. L. Massey, J. L. Chitty, J. A. Fraser, M. P. Jennings, A. A. B. Robertson, and K. Schroder, "Mcc950 directly targets the nlrp3 atp- hydrolysis motif for inflammasome inhibition," *Nature Chemical Biology*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 556–559, 2019.
- [326] R. C. Coll, A. A. B. Robertson, J. J. Chae, S. C. Higgins, R. Munoz-Planillo, M. C. Inserra, I. Vetter, L. S. Dungan, B. G. Monks, A. Stutz, D. E. Croker, M. S. Butler, M. Haneklaus, C. E. Sutton, G. Nunez, E. Latz, D. L. Kastner, K. H. G. Mills, S. L. Masters, K. Schroder, M. A. Cooper, and L. A. J. O'Neill, "A small-molecule inhibitor of the nlrp3 inflammasome for the treatment of inflammatory diseases," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 248–255, 2015.
- [327] R. C. Coll and L. A. J. O'Neill, "The cytokine release inhibitory drug crid3 targets asc oligomerisation in the nlrp3 and aim2 inflammasomes," *PLOS ONE*, vol. 6, no. 12, p. e29539, 2011.
- [328] R. E. Laliberte, D. G. Perregaux, L. R. Hoth, P. J. Rosner, C. K. Jordan, K. M. Peese, J. F. Eggler, M. A. Dombroski, K. F. Geoghegan, and C. A. Gabel, "Glutathione s-transferase omega 1-1 is a target of cytokine release inhibitory drugs and may be responsible for their effect on interleukin-1 beta posttranslational processing," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 278, no. 19, pp. 16567–16578, 2003.
- [329] H. Van Gorp, P. H. V. Saavedra, N. M. de Vasconcelos, N. Van Opdenbosch, L. Vande Walle, M. Matusiak, G. Prencipe, A. Insalaco, F. Van Hauwermeiren, D. Demon, D. J. Bogaert, M. Dullaers, E. De Baere, T. Hochepied, J. Dehoorne, K. Y. Vermaelen, F. Haerynck, F. De Benedetti, and M. Lamkanfi, "Familial mediterranean fever mutations lift the obligatory requirement for microtubules in pyrin inflammasome activation," *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 113, no. 50, pp. 14384–14389, 2016.
- [330] M. M. Gaidt, T. S. Ebert, D. Chauhan, T. Schmidt, J. L. Schmid-Burgk, F. Rapino, A. A. Robertson, M. A. Cooper, T. Graf, and V. Hornung, "Human monocytes engage an alternative inflammasome pathway," *Immunity*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 833–846, 2016.
- [331] C. Dempsey, A. R. Araiz, K. J. Bryson, O. Finucane, C. Larkin, E. L. Mills, A. A. B. Robertson, M. A. Cooper, L. A. J. O'Neill, and M. A. Lynch, "Inhibiting the nlrp3 inflammasome with mcc950 promotes non-phlogistic clearance of

amyloid-beta and cognitive function in app/ps1 mice," Brain Behavior and Immunity, vol. 61, pp. 306–316, 2017.

- [332] S. Ismael, S. Nasoohi, and T. Ishrat, "Mcc950, the selective inhibitor of nucleotide oligomerization domain (nod)-like receptor protein-3 inflammasome, protects mice against traumatic brain injury," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 35, no. 11, pp. 1294–1303, 2018.
- [333] J. P. de Rivero Vaccari, W. D. Dietrich, and R. W. Keane, "Therapeutics targeting the inflammasome after central nervous system injury," *Translational Research* : The Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine, vol. 167, no. 1, pp. 35–45, 2016.
- [334] G. G. Calhoon and K. M. Tye, "Resolving the neural circuits of anxiety," Nature Neuroscience, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 1394–1404, 2015.
- [335] A. Adhikari, "Distributed circuits underlying anxiety," Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, vol. 8, p. 6, 2014.
- [336] A. Degroot and D. Treit, "Anxiety is functionally segregated within the septohippocampal system," *Brain Research*, vol. 1001, no. 1-2, pp. 60–71, 2004.
- [337] A. S. Eden, J. Schreiber, A. Anwander, K. Keuper, I. Laeger, P. Zwanzger, P. Zwitserlood, H. Kugel, and C. Dobel, "Emotion regulation and trait anxiety are predicted by the microstructure of fibers between amygdala and prefrontal cortex," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 35, no. 15, pp. 6020–6027, 2015.
- [338] A. Etkin, K. E. Prater, A. F. Schatzberg, V. Menon, and M. D. Greicius, "Disrupted amygdalar subregion functional connectivity and evidence of a compensatory network in generalized anxiety disorder," Archives of General Psychiatry, vol. 66, no. 12, pp. 1361–1372, 2009.
- [339] E. Irle, M. Ruhleder, C. Lange, U. Seidler-Brandler, S. Salzer, P. Dechent, G. Weniger, E. Leibing, and F. Leichsenring, "Reduced amygdalar and hippocampal size in adults with generalized social phobia," *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 126–131, 2010.
- [340] S. Y. Kim, A. Adhikari, S. Y. Lee, J. H. Marshel, C. K. Kim, C. S. Mallory, M. Lo, S. Pak, J. Mattis, B. K. Lim, R. C. Malenka, M. R. Warden, R. Neve, K. M. Tye, and K. Deisseroth, "Diverging neural pathways assemble a behavioural state from separable features in anxiety," *Nature*, vol. 496, no. 7444, pp. 219– 223, 2013.
- [341] E. Likhtik, J. M. Stujenske, M. A. Topiwala, A. Z. Harris, and J. A. Gordon, "Prefrontal entrainment of amygdala activity signals safety in learned fear and innate anxiety," *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 106–113, 2014.

- [342] K. M. Tye, R. Prakash, S. Y. Kim, L. E. Fenno, L. Grosenick, H. Zarabi, K. R. Thompson, V. Gradinaru, C. Ramakrishnan, and K. Deisseroth, "Amygdala circuitry mediating reversible and bidirectional control of anxiety," *Nature*, vol. 471, no. 7338, pp. 358–362, 2011.
- [343] M. A. Yassa, R. L. Hazlett, C. E. L. Stark, and R. Hoehn-Saric, "Functional mri of the amygdala and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis during conditions of uncertainty in generalized anxiety disorder," *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, vol. 46, no. 8, pp. 1045–1052, 2012.
- [344] P. Tovote, J. P. Fadok, and A. Luthi, "Neuronal circuits for fear and anxiety," Nature Reviews Neuroscience, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 317–331, 2015.
- [345] A. J. McDonald, "Cortical pathways to the mammalian amygdala," *Progress in Neurobiology*, vol. 55, no. 3, pp. 257–332, 1998.
- [346] A. J. McDonald, "Neurons of the lateral and basolateral amygdaloid nuclei a golgistudy in the rat," *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, vol. 212, no. 3, pp. 293– 312, 1982.
- [347] A. J. McDonald, "Immunohistochemical identification of gamma-aminobutyric acidcontaining neurons in the rat basolateral amygdala," *Neuroscience Letters*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 203–207, 1985.
- [348] D. G. Rainnie, I. Mania, F. Mascagni, and A. J. McDonald, "Physiological and morphological characterization of parvalbumin containing interneurons of the rat basolateral amygdala," *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, vol. 498, no. 1, pp. 142–161, 2006.
- [349] P. H. Janak and K. M. Tye, "From circuits to behaviour in the amygdala," Nature, vol. 517, no. 7534, pp. 284–292, 2015.
- [350] S. Maren and G. J. Quirk, "Neuronal signalling of fear memory," Nature Reviews Neuroscience, vol. 5, no. 11, pp. 844–852, 2004.
- [351] M. G. McKernan and P. ShinnickGallagher, "Fear conditioning induces a lasting potentiation of synaptic currents in vitro," *Nature*, vol. 390, no. 6660, pp. 607– 611, 1997.
- [352] M. T. Rogan, U. V. Staubli, and J. E. LeDoux, "Fear conditioning induces associative long-term potentiation in the amygdala," *Nature*, vol. 390, no. 6660, pp. 604– 607, 1997.
- [353] P. Namburi, A. Beyeler, S. Yorozu, G. G. Calhoon, S. A. Halbert, R. Wichmann, S. S. Holden, K. L. Mertens, M. Anahtar, A. C. Felix-Ortiz, I. R. Wickersham, J. M. Gray, and K. M. Tye, "A circuit mechanism for differentiating positive and negative associations," *Nature*, vol. 520, no. 7549, pp. 675–678, 2015.

- [354] A. J. McDonald, "Cytoarchitecture of the central amygdaloid nucleus of the rat," Journal of Comparative Neurology, vol. 208, no. 4, pp. 401–418, 1982.
- [355] S. Duvarci and D. Pare, "Amygdala microcircuits controlling learned fear," Neuron, vol. 82, no. 5, pp. 966–980, 2014.
- [356] K. M. Tye and K. Deisseroth, "Optogenetic investigation of neural circuits underlying brain disease in animal models," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 251–266, 2012.
- [357] A. S. Fox, J. A. Oler, D. P. M. Tromp, J. L. Fudge, and N. H. Kalin, "Extending the amygdala in theories of threat processing," *Trends in Neurosciences*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 319–329, 2015.
- [358] A. C. Felix-Ortiz, A. Beyeler, C. Seo, C. A. Leppla, C. P. Wildes, and K. M. Tye, "Bla to vhpc inputs modulate anxiety-related behaviors," *Neuron*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 658–664, 2013.
- [359] A. Pitkanen, M. Pikkarainen, N. Nurminen, and A. Ylinen, Reciprocal connections between the amygdala and the hippocampal formation, perirhinal cortex, and postrhinal cortex in rat - A review, vol. 911 of Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, pp. 369–391. New York: New York Acad Sciences, 2000.
- [360] M. Davis, D. L. Walker, L. Miles, and C. Grillon, "Phasic vs sustained fear in rats and humans: Role of the extended amygdala in fear vs anxiety," *Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 105–135, 2010.
- [361] J. H. Jennings, D. R. Sparta, A. M. Stamatakis, R. L. Ung, K. E. Pleil, T. L. Kash, and G. D. Stuber, "Distinct extended amygdala circuits for divergent motivational states," *Nature*, vol. 496, no. 7444, pp. 224–228, 2013.
- [362] J. P. Christianson, J. H. Jennings, T. Ragole, J. G. N. Flyer, A. M. Benison, D. S. Barth, L. R. Watkins, and S. F. Maier, "Safety signals mitigate the consequences of uncontrollable stress via a circuit involving the sensory insular cortex and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis," *Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 458–464, 2011.
- [363] J. A. Hobin, K. A. Goosens, and S. Maren, "Context-dependent neuronal activity in the lateral amygdala represents fear memories after extinction," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 23, no. 23, pp. 8410–8416, 2003.
- [364] W. E. Cullinan, J. P. Herman, and S. J. Watson, "Ventral subicular interaction with the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus - evidence for a relay in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis," *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, vol. 332, no. 1, pp. 1–20, 1993.
- [365] H. W. Dong, G. D. Petrovich, and L. W. Swanson, "Topography of projections from amygdala to bed nuclei of the stria terminalis," *Brain Research Reviews*, vol. 38, no. 1-2, pp. 192–246, 2001.

- [366] A. M. Stamatakis, D. R. Sparta, J. H. Jennings, Z. A. McElligott, H. Decot, and G. D. Stuber, "Amygdala and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis circuitry: Implications for addiction-related behaviors," *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 76, pp. 320–328, 2014.
- [367] C. Herry, S. Ciocchi, V. Senn, L. Demmou, C. Muller, and A. Luthi, "Switching on and off fear by distinct neuronal circuits," *Nature*, vol. 454, no. 7204, pp. 600–606, 2008.
- [368] C. Hubner, D. Bosch, A. Gall, A. Luthi, and I. Ehrlich, "Ex vivo dissection of optogenetically activated mpfc and hippocampal inputs to neurons in the basolateral amygdala: implications for fear and emotional memory," *Frontiers* in Behavioral Neuroscience, vol. 8, no. 64, pp. 1–18, 2014.
- [369] T. E. Anthony, N. Dee, A. Bernard, W. Lerchner, N. Heintz, and D. J. Anderson, "Control of stress-induced persistent anxiety by an extra-amygdala septohypothalamic circuit," *Cell*, vol. 156, no. 3, pp. 522–536, 2014.
- [370] H. H. Li, M. A. Penzo, H. Taniguchi, C. D. Kopec, Z. J. Huang, and B. Li, "Experience-dependent modification of a central amygdala fear circuit," *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 332–339, 2013.
- [371] M. A. Penzo, V. Robert, and B. Li, "Fear conditioning potentiates synaptic transmission onto long-range projection neurons in the lateral subdivision of central amygdala," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 2432–2437, 2014.
- [372] M. A. Penzo, V. Robert, J. Tucciarone, D. De Bundel, M. H. Wang, L. Van Aelst, M. Darvas, L. F. Parada, R. D. Palmiter, M. He, Z. J. Huang, and B. Li, "The paraventricular thalamus controls a central amygdala fear circuit," *Nature*, vol. 519, no. 7544, pp. 455–459, 2015.
- [373] H. J. Groenewegen, C. I. Wright, and H. B. Uylings, "The anatomical relationships of the prefrontal cortex with limbic structures and the basal ganglia," *Journal* of Psychopharmacology, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 99–106, 1997.
- [374] F. G. Graeff, M. B. Viana, and P. O. Mora, "Dual role of 5-ht in defense and anxiety," *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 791–799, 1997.
- [375] D. L. Walker, L. A. Miles, and M. Davis, "Selective participation of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and crf in sustained anxiety-like versus phasic fear-like responses," *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 1291–1308, 2009.
- [376] K. Itoi and N. Sugimoto, "The brainstem noradrenergic systems in stress, anxiety and depression," *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 355–361, 2010.

- [377] M. G. Baxter, ""i've seen it all before": Explaining age-related impairments in object recognition. theoretical comment on burke et al. (2010)," *Behavioral Neuroscience*, vol. 124, no. 5, pp. 706–709, 2010.
- [378] M. L. Reger, D. A. Hovda, and C. C. Giza, "Ontogeny of rat recognition memory measured by the novel object recognition task," *Developmental Psychobiology*, vol. 51, no. 8, pp. 672–678, 2009.
- [379] J. R. Clarke, M. Cammarota, A. Gruart, I. Izquierdo, and J. M. Delgado-Garcia, "Plastic modifications induced by object recognition memory processing," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 107, no. 6, pp. 2652–2657, 2010.
- [380] R. S. Hammond, L. E. Tull, and R. W. Stackman, "On the delay-dependent involvement of the hippocampus in object recognition memory," *Neurobiology* of Learning and Memory, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 26–34, 2004.
- [381] G. J. Mattiasson, M. F. Philips, G. Tomasevic, B. B. Johansson, T. Wieloch, and T. K. McIntosh, "The rotating pole test: evaluation of its effectiveness in assessing functional motor deficits following experimental head injury in the rat," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 95, no. 1, pp. 75–82, 2000.
- [382] P. Arun, D. M. Wilder, O. Eken, R. Urioste, A. Batuure, S. Sajja, S. Van Albert, Y. Wang, I. D. Gist, and J. B. Long, "Long-term effects of blast exposure: A functional study in rats using an advanced blast simulator," *Journal of Neurotrauma*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 647–655, 2020.
- [383] M. Antunes and G. Biala, "The novel object recognition memory: neurobiology, test procedure, and its modifications," *Cognitive Processing*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 93–110, 2012.
- [384] B. K. Goulart, M. N. M. de Lima, C. B. de Farias, G. K. Reolon, V. R. Almeida, J. Quevedo, F. Kapczinski, N. Schroder, and R. Roesler, "Ketamine impairs recognition memory consolidation and prevents learning-induced increase in hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels," *Neuroscience*, vol. 167, no. 4, pp. 969–973, 2010.
- [385] J. M. Silvers, S. B. Harrod, C. F. Mactutus, and R. M. Booze, "Automation of the novel object recognition task for use in adolescent rats," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 166, no. 1, pp. 99–103, 2007.
- [386] G. Taglialatela, D. Hogan, W. R. Zhang, and K. T. Dineley, "Intermediate- and long-term recognition memory deficits in tg2576 mice are reversed with acute calcineurin inhibition," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 200, no. 1, pp. 95–99, 2009.
- [387] S. Gaskin, M. Tardif, E. Cole, P. Piterkin, L. Kayello, and D. G. Mumby, "Object familiarization and novel-object preference in rats," *Behavioural Processes*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 61–71, 2010.

- [388] J. P. Aggleton, M. M. Albasser, D. J. Aggleton, G. L. Poirier, and J. M. Pearce, "Lesions of the rat perirhinal cortex spare the acquisition of a complex configural visual discrimination yet impair object recognition," *Behavioral Neuroscience*, vol. 124, no. 1, pp. 55–68, 2010.
- [389] T. Aubele, R. Kaufman, F. Montalmant, and M. F. Kritzer, "Effects of gonadectomy and hormone replacement on a spontaneous novel object recognition task in adult male rats," *Hormones and Behavior*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 244–252, 2008.
- [390] J. G. Bilsland, A. Wheeldon, A. Mead, P. Znamenskiy, S. Almond, K. A. Waters, M. Thakur, V. Beaumont, T. P. Bonnert, R. Heavens, P. Whiting, G. McAllister, and I. Munoz-Sanjuan, "Behavioral and neurochemical alterations in mice deficient in anaplastic lymphoma kinase suggest therapeutic potential for psychiatric indications," *Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 685–700, 2008.
- [391] N. J. Broadbent, S. Gaskin, L. R. Squire, and R. E. Clark, "Object recognition memory and the rodent hippocampus," *Learning & Memory*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 794–800, 2010.
- [392] R. E. Clark, S. M. Zola, and L. R. Squire, "Impaired recognition memory in rats after damage to the hippocampus," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 20, no. 23, pp. 8853–8860, 2000.
- [393] D. H. Barlow, Anxiety and its disorders: The nature and treatment of anxiety and panic, 2nd ed. Anxiety and its disorders: The nature and treatment of anxiety and panic, 2nd ed., New York, NY, US: Guilford Press, 2002.
- [394] M. Davis and C. J. Shi, The extended amygdala: Are the central nucleus of the amygdala and the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis differentially involved in fear versus anxiety?, vol. 877 of Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, pp. 281–291. New York: New York Acad Sciences, 1999.
- [395] J. A. Gray, "The neuropsychology of anxiety an inquiry into the functions of the septo-hippocampal system," *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 469–484, 1982.
- [396] A. Ohman and S. Mineka, "Fears, phobias, and preparedness: Toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning," *Psychological Review*, vol. 108, no. 3, pp. 483–522, 2001.
- [397] J. A. Russell, "A circumplex model of affect," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1161–1178, 1980.
- [398] B. G. Bereza, M. Machado, and T. R. Einarson, "Systematic review and quality assessment of economic evaluations and quality-of-life studies related to generalized anxiety disorder," *Clinical Therapeutics*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 1279–1308, 2009.

- [399] T. C. Mondin, C. E. Konradt, T. D. Cardoso, L. D. Quevedo, K. Jansen, L. de Mattos, R. T. Pinheiro, and R. A. da Silva, "Anxiety disorders in young people: a population-based study," *Revista Brasileira De Psiquiatria*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 347–352, 2013.
- [400] L. F. Pagotto, M. V. Mendlowicz, E. S. F. Coutinho, I. Figueira, M. P. Luz, A. X. Araujo, and W. Berger, "The impact of posttraumatic symptoms and comorbid mental disorders on the health-related quality of life in treatmentseeking ptsd patients," *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, vol. 58, pp. 68–73, 2015.
- [401] A. Ennaceur, "Tests of unconditioned anxiety pitfalls and disappointments," *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 135, pp. 55–71, 2014.
- [402] R. G. Lister, "The use of a plus-maze to measure anxiety in the mouse," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 180–185, 1987.
- [403] M. Bourin and M. Hascoet, "The mouse light/dark box test," European Journal of Pharmacology, vol. 463, no. 1-3, pp. 55–65, 2003.
- [404] J. N. Crawley, "Exploratory-behavior models of anxiety in mice," Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 37–44, 1985.
- [405] S. L. Handley and J. W. McBlane, "An assessment of the elevated x-maze for studying anxiety and anxiety-modulating drugs," *Journal of Pharmacological* and Toxicological Methods, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 129–138, 1993.
- [406] K. C. Montgomery, "The relation between fear induced by novel stimulation and exploratory behavior," *Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 254–260, 1955.
- [407] C. Salum, A. C. Roque-da Silva, and S. Morato, "Conflict as a determinant of rat behavior in three types of elevated plus-maze," *Behavioural Processes*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 87–93, 2003.
- [408] A. A. Walf and C. A. Frye, "The use of the elevated plus maze as an assay of anxietyrelated behavior in rodents," *Nature Protocols*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 322–328, 2007.
- [409] K. L. Baalman, R. J. Cotton, S. N. Rasband, and M. N. Rasband, "Blast wave exposure impairs memory and decreases axon initial segment length," *Journal* of Neurotrauma, vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 741–751, 2013.
- [410] Y. J. Ho, J. Eichendorff, and R. K. W. Schwarting, "Individual response profiles of male wistar rats in animal models for anxiety and depression," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 136, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2002.
- [411] C. Lever, S. Burton, and J. O'Keefe, "Rearing on hind legs, environmental novelty, and the hippocampal formation," *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, vol. 17, no. 1-2, pp. 111–133, 2006.

- [412] M. Carli, C. Prontera, and R. Samanin, "Effect of 5-ht1a agonists on stress-induced deficit in open-field locomotor-activity of rats - evidence that this model identifies anxiolytic-like activity," *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 471– 476, 1989.
- [413] E. F. Espejo, "Structure of the mouse behaviour on the elevated plus-maze test of anxiety," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 86, no. 1, pp. 105–112, 1997.
- [414] I. S. McGregor, G. A. Hargreaves, R. Apfelbach, and G. E. Hunt, "Neural correlates of cat odor-induced anxiety in rats: Region-specific effects of the benzodiazepine midazolam," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 24, no. 17, pp. 4134–4144, 2004.
- [415] J. H. F. Vanabeelen, "Genetics of rearing behavior in mice," Behavior Genetics, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 71–76, 1970.
- [416] R. A. Colorado, J. Shumake, N. M. Conejo, H. Gonzalez-Pardo, and F. Gonzalez-Lima, "Effects of maternal separation, early handling, and standard facility rearing on orienting and impulsive behavior of adolescent rats," *Behavioural Processes*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 51–58, 2006.
- [417] C. Belzung and G. Griebel, "Measuring normal and pathological anxiety-like behaviour in mice: a review," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 125, no. 1-2, pp. 141–149, 2001.
- [418] R. J. Rodgers, "Animal models of 'anxiety': where next?," Behavioural Pharmacology, vol. 8, no. 6-7, pp. 477–496, 1997.
- [419] R. J. Rodgers, B. J. Cao, A. Dalvi, and A. Holmes, "Animal models of anxiety: An ethological perspective," *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 289–304, 1997.
- [420] J. K. Shepherd, S. S. Grewal, A. Fletcher, D. J. Bill, and C. T. Dourish, "Behavioral and pharmacological characterization of the elevated zero-maze as an animalmodel of anxiety," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 116, no. 1, pp. 56–64, 1994.
- [421] A. V. Kalueff and P. Tuohimaa, "The grooming analysis algorithm discriminates between different levels of anxiety in rats: potential utility for neurobehavioural stress research," *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, vol. 143, no. 2, pp. 169–177, 2005.
- [422] B. M. Spruijt, J. Vanhooff, and W. H. Gispen, "Ethology and neurobiology of grooming behavior," *Physiological Reviews*, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 825–852, 1992.
- [423] J. A. Daly, E. Hogg, D. Sacks, M. Smith, and L. Zimring, "Sex and relationship affect social self-grooming," *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 183– 189, 1983.

- [424] M. H. Ferkin and H. Z. Li, "A battery of olfactory-based screens for phenotyping the social and sexual behaviors of mice," *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 85, no. 4, pp. 489–499, 2005.
- [425] R. C. Bolles, "Grooming behavior in the rat," Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 306–310, 1960.
- [426] R. J. Blanchard, J. N. Nikulina, R. R. Sakai, C. McKittrick, B. McEwen, and D. C. Blanchard, "Behavioral and endocrine change following chronic predatory stress," *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 561–569, 1998.
- [427] C. Ducottet, A. Aubert, and C. Belzung, "Susceptibility to subchronic unpredictable stress is related to individual reactivity to threat stimuli in mice," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 155, no. 2, pp. 291–299, 2004.
- [428] M. Kramer, C. Hiemke, and E. Fuchs, "Chronic psychosocial stress and antidepressant treatment in tree shrews: time-dependent behavioral and endocrine effects," *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 937–947, 1999.
- [429] A. M. M. Vanerp, M. R. Kruk, W. Meelis, and D. C. Willekensbramer, "Effect of environmental stressors on time-course, variability and form of self-grooming in the rat - handling, social contact, defeat, novelty, restraint and fur moistening," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 47–55, 1994.
- [430] L. de Groote, R. G. Penalva, C. Flachskamm, J. Reul, and A. C. E. Linthorst, "Differential monoaminergic, neuroendocrine and behavioural responses after central administration of corticotropin-releasing factor receptor type 1 and type 2 agonists," *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 45–56, 2005.
- [431] M. Diamant and D. Dewied, "Autonomic and behavioral-effects of centrally administered corticotropin-releasing factor in rats," *Endocrinology*, vol. 129, no. 1, pp. 446–454, 1991.
- [432] J. A. Plunkett, C. G. Yu, J. M. Easton, J. R. Bethea, and R. P. Yezierski, "Effects of interleukin-10 (il-10) on pain behavior and gene expression following excitotoxic spinal cord injury in the rat," *Experimental Neurology*, vol. 168, no. 1, pp. 144–154, 2001.
- [433] R. Adamec, G. D. Bartoszyk, and P. Burton, "Effects of systemic injections of vilazodone, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor and serotonin 1(a) receptor agonist, on anxiety induced by predator stress in rats," *European Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 504, no. 1-2, pp. 65–77, 2004.
- [434] V. Carola, F. D'Olimpio, E. Brunamonti, F. Mangia, and P. Renzi, "Evaluation of the elevated plus-maze and open-field tests for the assessment of anxietyrelated behaviour in inbred mice," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 134, no. 1-2, pp. 49–57, 2002.

- [435] R. M. Escorihuela, A. Fernandez-Teruel, L. Gil, R. Aguilar, A. Tobena, and P. Driscoll, "Inbred roman high- and low-avoidance rats: Differences in anxiety, novelty-seeking, and shuttlebox behaviors," *Physiology & Behavior*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 19–26, 1999.
- [436] E. Mikics, B. Barsy, B. Barsvari, and J. Haller, "Behavioral specificity of non-genomic glucocorticoid effects in rats: Effects on risk assessment in the elevated plusmaze and the open-field," *Hormones and Behavior*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 152–162, 2005.
- [437] R. J. Rodgers and A. Dalvi, "Anxiety, defence and the elevated plus-maze," *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 801–810, 1997.
- [438] E. Choleris, A. W. Thomas, M. Kavaliers, and F. S. Prato, "A detailed ethological analysis of the mouse open field test: effects of diazepam, chlordiazepoxide and an extremely low frequency pulsed magnetic field," *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 235–260, 2001.
- [439] M. R. Lamprea, F. P. Cardenas, J. Setem, and S. Morato, "Thigmotactic responses in an open-field," *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 135–140, 2008.
- [440] A. Ennaceur, "One-trial object recognition in rats and mice: Methodological and theoretical issues," *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 215, no. 2, pp. 244–254, 2010.
- [441] C. A. Buckmaster, H. Eichenbaum, D. G. Amaral, W. A. Suzuki, and P. R. Rapp, "Entorhinal cortex lesions disrupt the relational organization of memory in monkeys," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 24, no. 44, pp. 9811–9825, 2004.
- [442] H. Anisman, J. Gibb, and S. Hayley, "Influence of continuous infusion of interleukin-1 beta on depression-related processes in mice: corticosterone, circulating cytokines, brain monoamines, and cytokine mrna expression," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 199, no. 2, pp. 231–244, 2008.
- [443] R. Dantzer, R. M. Bluthe, and K. W. Kelley, "Androgen-dependent vasopressinergic neurotransmission attenuates interleukin-1-induced sickness behavior," *Brain Research*, vol. 557, no. 1-2, pp. 115–120, 1991.
- [444] J. Harro, M. Tonissaar, M. Eller, A. Kask, and L. Oreland, "Chronic variable stress and partial 5-ht denervation by parachloroamphetamine treatment in the rat: effects on behavior and monoamine neurochemistry," *Brain Research*, vol. 899, no. 1-2, pp. 227–239, 2001.
- [445] R. Sapolsky, C. Rivier, G. Yamamoto, P. Plotsky, and W. Vale, "Interleukin-1 stimulates the secretion of hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing factor," *Science*, vol. 238, no. 4826, pp. 522–524, 1987.

- [446] F. Shintani, S. Kanba, T. Nakaki, M. Nibuya, N. Kinoshita, E. Suzuki, G. Yagi, R. Kato, and M. Asai, "Interleukin-1-beta augments release of norepinephrine, dopamine, and serotonin in the rat anterior hypothalamus," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 3574–3581, 1993.
- [447] M. Kubera, A. Symbirtsev, A. Basta-Kaim, J. Borycz, A. Roman, M. Papp, and M. Claesson, "Effect of chronic treatment with imipramine on interleukin 1 and interleukin 2 production by splenocytes obtained from rats subjected to a chronic mild stress model of depression," *Polish Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 503–506, 1996.
- [448] B. Leonard and M. Maes, "Mechanistic explanations how cell-mediated immune activation, inflammation and oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways and their sequels and concomitants play a role in the pathophysiology of unipolar depression," *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 764– 785, 2012.
- [449] J. W. Koo and R. S. Duman, "Il-1 beta is an essential mediator of the antineurogenic and anhedonic effects of stress," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 751–756, 2008.
- [450] F. P. Bellinger, S. Madamba, and G. R. Siggins, "Interleukin-1-beta inhibits synaptic strength and long-term potentiation in the rat cal hippocampus," *Brain Research*, vol. 628, no. 1-2, pp. 227–234, 1993.
- [451] H. Katsuki, S. Nakai, Y. Hirai, K. Akaji, Y. Kiso, and M. Satoh, "Interleukin-1-beta inhibits long-term potentiation in the ca3 region of mouse hippocampal slices," *European Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 181, no. 3, pp. 323–326, 1990.
- [452] P. K. Stanton and J. M. Sarvey, "Depletion of norepinephrine, but not serotonin, reduces long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus of rat hippocampal slices," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 5, no. 8, pp. 2169–2176, 1985.
- [453] P. A. Blissitt, "Care of the critically ill patient with penetrating head injury," Critical Care Nursing Clinics of North America, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 321–332, 2006.
- [454] K. W. Park and B. K. Jin, "Thrombin-induced oxidative stress contributes to the death of hippocampal neurons: role of neuronal nadph oxidase," *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, vol. 86, no. 5, pp. 1053–1063, 2008.
- [455] A. Adhikari, M. A. Topiwala, and J. A. Gordon, "Synchronized activity between the ventral hippocampus and the medial prefrontal cortex during anxiety," *Neuron*, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 257–269, 2010.
- [456] A. Adhikari, M. A. Topiwala, and J. A. Gordon, "Single units in the medial prefrontal cortex with anxiety-related firing patterns are preferentially influenced by ventral hippocampal activity," *Neuron*, vol. 71, no. 5, pp. 898–910, 2011.

- [457] D. M. Bannerman, J. N. P. Rawlins, S. B. McHugh, R. M. J. Deacon, B. K. Yee, T. Bast, W. N. Zhang, H. H. J. Pothuizen, and J. Feldon, "Regional dissociations within the hippocampus - memory and anxiety," *Neuroscience* and Biobehavioral Reviews, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 273–283, 2004.
- [458] D. M. Bannerman, R. Sprengel, D. J. Sanderson, S. B. McHugh, J. N. P. Rawlins, H. Monyer, and P. H. Seeburg, "Hippocampal synaptic plasticity, spatial memory and anxiety," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 15, p. 181, 2014.
- [459] K. G. Kjelstrup, F. A. Tuvnes, H. A. Steffenach, R. Murison, E. I. Moser, and M. B. Moser, "Reduced fear expression after lesions of the ventral hippocampus," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 99, no. 16, pp. 10825–10830, 2002.
- [460] N. Shimizu, T. Hori, and H. Nakane, "An interleukin-1-beta-induced noradrenaline release in the spleen is mediated by brain corticotropin-releasing factor - an in-vivo microdialysis study in conscious rats," *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 14–23, 1994.
- [461] F. Clausen, A. Hanell, M. Bjork, L. Hillered, A. K. Mir, H. Gram, and N. Marklund, "Neutralization of interleukin-1 beta modifies the inflammatory response and improves histological and cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury in mice," *European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 385–396, 2009.
- [462] F. Clausen, A. Hanell, C. Israelsson, J. Hedin, T. Ebendal, A. K. Mir, H. Gram, and N. Marklund, "Neutralization of interleukin-1 beta reduces cerebral edema and tissue loss and improves late cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury in mice," *European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 110–123, 2011.